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Strong
Balance Sheet
Management -

Meritage maintained
its strong balance sheet
in 2000, positioning
the Company to seize
future opportunities.

At year-end:

» stockholders equity

exceeded one billion

dollars

* net debt to capital
ratio was 40 percent

* available liquidiry
increased to $449

million

* lot inventory under
control held within
our target range of a

four- to five-year supply

HOMES CLOSED (#)

REVENUE ($)

(in millions}

DILUTED EPS ($)

8.32
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stoclgholders

valued employees and trade partners

Home ownership is the American dream.

At Meritage, we are dedicated to our core purpose:
“to enrich lives by building the American dream.”
In fulfilling that purpose, Meritage has become
one of the leading homebuilders in America
today, and in our history we have delivered
more than 50,000 homes across the southern
and western United States. In 2006, we
celebrated ten years as a publicly traded home-

builder.

We take pride in designing and building homes
and communities that are innovartive, builc with
care and craftsmanship and that deliver enduring

value. We do so in 14 metropolitan areas within
six of the top ten states for homebuilding.

Net earnings for 2006 were the second best in
Meritage’s history and drove stockholders’ equity to
over one billion dollars, despite the challenges of

weaker housing demand and high cancellations of
orders. While responding to changing conditions,
we remain focused on maintaining a strong

balance sheet and superior returns for our investors.

We are located across the rapidly growing
South and West, in states that are immigration
gateways to this country. Our product line is
diverse to meet the market for entry level,
move-up and semi-custom luxury homes. In
selected areas, such as Oakland, Las Vegas and
Phoenix, we are marketing higher-density
attached residences. Additionally, our Active
Adult division in Arizona focuses on capturing

| a share of the growing retirement market.

In 2006, we achieved our 19th consecutive year
of record revenue and home closings, tracing
back to our pre-public history as Monterey
Homes and Legacy Homes. Our revenue
reached $3.5 billion and net earnings topped
$225 million for the year, resulting from
10,487 home closings in 2006.

Meritage is celebiating 20 years in Texas, where it has been named

“Builder of the Yea” by the Texas Association of Builders five of the last six yacus.
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We are proud to have achieved these record
results and to have completed the year with a
strong financial position — despite facing the

many challenges of a difficult homebuilding

environment in 2006.

After a decade of growth for homebuilders and

an unprecedented record year in 2005, many

[} [} [+
pOSl‘[ﬂ.Onm g invaluable in this challenging marketplace.
][Q . $105 million of capital to repurchase nearly
Opp Om iI " 1" 5/ two million shares of MTH stock. We also
1

housing markets across the country slowed
significantly in 2006. Conversely, our Texas
markets were some of the few to show positive
year-over-year growth in home orders with the
dollar value of those orders increasing nine percent
to over one billion dollars. The Company’s
position in Texas served us well, as our Texas

sales order value represented 43 percent of
Meritage’s total in 2006.

(ol oy s
iomesIbranc i)

Our management teams responded quickly
to a slowing sales pace, record levels of
cancellations and the resulting unplanned
inventories. They adjusted the size of their
organizations to better match lower home sales
and construction volumes, reduced land
positions and re-negotiated contracts where
possible to manage costs. The experience and
expertise of our managers have proved,

While maintaining a moderate net debrt to
capital ratio of 40 percent, we re-allocated

ncreased our revolving bank credit facility
from $600 million to $850 million, positioning
the Company to take advantage of future
opportunities.

Changing markets do create opportunities, and
we are determined to maximize these as they
arise. Recognizing that profitability and growth
are essential to our success, we continually strive
to produce superior financial results and
exceptional long-term returns for our stockholders.

ThellongNermIOutico\dforlHousinglisiRositiveland|BasedontalSolid [Foundation

“Demographics are the single most important
element in the housing equation,” writes business
journalist and author Al Ehrbar in The Housing
Boom: Another 20 Years of Growth.
Demographic shiffs and other new-home demand
drivers such as household growth, immigration
and cffordebility appear positive.

The Joint Center for Housing Studies of Harvard
University projects an increase in net house-
hold formation to14.6 millicn over the next
decade — a significant jump from the 12.6 million
households added over the past decade, and
also a 1.3 million increase over the Joint Center's
previous 2005-2015 projections.



Dedicated people have made Meritage the and value the trust you have placed in Meritage

successful company it 1s today. We arc committed ~ over the last decade. Our priorities for 2007

to providing an exceptional customer experience  are clear: to help our employees reach their full
by respecting people and relationsl"lips, rewarding  potential, build positive relationships with our
high performance and creating an environment  partners, deliver quality homes and outstanding
of personal growth and fun. The Company is service to customers and generate superior
investing in people and the systems that will returns for investors. We look forward to
make them even more efficient and productive.  a bright future and thank you for your

In 2006, we organized our homebuilding continuing support.

operations under a five-region structure to

streamline and enhzu'me decision—'making /Z

.o
and communications. We completed the
Steven J. Hilton

implementation of new accounting and home- _ _ _
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

building management informati(l)n systems in
most of our divisions. And, we significantly
improved our human resource sy'stems ~ ™
and retention programs. % ' ;

While continuing to focus on
our strategy for growth and
SUPELIOr Teturns tOMOoIrow, we
are managing through difficult
conditions today. Though we
expect to encounter market ups
and downs, we are cpnﬁdent in the
long-term opportunities within
homebuilding. We l::oelieve that as
our country continues to grow and

prosper, Americans will contnue

Lvnershi g B + R
to dream of home oyvnershlp. . ,?;,vj:pu\)v. | s U = I
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We appreciate you — our employees, industry —

. | . .
partners and investors, for your FOHt[‘]bUthﬂS From left o right: Richard L. Harvey, President Texas Region + Steven M. Davis, Execviive Vice President - Notional

: : : Homebuilding Operotions ¢ Jeffrey ®. Grobstein, President Southwest Region « C. Timothy White, Execulive Vice
to our hlStOI’y of ac}lllevement‘ We r ccognize Prasiclent - General Counsel, Sacretary ¢ Sieven |. Hillon, Choirmen and Chief Executive Officer o Lamry W. Seay,
Execuinve Vice President — Chief Finoncial Officer # G. Ronald French, President Rocky Mountain fegion * Sandia RA.
i Karmann, Executive Vice President - Chief Human Resources Officer » Dennis A. Welsch, President Califormi Region

H .
Representing 13 percent of the| U.S. population, Despite the current downiumn, the Joint Center’s
foreign born individuals are ex;laected to be State of the Nation's Housing 20006, eports ;
one of the fastest growing segments of the “strong household growth, together with rising
housing market and over the next 20 years income and wealth, will likely translate into
Hispanics alone could account for as much increased demand for housing across all age
as 40 percent of new homeowners, per the groups, G stronger appetite for mortgage debt,

Joint Center for Housing Studieis. and healthy spending on home improvements.” |
; |
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UNAUDITED (Dolfars in thousands except per share amounts|

I. Income Stétgment Data

Home closing revenue

Home closing gross margin
Net earnings @

Net margin

Diluted earnings per share

II. Operating Data

Average price of homes closed
Homes closed -

Homes ordered

Dollar value of homes ordered
Order backlog

Dollar value of order backlog

Actively selling communities

II1. Balance Sheet Data

Real estate

Total assets

Notes payable & other borrowings
. Stockholders’ equity

Book value per share @

IV. Return Data @

Return on average assets
Return on average equity

33444286

20.7%

225,354

6.5%
8.32

328
10.487
7.778

2,402,747

3.685

2000061

PR

10.7%
24.1%

2005

$2,996,546
23.6%

$ 255,665
8.5%

$§ 888

$ 319
9,406
10,571
$3,580,855
6,394
$2,181,600
184

$1.390,803
$1,971,357
$ 592,124
$ 851,005
§ 3131

15.8%
37.2%

2004
$2,015,742
19.9%
$ 138,968
6.8%

$  5.03
$ 278
7,254
9,007
$2,604,948
4,408
$1,320,951
139
$ 867,218
$1,265,394
$ 471,415
$ 522,555
$ 2029
12.5%
29.7%

2003
$1,461,981
19.9%
$ 94,406
6.4%

$ 342
$ 259
5,642
6,152
$1,634,988
2,580
$ 710,771
123
$ 678,011
$ 954,539
$ 351,491
$ 411,895
$ 1563
11.5%
25.9%

(1) All per share results have been restated to reflect our January 2005 and April 2002 stock splits.
(2) Net ecamings and diluted earnings per share for 2006 were reduced by $48.5 million and $1.78, respectively, due
to the impact of write-offs related to lot option deposits, pre-acquisition costs and inventory valuation impairments.
Net earnings and diluted earnings per share for 2005 include the impact of a debi-refinancing charge of $19.7 million

and $0.68, respectively.

2002

$ 1,112,439

19.2%
$ 69,937
6.2%

$ 266
$ 243
4,574
4,504
$1,161,899
2,070

$ 537,764
108

$ 484,970
$ 691,788
$ 264,927
$ 317,308 -
$ 1212
12.4%
28.3%




2001 2000 1999 1998 1997
$ 742,576 § 515428 $| 334,007 $ 255,985 $ 149,385
21.2% 20.2% 19.1% 20.1% 16.7%
$ 50,659 $ 35762 $| 18,945 $ 24,003 $ 14237
6.8% 69% - 5.5% 9.3% 9.5%

$ 215 $ 157 $ 079 $ 098 $ 067

$ 227 $ 231 $ 203 $ 198 $

o3

3.270 2,227 | 1,643 1,291
3,016 2,480 1,840 1,466
700,104 $ 604,444 $ 388,158  $ 283,746 $ 1

1,602 1,246 | 885 688

$ 374,951 $ 309,901 $ 199445  $ 145294 $
64 54 44 33

$ 330,238 $ 211,307 $ 171,012 § 104,759 $

$ 436,715 $ 267,075 $ 226559  $ 152250 $

$ 177.561 $ 86,152 $ 85937 $ 37,205 $

$ 176,587 $ 121,099 $ 90411 $ 72,279 $

$ 805 $ 1593 $ 428 $ 339 $
14.5% 14.5% 10.0% 19.3%
34.2% 33.8% 23.3% 40.5%

(3) Return on average assets is defined as net earnings for the year divided
by the average of the traxlmg five quaners ending total assets. Return on

232
644
693
57,479
472
08,963
28

63,955
96,634
22,892
46,365

2.23

16.8%
38.8%

average equity is deﬁned as net earnings for the year divided by the average

stockholders' equity for the same period.

Meritage is ranked
among Fortune’s
“Fastest Growing
Companies in
America,” our sixth .
appearance on this list:
in eight years. The ~
Company bas also been
mncluded in Forbes' -
“Platinum 4007 list
of Best Big Companies
in America for four
CONSCCULIVE Years —
based on five-year total
return, five-year averaga
return on capital, trailing
twelve months revenie
and net income. Our
performance ranked
Meritage among the
best of homebuilders.

We believe our results
show Meritage
outperforming our
industry group — and
that our 10-year histor
of success as a public
homebuilder is a

testament to our strateg
and our management
team.
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Washmgton, D. C 20549

FORM 10-K

ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2006
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT| PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES -
EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

A ‘ |
MeritageHomes

CORPORATI'ON
{ (Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Maryland -86-0611231
(State or Other Jurisdiction of Incorporation or Organization) (IRS Employer Identification No.)
17851 North 85th Street, Suite 300 Scottsdale, Arizona ' 85255

(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

(480) 515-3100
(Registrant’s telephone number, including area code)

lSecurmeq registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: h
Commion Stock, $.01 par value . ' New York Stock Exchange vl

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the reglstram is a well-known seasoned issuer, as definéd in Rule 405 of the Securi ‘.'e Ac
Yes Ne O :

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Act.
Yes O No 'IX]

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 durlng the precedmg 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and
(2) has been subject to s|uch filing reqmremems for the past 90 days. Yes X1 No a -

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delmquem filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation 3-K is not contamed herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of reglstrant s knowledge in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part 111 of this
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Fclmn oK. 0O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, or a non-accelerated filer. See definition of
“accelerated filer and Ialrge accelerated filer” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated filer I. Accelerated Filer O Non-accelerated filer a
Indicate by checkmark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b- 2 of the Exchange Act). Yes O No E

The aggregate market value of common stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant (26,074,616 shares) as of June 30, 2006, was
$1,232,025,606, based on the closing sales price per share as reported by the New York Stock Exchange on such date.

The number of shares outstanding of the registrant’s common stock on February 16, 2007 was 26,152.816. ' 8
DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions from the regmram s.Proxy Statemem relaung to the Annual Meeting of Stockholders 1o be held on May 16, 2007 have been
incorporated by referel}ce into Part I}, Itemﬁ 10,11,12, 13 and 14,
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PARTI
Item 1. Business

The Company

Meritage Homes is a leading designer and builder of single-family attached and detached homes in the fast-growing
southern and western United States, based on the number of home closings. We offer a variety of homes that are designed to
appeal to a w:de range of homebuyers! including first-time, move-up, luxury and active adult buyers. We have operations in
three regions: 'West, Central and East! which are comprised of 14 metropolitan areas in six states. These three regions are
our principal business slegmente Please refer to Note 13 of the consolidated financial statements for information regarding
our operatmg and repornng segments.

Our homebu1ld1ng and marketmg activities are conducted under the name of Meritage Homes in each of our
markets, except for ceftain commumttes in Arizona, where we operate under the name of Monterey Homes, and in Texas,
where we operate in certam commumues as Legacy Homes, Meritage Homes and Monterey Homes. At December 31, 2006,
we were acttvely sellmg homes in 213 communities, with base prices rangmg from approximately $100,000 to $1,176,000.

I
Available Information; Corporate Governance

Meritage Homes Corporanon was incorporated in 1988 as a real estate investment trust in the State of Maryland. At
December 31, 1996, thr‘ough a merge;: we acquired the homebuilding operations of our predecessor company. We cutrently
focus exclusively on homebuilding and related activities and no longer operate as a real estate investment trust.

Information about our company and communities is provtded on our Internet website at www. menmgehomes com.
Our periodic and currer'u reports, mcludmg any amendments, filed or furnished pursuant 10 section 13(a) or 15(d} of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”) are available, free of charge, on our website as soon as reasonably
practicable after they are elec:tromcally filed with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commuission (“SEC”). The
information contained on our website is not considered part of this annual report on Form 10-K.,

Meritage operates within a comprehenSLye plan of corporate governance for the purpose of defining responsibilities
and setting high standards for ethical conduct Our Board of Directors has established an audit commitiee, executive
compensation commlttee and nonnnatmgfgovemance committee. The charter of each of these committees lS available on our
website, along with our Code of Ethtc's and our Corporate Governance Principles and Practices. Our committee charters,
Code of Ethics and Corporate Govemance Principles and Practices are also available in print, free of charge, to any
stockholder who requests any of them by calling us or by writing to us at our principal executive offices at the following
address: Meritage Homes Corporanon 17851 North 85" Street, Suite 300, Scottsdale Arizona 85255 Attention: Legal
Department. Our telephone number is (480) 515-8100.

+

Competitive Strengths

¥

We believe Meritage possesses the following competitive strengths:

~ Conservative mvemory management. We seek to minimize land and mventory risk in order to optimize our use of
cap1tal and maintain moderate leverage ratios. We accomplish this by:

e generally purchasing land after full entitlements have been obtained, including zoning and utility services;

. 'developmg smaller Iparcel:-‘,. which generally consist of projects that can bé completed within a three- to
" four-year period; IR ' : :

. contrl_olling a significant portion of our lond inventory through rolling options and land purchase contracts
. with initial deposit requirements typically between 5% and 15% of the land price;

. manatging housing inventory by pre-selling and obtaining customer deposits on most of our homes prior to
starting construction;




¢ limiting construction starts on unsold homes; and

e minimizing home construction cycles.

Disciplined financial management. We believe that our disciplined financial management policies enable us to
achieve above-average returns on assets compared to our competitors in the homebuilding industry and to maintain
reasonable leverage ratios. Our rigorous investment requirements for our new communities, whether developed internally or
acquired, enable us to deploy capital efficiently and to generate strong cash flows to fund the acquisition of additional land or
homebuilding operations.

Margin focus. We believe that our focus on achieving good margins results in greater profitability during strong
economic periods and also enables us.to realize lower break-even points to provide greater pricing flexibility during slower
economic periods. In addition to maintaining low overhead costs, we actively manage construction costs and pricing and
marketing strategies in order to maximize margins. Weé seek to optimize our mix of available housing upgrades and
customization features to offer the highest value to customers at the lowest cost. Within our pricing structure we provide our
sales and marketing professionals with the autonomy and flexibility to respond rapidly to changing market dynamics by
customizing our sales programs and customer incentives. We believe these are some of the strategies that should help
improve our margins during the current housing downturn.

Experienced management team. Members of our senior management team have extensive experience in the
homebuilding industry as well as in-depth knowledge of the markets that we serve. Our chief executive officer and most of
our senior executives have extensive homebmldmg experience, and have delivered successful results through varying
homebuilding cycles. .

Product breadth and geographic diversity. We believe that our product breadth and geographic diversity enhance
our growth potential and help to reduce exposure to any specific economic cycle. We tailor our product offerings to local
markets and changing demographics and customer preferences. In most of our markets we typlcally focus on the first and
second-time move up markets. We also offer niche products in certain markets. For example, in Arizona, Texas and
California we build within the luxury market: in California and Florida we build w1thm the multi-story condo market and in
Arizona we build Within the active adult market. . .

Business Strategies

]

We seek to distinguish ourselves from other production homebuilders through the following business strategies:

Focus on high growth markets. Our operations are located in six rapidly growing western and southern states: Texas,
Arizona, California, Nevada, Colorado and Florida. These areas are generally characterized by high job and populauon
growth trends, which have historically created strong demand for new housing, and we believe these to be attractive
homebuilding markets with opportunities for long-term growth, Our operations in Texas, Arizona, California and Nevada are
well established and we believe that we have developed a reputation for building distinctive quality homes within these
markets. ’

Expand into new and within existing markets. We continuously evaluate expansion opportunities through strategic
acquisitions of other homebuilders and internal growth through expansion of our product offering in existing markets or start-
up operations in new geographic areas. In pursuing expansion, we explore markets with demographic and other growth
characteristics similar to our current marKets and seek to acquire entities with operating policies and earnings-focused
philosophies similar to curs. Within the last three years, we began start-up operations in Denver, Colorado, Orlando, Florida
and Reno, Nevada, and acquired operations in Ft. Myers/Naples and Orlando, Florida, which we believe are geographic
markets that possess favorable long-term demographic and growth characteristics.

In the past nine years we have successfully completed eight acquisitions, enabling us to substantially increase our
revenue and earnings, expand our geographic footprint, increase our share of existing markets and develop new product lines,
such as active adult housing for the Arizona retirement market and condominiums in certain markets.

. t - .

Efficient cost structure. Throughout our history, we have focused on minimizing construction costs and overhead,

which we believe are key factors in maintaining high margins and profitability. We minimize costs and overhead by:




e using subcontractors for home construction and site improvements on a fixed-price basis,

- s obtaining favorable pﬁcing from subcontractors through long-term relationships and high volume;

* reducing interest and carrying costs by minimizing our inventory of unsold homes and minimizing the home
construction cyclc;

e delaying construcuon on most homes until they are under contract, the buyers have paid carnest money deposits
(typically rangmg from 2-5% and averaging 3.5% year-cnd) and the buyers have obtained preliminary approva]
fora mortgage loan;

s centralizing certain administrative activitics; and
s monitoring homebuilding production, schéduling and budgeting through management information systems.-

o Supenor design, quality and\customer service. We seek 1o maximize customer satlsfactlon by offering homes that
are built with quality matena]s and craftsmanship, exhibit distinctive design features and are situated in premium locations.
We believe that we generally offer hléher quality homes in their defined price range or category compared to those built by
our compemors In addition, we seek 'to achieve the highest level of customer satisfaction as an integral part of our
competitive strategy. For example, as part of the sales process, our experienced sales personnel continually inform customers
of their home’s construcuon progres:, and aflcr delivery, our customer care departments responcl to homebuyers quesuons
and warranty matters.

. Markets and Products ‘

We currently build and sell homes in the following markets:

Markets ' . ] : ' Year Entered
Phoenix, AZ.............. et ettt emean bt et s e res : : ‘ 1985
© 7 -Dallas/Ft. Worth, TX 1987
AUSR, TX Lo S 1994 -
Tucson, AZ'. .................. : ' ‘ - 1995
Houston, TX .................................. eeereeeeeneneenes 1997
Sani Francisco* Bay Area CA FNEN © 1998
Sacramento, lCA .t L e ee e ereenen e 1998
. Las Vegas, NV ....... : ' - 2002
San Anlomo TX : y . 2003 -
- Los Angeles {Inland Emp:re) CA : 2004 d
Denver, o 0 LTS SOsO oo OO OO OT O STPTOON T 2004
Orlando, FL.oooocooro. ‘ ................................................................................................. 2004
Reno, NV et msissss st 2005
Ft. Myers/Naples, FL ...l e e eseee s seesens s e seeser st eseeem et 2005

The chart above reflects the dates our predecessor companies entered our Tcxas and Arizona markets.

QOur homes range from emry level to semi-custom luxury, with base prices ranging from approximately $100,000 to
$1,176,000. A summary of activity by region as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006, follows (dollars in thousands):

-




Year Ended December 31, 2006 At December 31, 2006

# of Avg, Homes Ac‘:izzly
Homes Closing in $ Value of Home Sites Selling
Closed Price - Backlog Backlog Controlied (1) Communities
West Region
California........0...c.o...e.. 1,471 § 557.8 226 '$ 129816 - 4,880 26
Nevada.....ccooooioricirene 620 394.1 37 21,725 2,393 5
West Region Total ........ 2,091 509.3 283 151,541 7,273 31
Central Region '
ATIZONA e 3,355 328.7 905 347,306 14,649 42
Texas. ..o, 4,263 233.8 2,209 582,163 17,539 121
Colorado ....cooveeveieriiicienens 112 365.0 45 +18,783 817 6
Central Region Total..... ‘ 7,730 276.9 3,159 948,252 33,005 169
East Region .
Florida.....ccccocninnnnen. e 666 359.0° 243 100,268 3,797 13
Total Company............. 10487 § 3284 3,685 $ 1,200,061 44,075 213

(1} “Home Sites Controlled” is the estimated number of homes that could be buiilt on lots controlled by the Company, both
on lots available for sale and on land expected to be developed into lots. '

Land Acquisition and Development

Our goal is to maintain a four- to five-year lot supply which we believe provides an appropriate planning horizon to
address regulatory matters and land development. We typically acquire land only after necessary entitlements have been
obtained so that development or construction may begin as market conditions dictate. The term “entitlements” refers to
development agreements and tentative maps or recorded plats, depending on the jurisdiction within which the land is located.
Entitlements generally give the developer the right to obtain building permits upon compliance with conditions that are
ordinarily within the developer’s control. Even though entitlements are usually obtained before land is purchased, we are still
required to secure a variety of other governmental approvals and permits prior to and during development. The process of
obtaining such approvals and permits can substantially delay the development process. We may consider, on a limited basis,
purchasing unentitled property when we can do so in a manner consistent with our business strategy. Although historically
we have generally developed parcels ranging from 100 to 300 lots, in order to achieve and maintain an adequate inventory of
lots, we also purchase larger parcels, in many cases with joint venture partners. In some cases, these joint ventures purchase
undeveloped land and develop the land themselves.

We select land for development based upon a variety of factors, including: ,

»  demographic factors, based on extensive internal and external marketing studies;

s  suitability for development generally within a one to four-year time period from the beginning of the
development process to the delivery of the last home; ’

+ financial feasibility of the proposed project, incliding projected profit margins, returns on capital
employed, and the capital payback period, .

o the ability to secure governmental approvals and entitlements;
* results of environmental and legal due diligence;
s proximity to local traffic corridors and amenities; and

* managemen!’s judgment as to the real estate market and economic trends, and our experience in particular
markets.

We acquire land through options and land purchase contracts. Purchases are generally financed through our
corporate borrowings or warking capital. Acquiring our land through option contracts allows us to control lots and land




through third parties who own or buy propertlcs on which we plan to build homes. We enter into option contracts to purchase
finished lots at a certmn price during a specified period of time from these third parties as home construction begins. These
contracts are generally non recourse ahd typically require the payment of non-refundable deposus of 5% to 15% of the sales
price. At December 31 '2006 we had approx1mately $168.1 million in cash deposits and $64 3 million in letters of credlt
deposits on real estate u'nder option or|contract. The total value of land under option or contract at that time was
approximately $2.1 blllllon We believe the use of options limits the market risks associated with land ownership by allowing
us to re-negotiate option terms or terminate options in the event of declines in land value and/or market downturns. As
market conditions chan'ge we may attémpt to re-tegotiate the option or purchase contracts to achieve terms that are more in
line with market condmons Such adﬁlstments can include deferment or reduction in lot takedown requirements or price
concessions. If we are unsuccessful m these re-negotiations, we may determine that a project is no longer feasible or
desirable and cancel thesc contracts, usually resulting in the forfeiture of our option deposits. During 2006, we terminated
options on approxlmately 7,200 lots and wrote off option deposits and pre-acquisition costs of $54.6 million. Additional
information relating to our lots and land under option is presented in Note 3 — Variable Interest Entities and Consohdated
Real Estate Not Owned‘ in the accomﬁanymg consolidated financial statements.

Once we secure land, we generally initiate development through contractual agreements with subcontractors. These
activities include site plLanmng and engmeenng, as well as constructing road, sewer, water, utilities, drainage, recreation
facilities and other 1mprovemcnts and reﬁnements We frequently build homes in master-planned communities with home
sites that are along or néar a major amcnlty, such as a golf course.

We develop a df:51gn and marketmg concept tailored to each community, which includes the determination of size,
style and price range of|homes We also typically determine street layout, individual lot size and layout, and overall
community desngn for these projects. The product lines offered depend upon many factors, including the housing generally
available in the area, the needs of a pa'mcular market, and our Iot costs for the pl'O_]E:C[ though we are sometimes able to use
slandardlzcd design p]a'ns for'a produét line.

The following table presents information as of December 31, 2006 (dollars in thousands):

Number of Total Number
Number of Lots Under Contract of Lots
‘ . Lots Owned (1) or Option (1)(2) Controlled
West Region
" California 955 3925 . 4,880
Nevada... 454 1,939 2,393
West Reg:on Total .................................... 1,409 5.864 : 7,273
Central Region :
ANzona..........ccoeeebvereens NSRSUSIN VUSSR 1,885 12,764 14,649
TEXAS..c.orerorrerrin] | I . 3,802 : - 13,737 17,539
Colorado ................. ! ....................... e ' 136 ' 681 817
Cemral Region Total............... 1 .............. 5,823 27,182 - 33,005
East Region l t ' . _
Florida...........coc i b 322 3475 3,797
TotalCompany....l....................,..I .............. 7,554 36,521 44075
Total book cost (3) ‘ ....................... l .............. $ 582260 % 167,330 § 749,590
(1) Excludes lots with finished homes or homes under construction. The ﬁumber of lots is estimated and is subject 10
change. _ ’
) "There can be no assurance that we will actually acquire any lots under option or properties in which we have entered

into a vartety of contrac‘tual relationships, including purchase agreements with customary conditions precedent and other
similar arrangements. Thcse amounts Id() not include 3,720 lots under contract with refundable earnest money deposits of
approximately $800, 000 for which Wc have not completed due diligence and, accordingly, have no money at risk and are
under no obligation to perfonn under the contract, but include 6, 424 lots under option contracts with joint ventures in which
we are a member.

3 For Lots Owned book cost primarily represents land, devclopment interest and common costs. For Lots under
Contract or Option, book cost primarily represents earnest deposits and option deposits.




Construction Operafions

We act as the.general contractor for our projects and typically hire subcontractors on a project-by-project or
reasonable geographic-proximity basis to complete construction at a fixed price. We usually enter into agreements with
subcontractors and materials suppliers on an individual basis after receiving competitive bids, when appropriate. We obtain
information from prospective subcontractors and suppliers with respect to their financial condition and ability to perform
their agreements before formal bidding begins. Occasionally, we enter into longer-term contracts with subcontractors and
suppliers if we can obtain more favorable terms to minimize costs of construction. Qur project managers and field
superintendents coordinate and supervise the activities of subcontractors and suppliers, subject the development and
construction work 1o quality and cost controls, and monitor compliance with zoning and building codes. At December 31,
2006, we employed approximately 830 construction operations personnel.

»*

We specify that quality, durable materials be used in construction of our homes and we do not maintain significant
inventories of construction materials, except for work in process materials for homes under construction. When possible, we
negotiate price and volume discounts with manufaciurers and suppliers on behalf of our subcontractors to take advantage of
production volume. Historically, access to our principal subcontracting trades, materials and supplies has been readily
available in each of our markets. Prices for these goods and services may fluctuate due to various factors, including supply
and demand shortages that may be beyond the control of our vendors. We believe that we have good relationships with our
suppliers and subcontractors. ' ' '

We generally build and setl homes in clusters or phases within our larger projects, which we belicve creates
efficiencies in land development and home construction, and improves customer satisfaction by reducing the number of
vacant lots surrounding a completed home. Our homes are typically completed within four to nine months from the start of
construction, depending upon the geographic location and the size and complexity of the home. Construction schedules may
vary depending on the availability of labor, materials and supplies, product type, location and weather, Our homes are usualty
designed to promote efficient use of space and materials, and 10 minimize construction’costs and time. We typically have not
entered into any derivative contracts to hedge against weather or materials fluctuations as we do not believe they are
particularly advantageous to our operations. '

Marketing and Sales

We believe that we have an established reputation for developing high quality homes, which helps generate interest
in each new project. We also use advertising and other promotional activities, including our website at
www.meritagehomes.com, magazine and newspaper advertisements, brochures, direct mailings-and the placement of
strategically located signs in the vicinities around our developments. ‘

We use furnished model homes as tools in demonstrating to prospective homebuyers the advantages of the designs
and features of our homes. We generally employ or contract with interior and landscape designers who are responsible for
creating attractive model homes and complexes with many built-in options for each product line within a project. We
generally build between one and four model homes for each actively selling community, depending upon the number of
homes to be built in the project and the products to be offered. We often sell our model homes to, and lease them back from,
institutional investors who purchase the homes for investment purposes or from individual buyers who do not intend to
occupy the home immediately. At December 31, 2006, we owned 75 and leased 357 model homes and had an additional 87
models under construction. As of December 31, 2006, monthly payments for our leased models were approximately
$433,000, of which approximately $176,000 is accounted for as interest on debt related to our model lease program. See Note
5 for further detail. i

Our homes generally are sold by full-time or part-time, commissioned employees who typically work from a sales
office located in one of the model homes for each project. At December 31, 2006, we had approximately 580 sales and
marketing personnel. Qur goal is 1o ensure that our sales force has extensive knowledge of our operating policies and housing
products. To achieve this goal, we train our sales associates and conduct regular meetings to update them on sales techniques,
competitive products in the area, financing availability, construction schedules, marketing and advertising plans and the
available product lines, pricing, options and warranties offered. Our sales associates are licensed real estate agents where
required by law. Independent brokers also sell our homes, and are usually paid a sales commission based on the price of the
home. Qur sales associates assist our customers in selecting upgrades or in adding available customization features to their
homes, which we design to appeal to local consumer demands. We may also offer various sales incentives, such as,
landscaping or interior upgrades, to atract buyers. The use and type of incentives depends largely on economic and local
competitive market conditions.




-

Backlog o : .

Most of our home sales are lma.de under standard sales contracts signed before construction of the home begins. The
contracts require cash deposits and are usually subject to certain contingencies such as the buyer’s-ability to qualify-for
financing. Homes covered by such sales contracts but not yet closed are considered “backlog.” Sales contingent upon the
saleof a customcr’S.E)r.:isting home ar:e not included as new sales contracts until the contingency is removed.-We do not
recognize revenue upon the sale of a Ihome uitil it is delivered to the homebuyer and other criteria for sale and profit
recognition are met. We sometimes build homes before obtaining a sales contract; however, these homes are excluded from
backlog until a sales contract is signed. At December 31, 2006, of our homes in inventory, 19.4% were under construction
without sales Icontracts: and 13.0% wére completed homes without sales contracts. Of the 32.4% of homes without sales
contracts, a substantial majority resulted from cancelled home sale contracis as opposed to our building a home before
obtaining a sales contract. We believe that during 2007 we will deliver to customers substantially all homes in backlog at _.
December 31, 2006. , :

. Our backlog ldccreased to 3,685 units with a value of approximatély_$l.2,pilli6n.at December 31, 2006 from 6,394
units with.a value of approximately $2.2 billion at December 31, 2005. These decreases are due to deteriorating market

" conditions during 2006, which r_esult'ed in lower sales volumes and selling prices, high cancellation rates and increased
closings during 2006. '

Customer Financing L , \

We attempt to help qualified homebuyers who require financing to obtain loans from mortgage lenders that offer a
vartety of financing o;i)tions. We proxvidc mortgage-broker services in most of our.markets through relationships with
mortgage-brokers, generally through joint ventures in which we have a non-controlling interest, which facilitate obtaining.
customer loans on bcﬁalf_ of third paﬁy lenders. In some markets we use unaffiliated preferred mortgage lenders. We may pay
a portion of thg_ closin‘g costs and dis:co_gnt mortgage points to assist homebuyers with financing. We do not fund or service .
the mortgages obtained by our homebuyers, and therefore do not assume the risks associated with a mortgage banking

business. Since many customers use|long-term morigage financing to purchase homes, adverse economic conditions, rising
mortgage interest rates and increases in unemployment may deter or reduce the number of potential homebuyers.

_C'Lisra‘mer Relations, Quality Control and Warranty Programs i .

We believe that positive customer relations and an adherence to stringent quality control standards are fundamental
to our continued succtess, and that 01:1r commitment to buyer satisfaction and quality control has significantly contributed to
our reputation as a high quality builder. .. . . .

) . A Meritage project manager or pvx;ojcct superintendent and a customer relations representative generally oversee .
compliance with quality control standards for each community. These representatives perform the following tasks:
oversee home construction; Ce : Lo
. . ove:rsee subcontra:clor and supplier performance; .
. revliew the progress of each home and conduct formal inspections as specific.stages of construction are
corEnpieted; and
e regularly update buyers on the progress of their homes and coordinate the closing process. -

We generally provide for €ach home a one- to two-year limited warranty on workmanship and building materials.
Various of the states in which.we build homes also have laws providing statutory warranties related to structural defects that
generally range in duration from 8 to 15 years. 'We generally require our subcentractors to provide an indemnity and a.
certificate of insurance before'begir:ming work,-which means that claims relating to workmanship and materials are gencrally
the subcontractors’ rc'esponsibility. Reserves for future warranty costs are established based on Company and industry-wide
historical experience: within each dilvision or region, and are recorded when the homes are closed. Reserves generally range
from 0.42% to 0.83% of a home’s sale price. Historically, these reserves have been sufficient to cover warranty repairs.

s . - .

Competition and Market Factors

The development and sale of residential property is a highly competitive industry. We compete for sales in each of
our markets with national, regional|and local developers and homebuilders, éxisting home resales, and to a lesser extent,

-




condominivms and rental housing. Some of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources and lower costs -
than we do. Competition among both small and large residential homebuilders is based on a number of interrelated factors,
including location, reputation, amenities, design, quality and price. We believe that we compare favorably to other-
homebuilders in the markets in which we operate due 1o our

s experience within our geographic markets which allows us to develop and offer new products;

e  ability to recognize and adapt to changing market conditions, including from a capital and human resource
perspective; '

s ability to capitalize on opportunities to acquire land on favorable terms; and '
reputation for outstanding service and quality products,

Government Regulation and Environmental Matters .

We acquire most of our land after entitlements have been obtained. Construction may begin almost immediately on
such entitled land upon compliance with and receipt of specified permits, approvals and other conditions, which generally are
within our control. The time needed to obtain such approvals and permits affects the carrying costs of unimproved property-
acquired for development and construction. The continued effectiveness of permits already granted is subject to factors such
as changes in government policies, rules and regulations, and their interpretation and application. To date, the government -
approval processes discussed above have not had a material adverse effect on our development activities, although there is no
assurance that these and other restrictions will not adversely affect future operations.

Local and state governments have broad discretion regarding the imposition of development fees for projects under
their jurisdictions. These fees are normally established when we receive recorded maps or plats and building permits. In
addition, communities occasionally impose construction moratoriums. Because most of our land is entitled, construction
moratoriums generally would not affect us in the near term unless they arose from health, safety or welfare issues, such as
insufficient water, electric or sewage facilities. In the long term, we could become subject to delays or may be precluded
entirely from developing communities due to building moratoriums, “no growth” or “slow growth” initiatives or building
permit allocation ordinancés, which could be implemented in the future. ' ‘ '

We are also subject to a variety of local, state, and federal statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning the
protection of health and the environment. In some markets, we are subject to environmentaily sensitive land ordinances that
mandate open space areas with public elements in housing developments, and prevent development on hillsides, wetlands and
other protected areas. We must also comply with flood plain restrictions, desert wash area restrictions, native plant
regulations, endangered species acts and view restrictions. These and similar laws may result in delays, cause substantial
compliance and other costs, and prohibit or severely resirict development in certain environmentally sensitive regions or
areas. To date, compliance with such ordinances has not materially affected our operations, although it may do 50 inthe
future. ’

‘We usually will condition our obligation to acquire property on, among other things, an environmentat review of the
land. To date, we have not incurred any unanticipated liabilities relating to the removal of unknown toxic wastes or other
environmental matters. However, there is no assurance that we will not incur material liabilities in the future relating to toxic
waste removal or other environmental matters affecting land currently or previously owned.

Employees, Subcontractors and Consultants

At December 31, 2006, we had approximately 1,950 full-time employees, including approximately 540 in
management and administration, 580 in sales and marketing, and 830 in construction operations. Our employees are not
unionized, and we believe that we have good employee relationships. We pay for a substantial portion of our employees’
insurance costs, with the balance contributed by the employees. We also have a 401(k) savings plan, which is avaitable to
most of our employees. .

We act solely as a general contractor, and all construction operations are supervised by our project managers and
field superintendents who manage third party subcontractors. We use independent consultants and contractors for
architectural, engineering, advertising and legal services, and we strive to maintain good relationships with our
subcontractors and independent consultants and contractors.

.
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Investments in Unconsolidated Entities

We paruc:pate in numerous lent ventures with independent third parties (approximately 25 joint ventures at
December 31, 2006) relating to the purchase and development of land. We have less than a controlling interest in these types
of entities. We typ1call)'{ enter into these joint.ventures with other homebuilders, tand sellers or real estate investors to provide
us and the other joint venture partners| with a means of accessing larger parcels and lot positions. The typical joint venture
acquires raw land and processes the property through the entitlement process and, in some cases, develops the property into
partially or fully finished lots. These Jomt ventures are usually obligated to sell all or a part of the property or lots to the joint
venture members (at th'e respective member’s option), generally at prevailing fair market values (either at the time of
acquisition or the time of sale). In some cases, part of the property is sold to non-member homebuilders, commercial
developers and other t}urd parties. Our participation in these types of joint ventures is an mcreasmgly 1mporlant part of our
business model, and we expect it to continue to be in the future,

In connection{with these types of joint ventures, we and/or joint venture parlners provnde certain types of guarantees,
indemnification arrangements with surety and performance bond providers and environmental indemnities. Reference is
made to Part II, Item 7{in this Annual| Report titled “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of F1nanc1a] Condition and
Results of Operations — Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements” for a discussion of these items. :

. We also participate in joint ventures relating to the provision of mortgage brokerage and title services. The purpose
of these joint ventures lS to establish relatlonshlps with providers of mortgage brokerage and title services in order to
facilitate the design of products and services that can be offered to our customers at attractive prices in a convenient manner.
We believe these types of joint ventures provide a valuable service to our customers and provide us with additional revenue
and profit opportunities, although at the current time these types of arrangements are not a significant component of our
business.

At December 31, 2006, we had approximately $111.1 million invested in joint ventures involved in the purchase,
development and/or sale of land. We latso had approximately $3.2 million invested in mortgage brokerage and title service
joint ventures. In 2006 we reported pre-tax earnings of $3.7 million related to our share of the earnings of our land joint
ventures and $16.7 mx}llon related toour share of the earnings of our mortgage-brokerage and title service joint ventures. For
our land joint ventures, we do not reclogmze profits on lots or land that we acquire from the joint venture, but instead defer
any profits until we sell the related homes to third party homebuyers.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

Interest Rates and Mortgage Financing. In general, housing demand is adversely affected by increases in interest
rates and the unavailability of mongz'lge financing. Increased cancellations could increase the available inventory of homes,
which may reduce pnces and reducezthe availability of future financing for home buyers. Most of our buyers finance their
home purchases through third-party lenders providing mortgage financing. If mortgage interest rates increase and,
consequently, the ablhty of prospectwe buyers to finance home purchases is adversely affected, home sales, gross margins
and cash flow may alslo be adversely affected and the impact may be material. Long-term interest rates currently remain at
tow levels; however, rates have genelrally increased during the last couple of years from historically low levels and it is
impossible to predict future increase$ or decreases in market interest rates.

Homebuilding activities depend upon the a\'failability and costs of mortgage financing for buyers of homes owned by
potential customers, as those customers (move-up buyers) often must sell their residences before they purchase our homes.
Mortgage lenders have recently become subject to more intense underwriting standards by the regulatory authorities which
oversee them. More strlngenl under{vmmg standards could indirectly have a material adverse effect on our business if
certain buyers are unable to obtain rﬁongage financing.

Housing Affordability and Market Conditions. As a participant in the homebulldmg industry, we are subject to
market forces beyond'our control. In general, housing demand can be impacted by the affordability of housing. In recent
periods, the affordab:!lty of housinglhas declined in many of our markets, which could adversely affect the ability of our
customers, pamcularly first-time homebuyers, to afford our product offerings. In addition, many homebuyers need to sell
their existing homes in order to purchase a new home from us, and a weakening of the home resale market or a decrease or
leveling in home salerprlces could adversely affect that ability. Some commentators believe that the prices of homes are
inflated and may declme of continue to decline, if the demand for homes weakens. A decline in prices for homes could have
an adverse effect on our homeburldlln g business.
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Cancellations. Our backlog reflects the number and value of homes for which we have entered into a sales contract
with a customer but have not yet delivered the home. Although these sales contracts typically require a cash deposit and do
not make the sale contingent on the sale of the customer’s existing home, in some cases a customer may cancel the contract
and receive a complete or partial refund of the deposit as a result of local laws or as a matter of our business practices. If
home prices decline, interest rates increase or if there is a national or local economic decline, homebuyers may have an
incentive to cancel their contracts with us, even where they might be entitled to no refund or only a partial refund.

Significant cancellations have had, and could have, a material adverse effect on our business as a result of lost sales revenue
and the accumulation of unsold housing inventory.

Future Expansion. We may continue to consider growth or expansion of our operations in our current markets orin
other areas of the country. Qur expansion into new or existing markets could have a material adverse effect on our cash
flows and/or profitability. The magnitude, timing and nature of any future expansion will depend on a number of factors,
including suitable acquisition candidates, the negotiation of acceptable terms, our financial capabilities and general economic
and business conditions. New acquisitions may result in the incurrence of additional debt. Acquisitions also involve
numerous risks, including difficulties in the assimilation of the acquired company’s operations, the incurrence of
unanticipated liabilities or expenses, the diversion of management’s attention from other business concerns, risks of entering
markets in which we have limited or no direct experience and the potential loss of key employees of the acquired company.

Dependence on Subcontractors. We conduct our construction operations only as a general contractor. Virtually all
architectural, construction and development work is performed by unaffiliated third-party subcontractors. As a consequence,
we depend on the continued availability of and satisfactory performance by these subcontractor for the design and
construction of our homes. We cannot assure you that there will be sufficient availability of and satisfactory performance by
these unaffiliated third-party subcontractors. In addition, inadequate subcontractor resources could have a material adverse
affect on our business.

Operating and Financial Limitations. The indentures for our senior notes and the agreement for our senior
unsecured credit facility impose-significant operating and financial restrictions on us. These restrictions limit our ability and
the ablhty of our subsidiaries, among other thmgs to: _ .

incur addltlonal indebtedness or liens;

e pay dividends or make other distributions;
» repurchase our stock;

¢ make investments (including investments in joint ventures); or

+

s consolidate, merge or sell all or subslamially all of our assets.

" In addition, the indentures for our senior notes and the agreemem for our senior unsecured credit facility require us
to maintain a minimum consolidated tangible net worth and our credit facility requires us to maintain other specified financial
ratios, including the amount and types of land, speculative housing and model homes that we may own at any given time. We
cannot assure you that these covenants will not adversely affect our ability to finance our future operations or capital needs or
to pursue available business opportunities. A breach of any of these covenants or our inability to maintain the required
financial ratios could result in a default in respect of the related indebtedness. If a default occurs, the relevant lenders could
elect to declare the indebtedness, together with accrued interest and other fees, to be immediately due and payable.

Increased Investments in Joint Ventures. We participate in numerous land acquisition and development joint
ventures with independent third parties, in which we have less than a controlling interest. Our participation in these types of
joint ventures has increased over the last couple of years and we expect to continue to use joint ventures in the foreseeable
future. These joint ventures provide us with a means of accessing larger parcels and lot positions and help us expand our
marketing opportunities and manage our risk profile. However, these joint ventures often acquire parcels of raw land without
entitlements and as such are subject to a number of development risks that our business does not face directly. These risks
include the risk that anticipated projects could be delayed or terminated because applicable governmental approvals cannot be
obtained 4t reasonable costs, if at all. In addition, the risk of construction and development cost overruns can be greater for a
joint venture where it acquires raw land compared to our typical acquisition of entitled lots. These increased development
and entitlement risks could have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations if one or more
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joint venture projects is delayed, cancelled or terminated or we are required, whether contractually or for business reasons, to
mvest additional funds in the JOlIll venture to facilitate the success of a particular, pl’OJCCt '
Our _]Olﬂt venture investments are generally very illiquid both because we lack a controllmg interest in the ventures
.and because most of our joint ventures are structured to require super-majority or unanimous approval of the members to sell
a substantial portion ofjthe joint ventu're s assets or for a member to receive a return of their invested capital. Our lack of
controlling interest also results in the Fisk that the jomt venlure will-take actions that we disagree with, or fail to take actions
that we desne ) : - t . . -

N - - »

Colonial Homes and Grearer Homes Acqmsmons In February and September 2005; we completed the acquisitions
of substantially all of the homeburldmg operations of Colonial Homes of Ft. Myers/Naples, Florida, and Greater Homes of
Orlando, Florida, respectrvely The lntegrauon of Colonial and Greater Homes into our operations following the acquisitions
involved a number of dhallenges In partlcular the combined companies experrenced attrition among management and
personnel. In general, the mtegrauon of acquired companiés requires, among other things,coordination. of management,
administrative and other functions. Failure to overcome these challenges or any other problems could cause financial
condition, results of operatrons and competitive position to decline. Our integration of the Colonial Homes and Greater |
Homes acquisitions assumed certain lsynergres and other benefits. We cannot assure you that unforeseen factors will not

"offset the mtended benefits of these dcqutsrtlons in whole or in part.. -

Atrached Product and Condominium Offerings. We recently expanded our business into condominium construction
and sales in certain markets iin whichlwe operate,and we face challenges and risks with such endeavors. Previously, our
business had typicallylinvolved only the construction and sale of single-family homes. The construction and sale of
condominium homes 1nvolves different construction processes and subcontractors and, to a degree, different customers. In
,addmon condormmum homes typrcdl!y involve more extensive sales and warranty regulauons

Dependence on Key Personnel. Our success largely depends on the contmmng services of certain key employees
including our Chief Executrve Ofﬁcer Steven J. Hilton, and our ability to attract and retain qualified personnel., We have an
employment agreement with Mr. Hrlton but we do not have employment agreements with certain other key employees. We
believe that Mr. Hilton possesses valuable industry knowledge, experience and leadership abilities that would be difficult in
the short term to repllcate In addmdn Mr. Hilton has cultivated key contacts and relationships with important participants in
the land acquisition pn"ocess in our-various markets across the country The loss of the services of Mr. Hilton and other key
employees could harm our operatlonls and business plans. . , -

t f- ’ . o r '

Limited Geographic Diversiﬁcarr‘on We have operations in Texas, Arizona, California, Nevada, Colorado and

- - Florida. Our limited geographic dwersrﬁcauon could adversely impact us if the homebuilding business in our current
markets should decline, since there may not be a balancmg opportumty in a stronger market in other geographlc regions.
1"

Ancreased Insurance Cosrs Recently, lawsuits have been filed agamst bu1lders assenmg claims of personal injury
and property damage | ‘caused by the presence of mold in residential dwellings. Some of these lawsuits have resulted in
substantial monetary ]udgments or settlements. We believe that we have maintained adequate-insurance coverage to insure
against these types ofI claims for homes completed before October 1, 2003. Insurance carriers have been excluding from
policies of many homlebunlders coverage for claims arising from the presence of mold and, as of October 1, 2003, our
insurance policy began excluding mold coverage. If our retentions are not sufficient to protect against these types of claims
or if we are unable to obtain adequate insurance coverage, a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and
results of operations could result if we are exposed to claims anslng from the presence of mold in the homes that we build.

Natural D!sasrers We have significant homebuilding operatlons in Texas Callforma and Florlda Some of our
-markets in Texas and Florida occasronally experience extreme weather conditions such as tornadoes and/or hurricanes.
California has expenenced a srgnrﬁcant number of earthquakes, wildfires, ﬂoodmg, landslides and other natural disasters in
recent years. We do not insure agamst some of these risks. These occurrences could damage or destroy some of our homes
under construction or our building’ lots, which’ may result in losses that exceed our insurance coverage. We could also suffer

'Slgmﬁcant constructron delays or substanual fluctuations in the pricing or availability of building materials. Any of these
events could cause a decrease in our revénue, cash flows and earnings.

Inﬂauon VYe like other homebunlders may be adversely affected clurmg periods of high inflation, mainly because
- of hlgher land and eonstructlon costs Also, higher mortgage interest rates may significantly affect the affordability of
mortgage ﬁnancmg to prospectwe buyers Inflation increases our cost of financmg, matenals and labor and could cause our




financial results or growth to decline. We attempt to pass cost increases on to our customers through higher sales prices.
Although inflation has not historically had a material adverse effect on our business, recently the cost of some of the
materials we use to construct our homes has increased. Sustained increases in material costs would have a material adverse
effect on our business if we are unable to increase home sale prices or home sale prices comparably decrease.

Home Warranty Factors. Construction defect and home warranty claims are common in the homebuilding industry
and can be costly. While we maintain product liability insurance and generally require our subcontractors and design
professicnals to indemnify us for liabilities arising from their work, we cannot assure you that these insurance rights and
indemnities will be adequate to cover all construction defect and warranty claims for which we may be held liable. For
example, we may be responsible for applicable self-insured retentions, which have increased recently, and certain clalms may
not be covered by insurance or may exceed applicable coverage limits.

" Homebuilding Industry Factors. The homebuilding industry.is cyclical and is significantly affected-by changes in
economic and other conditions such as employment levels, availability of financing, interest rates, and consumer confidence.
These factors can negatively affect demand for and cost of our homes. We are also subject to various risks, many of which
are outside of our control, including delays in construction schedules, cost overruns, changes in governmental regulations
(such as no- or slow-growth initiatives), availability of land, availability of option financing, increases in inventories of new
and existing homes, increases in real estate taxes and other local government fees, and raw materials and labor costs.

We are also subject to the potential for significant variability and fluctuations in the cost and availability of real
estate. Although historically we have generally developed parcels ranging from 100 to 300 lots, in order to achieve and
maintain an adequate inventory of lots, we are now acquiring larger parcels in many cases with a joint venture partner.
Impairments of our real estate and write-offs of purchase and option contract deposits and pre-acquisition costs were recorded
during 2006, and if market conditions continue to deteriorate such impairments and write-offs may again be required in the
future.

Declines in Real Estate Values. Some of our owned land was purchased at prices that reflected the strong
homebuilding and real estate markets of the past several years. As such, in certain circumstances, we wrote down the value
of certain inventory during 2006 to reflect current market conditions. A continued decline in the homebuilding market may
require us to re-evaluate the value of our land holdings and we could incur additional impairment charges, which decrease
both the book value of our assets and stockholders’ equity. We also incur various land development improvement costs for a
community prior to the commencement of home construction. Such costs include infrastructure, utilities, taxes and other
related expenses. Reductions in home absorption rates increases the associated holding costs and our time to recover such
costs. Continued declines in the homebuilding market may require us to evaluate the recoverability of these costs.

Deposits and Pre-Acquisition Costs. We extensively use options to acquire land. Such options generally require a
cash deposit that will be forfeited if we do not exercise the option. During 2006, we forfeited deposits and wrote off related
pre-acquisition costs related to projects we no longer deemed feasible. A continued downturn in the homebuilding market
may cause us to re-evaluate the feasibility of other optioned projects, which may result in additional writedowns that would
reduce our assets and stockholders’ equity. ’

Fluctuations in Operating Resuls. We historically have experienced, and expect to continue to experience,
variability in home sales and net earnings on a quarterly basis. As a result of such variability, our historical perforrnancc may
not be a meaningful indicator of futurc results Factors that contribute to this variability include:

timing of home deliveries and land sales;
*  delays in construction schedules due to strikes, advcrse weather, acts of God, reduced subcontractor avallablhty
and governmental restrictions; i
s our ablhty to acquire additional land or options for addltlonal land on acceptable terms;
conditions of the real estate market in areas where we operate and of the general economy;
*  the cyclical nature of the homebuilding industry, changes in prevailing interest rates and the avallablhty of
mortgage financing; and
*  costs and availability of materials and labor.

C‘amperition. The homebuilding industry is highly competitive. We compete for sales in each of our markets with

national, regional and local developers and homebuilders, existing home resales and, to a lesser extent, condominiums and
available rental housing, Some of our competitors have significantly greater financial resources or lower ¢osts than we do.
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Competition among both small and la.rge residential homebuilders is based on a number of interrelated factors, including
location, reputation, amenities, demgn quality and price. Competition is expected to continue and become more intense, and
there may be new cntra'nts in the mark'cts in which we currently operate and in markets we may enter in the future. If we are
unable to successfully compcte our financial resu[ls and growlh could suffer.

Additional Financing; Limitations. The homebuilding industry is capital intensive and requires significant up-front
expenditures to secure land and begin|developmcm and construction. Accordingly, we incur substantial indebtedness to
finance our homebulldllng activities. At December 31, 2006, we had approximately $733.3 million of indebtedness and other
borrowings. If we reqmlrc working capltal greater than that provided by operations or available under our credit facility, we
may be requ1red to seek additional capnal in‘the form of equity or debt financing from a variety of potential sources,
including bank ﬁnancmlg and securmels offerings. There can be no assurance we would be able to obtain such additional
capital on terms acceptable to us, if at-all. The level of our indebtedness could have important consequences to our

stockholders, including\“the following:i

* ourability to obtain addltlonal financing for working capital, capital expenditures, acqu1smons or general
' corporate purposes may be 1mpa1red

* Wwemustusea substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to pay interest and principal on our
indebtedness, which reduces thc funds available to us for other purposes such as capital expenditures;

¢ wehavea hlgher level of mdebtedness than some of our competitors, which may put us at a competitive
' dlsadvantage and reduce our flexibility in planning for, or respondmg to, changmg conditions'in our mdustry,
including increased compelm(m and
s  we may be more vulnerable to economic downtirns and adverse developments in our business than some of our
competitors.

We expect to cl)btam the money to pay our expenses and to pay the principal and interest on our indebtedness from
cash flow from operamlms Our ablllty to meet our expenses thus depends on our future performance, which will be affected
by financial, business, econormc and other factors. We will not be able to control many of these factors, such as economic
conditions in the markets where we operate and pressure from competltors

We cannot be Icertam that our cash flow will be sufficient to allow us to pay principal and interest on our debt and
meet our other obligations. If we do not have sufficient funds, we may be required to refinance all or part of our existing debt,
sell assets or borrow addmonal funds! We cannot guarantee that we will be able to do so on terms acceptable to us, if at all. In
addition, the terms of exnstmg or future debt agreements may restrict us from pursuing any of these alternatives.

Government Regulations; Environmental Conditions. Regulatory requirements could cause us to incur significant
liabilities and costs and could restrict Iour business activities. We are subject to local, state and federal statutés and rules
regulatmg certain developmental matters, as well as building and site design. We are subject to various fees and charges of
government authontws'demgned to défray the cost of providing certain governmental services and improvements. We may
be subject to addmonal costs and dela'ys or may be precluded entirely from building projects because of “no-growth” or

“slow-growth” imtlatlves building permit ordinances, building moratoriums, or similar government rcgulauons that could be
imposed in the future due to health, sa!fely welfare or environmental concerns. We must also obtain licenses, permits and
approvals from govemr'nent agencies to engage in certain activities, the granting or receipt of which are beyond our control
and could cause delays|in our homeblhldmg projects.

4

We are also subject to a vanety of local, state and federal statutes, ordinances, rules and regulations concerning the
protection of health and the environment. Environmental laws or permit restrictions may result in project delays, may cause
substantial comphancel‘and other costg and may prohibit or severely restrict development in certain environmentally sensitive

regions or geographic areas. Environmental regulations can also have an adverse impact on the availability and price of
certain raw materials, such as lumber)
. i

Acts of War. /‘-\Cts of war or any outbreak or escalation of hostilities between the United States and any foreign
power, including the conflict with Iraq, may cause disruption to the economy, our company, our employees and our
customers, which could impact our revenue, costs and expenses and financial condition,
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Performance of Joint Venture Parmers. In the ordinary course of our business, we obtain letters of credit and-
performance, maintenance and other bonds in support of our related obligations with respect to the development of our
projects. With respect to our joint ventures, we and our joint.venture partners are typically obligated to complete land
development improvements if the joint venture does not perform the required development. In addition, we and cur joint
venture partners sometimes agree to indemnify third party surety providers with respect to performance bonds issued on

- behalf of certain of our joint ventures. In the event the letters of credit or bonds are drawn upon, we, and in the case of a joint

venture, our joint venture partners, would be obligated to reimburse the surety or other issuer of the letier of credit or bond if
the obligations the bond or guarantee secures are not performed by us {or the joint venture). If one or more bonds, letters of
credit or other guarantees were drawn upon or otherwise invoked, our obligations could be significant, individually or in the
aggregate, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position or results of operations. We cannot guarantee
that such events will not occur or that such obligations will not be invoked.

Special Note of Caution Regarding Forward-Looking Statements.

In passing the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 (PSLRA), Congress encouraged public companies to
make “forward-looking statements” by creating a safe-harbor to protect companies from securities law liability in connection
with forward-looking statements. We intend to qualify both our written and oral forward-locking statements for protection
under the PSLRA.

1 27 &k LIS LT

- The words “believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “forecast,” “plan,” “estimate,” and “project” and similar expressions
identify forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date the statement was made. All statements we make other
than statements of historical fact are forward-locking statements within the meaning of that term in Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, and Section 21E of the Exchange Act. Forward-looking statements in this Annual Report include
statements concerning the demand for and the pricing of our homes, the growth potential of the markets we operate in; our
acquisition strategy, demographic and other trends related to the homebuilding industry in general and our ability to
capitalize on them, the future supply of housing inventory in our markets and the homebutilding industry in general, our
ability to renew existing leases on comparable terms, our expectation that existing letters of credit and performance and
surety bonds will not be drawn on, the adequacy of our insurance coverage and warranty reserves, our ability to deliver
existing backlog, the expected outcome of legal proceedings against us, the sufficiency of our capital resources to support our
business strategy, our ability and willingness to acquire land under option or contract, the future impact of deferred tax assets
or liabilities, that our participation in joint ventures will continue to increase, the impact of changes in accounting estimates,
that order and cancellation rates will return to more normalized levels in late 2007 or early 2008, and that certain guarantees
relating'to our joint ventures will not be triggered. ' :

~ Important factors currently known to management that could cause actual results to differ materiaily from those in
forward- lookmg stitements, and that could negatively affect our business are discussed in this report under the heading “Risk
Factors.”

Forward-looking statements express expectations of future evems‘ All forward-looking statements are inherently
uncertain as they are based on various expectations and assumptions concerning future events and they are subject to
numerous known and unknown risks and uncertainties that could cause actual events or results to differ materially from those
projected. Due to these inherent uncertainties, the investment community is urged not to place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements. In addition, we undertake no obligations to update or revise forward-looking statements to reflect
changed assumptions, the occurrence of unanticipated events or changes to projections over time. As a result of these and
other factors, our stock and note prices may fluctuate dramatically.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments
None. |
Item 2. Propertie§
Qur corporate offices are leased properties located in Scottsdale, Arizona. The lease expires in March 2014. '

We lease an aggregate of approximately 350,000: square feet of office space in our markets for our operating
divisions, corporate and executive offices. ’ .
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Item 3. Legal Proceedmgs - . . .

" The Unlted States Environmental Protection Agency and Maricopa County (Arlzona) Air Quality Department have
in the past assessed ﬁnes against us fo'r violating dust control regulations. While we strive to maintain practices that comply
with such regulatrons dust control vnolanons are common to the residential homebuilding industry in desert regions such as
Arizona. We do not believe that such fines will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position or results of
operations. - . - . .

We are involved in various routine legal proceedings incidental to our business, some of which are covered by
insurance. With respectho the majont)i( of pending litigation matters, our ultimate legal and financial responsibility, if any,
cannot be estimated with certainty and in most cases, any potential losses related to these matters are not considered
probable. At December'3l 2006, we had approximately $2.4 million in accrued legal expenses and settlement costs reserved
for possible losses related to litigation|and asserted claims where our ultimate exposure is consrdered probable and the
potential loss can be reasonably esnmated Most of these matters relate to correction of home construction defects,
foundation issues and g'eneral customer ¢laims. We believe that 'none of these matters wrll have a material adverse impact
upon our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows, ‘

ltem 4, Submlssron of Matters toa Vote of Securlty Holders

4+ * . » '

“No matters were subrrutted 10 a vote of security holders durmg the quarter ended December 31, 2006

Executive_Ofﬁcers of the Registrant .

The executive officers of the Company are elected each year at a meeting of the Board of Directors, which follows
the annual meeting of the'stockholders, and at other Board of Directors meetings as appropriate.’

The names, ages, positions and business experience of our executive officers are listed below (all ages are as of
‘March 1, 2007). There are no underslandmgs between any of our executive officers and any other person pursuant to which
any executrve ofﬁcer was selected to his office. -

Name . Age - Position

Steven J. Hilton....... ’ o 4!15 _ Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer -

Larry W. Seay............. - 51 * Chief Financial Officer’and Exécutive Vice President

C. Timothy White ks .46 General Counsel, Executive Vice President and Secretary ™ -
Sandra R.A. Karrmann.. 41 Executive Vice President — Chief Human Resources Officer
Steven M. Davis............ ] 48 Executive‘\/ice President of National- Home Building Operations

M - *

Steven J. Hilton co-founded Monterey Homes in 1985, which merged with the Company’s predecessor in December 1996.
M. Hilton served as Co-Chzurman and CEO from July 1997 to May 2006 ‘and has been the Chairman and Chief Executive
Officer since May 2006. :

Larry W. Seay has been Chief Fmanclal Officer since December 1996, and was appointed Executive Vice President in
October 2005 Mr. Seay served as Secretary from 1997 to October 2005.

C. Trmothy Whtte has|been General Counsel Executive Vice President and Secretary since October 2005 and served on the
* Meritdge Board of Dlrectors froin December 1996 until October 2005. Mr. White served as outside counsel to the Company
from 1991 through September 2005

- Sandra Karrmann has been Chief Human Resources Officer since December 2005 and was appointed Executive Vice
President in September 2006. From Apnl 1993 to December 2005, Ms. Karrmann was employed by Pepsico in various roles
with the Frito-Lay No tth Amenca and Taco Bell divisions, most recently as its Vice President — Human Resources — Sales at
Frito—Lay. \ oo . ) * .

A s . - EE . ¥ gl

- Steven M. Davrs has been Executive Vice President of National Home Building Operauons since October 2006. From 2000
to September 2006, Mr Davis was employed by KBHome as a Regional General Manager, with various other management

" roles at KBHome from 1995 to 2000.
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) PART II

" Item 5. Market For Reglstrant’s Common Equlty, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equlty
‘ Securities

Qur common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) under the symbol “MTH”. The high and
t low sales prices per share of our common stock for the periods indicated, as reported by the NYSE, follow. Prices reflect a 2-
} for-1 stock split effected in the form of a stock dividend that occurred in January 2005.

! : . 2006 2005

' . Quarter Ended ) . - High Low High Low

. TMATCh 31 e e $ 6791 $ 5242 $.7662 $ 5342

; June 30 ., et $ 6834 $ 4535 $ 8500 §$ 58.54

; ~ September 30 .......oooovoeeirrrienn ~$ 4780 § 3444 $ 9650 $ 72.06

! December 31 ... $ 5111 $ 4100 § 7827 § 5729 .

| 3 The following Performance Graph and related information shall not be deemed “soliciting material” or to be filed-
- with the Securities and Exchange Commission, nor shall such information be incorporated by reference into any filing under
' | the Securities Act of 1933 or Securities Exchange Act of 1934, each as amended, except to-the extent that the Company
specifically incorporates it by reference into such filing. )

$600
 $500 — -
; | $400 //\\
i $100 *4——/ ————

$0 +————— e —
|
P o 2001 °2002 2003 2004 - 2005 2006

: o . |~* Meritage Homes Corp
' ' .' ~=— S&P 500 Index
_ -+ Peer Group (1)
| ) —— Dow Jones US Home Construction Index

; . L 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006

! Meritage Homes COIP.......vevvvererevrermreraessnnns . 100 131 -« 259 440 491 372

' S&P 500 IndeX.....ccominiiiinnieeccieecsienae 100 77 97 106 109 - 124
Peer Group (1) ..o 100 103 25t 280 279 205

Dow Jones US Home Construction Index ... 100 92 . 180. 243 280 - 222 - .

(1) Peer Group consists of the following companies: Beazer Homes USA, Inc., Dominion Homes, Inc., Hovnanian
Enterprises, Inc., MDC Holdings, Inc., Ryland Group, Inc., Toll Brothers, Inc., Standard Pacific Corporatlon Technical
Olympic USA, Inc., M/l Schottenstein-Homes, Inc. and WCI Communities, Inc. .

*
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For the year ended December 31, 2006, we analyzed the composition of the Peer Group we have historically used
and determined that the Dow Jones U.S. Construction (“DJUSHB”) Index provides a more comparable industry benchmark
than our listed Peer Grof:p noted in (])|above. As such, in future periods, we intend to use the S&P 500 and DJUSHB
Indices only. We believe the homebuilders of the DJUSHB are a more representative set of peer companies.

On February 16|. 2007, the clqsing sales price of the common stock as reported by the NYSE was $43.56 per share.
At that date, there were approximately 285 owners of record and approximately 5,500 beneficial owners of common stock:

The transfer agent for our common stock is Mellon Investor Services LL.C, 85 Challenger Road, Ridgefield Park, NJ

07660 (www.melloninvestor.com).

We have not declared cash dividends for the past nine years, nor do we intend-to declare cash dividends in the
foreseeable future. We ﬁlan to re_lain.lﬁc Company’s earnings to finance the continuing development of the business. Future
cash dividends, if any, will depend upc'm our financial condition, results of operations, capital requirements, compliance with
certain restrictive debt c:ovcnants, as__w‘ell as other factors considered relevant by our Board of Directors. Certain of our debt
instruments contain restrictions on the payment of cash dividends. See “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources” and Note 6 — Senior Notes, in the accompanying

consolidated financial statements.
Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities: -
We did not acquire a;ly of our own securities during the three months ended December 31, 2006.
In November 2004, we announced that the Board of Directors had approved a new stock bug.(back program,

authorizing the expcndilture of up to $50 million to repurchase shares of our common stock. The program was completed in
February 2006, with the repurchase of|601,000 shares at an average price of $59.21.

On February 21, 2006, we announced that the Board of Directors approved a new stock repurchase program, -
authorizing the expenditure of up to $100 million to repurchase shares of our common stock. In August 2006, the Board of
Directors authorized an!additional $1q0 million under this program. There is no stated expiration date for this program. In
the first quarter of 2006, we repurchased 255,000 shares at an average price of $533.77 under this program. In the second
quarter of 2006, we repilrchased 1,000,000 shares from John R.. Landon,.our former Co-CEO and Co-Chairman, for $52.19
per share. In August 2006, we repurchased 100,000 shares at an average price of $38.96 per share. As of December 31,-
2006, we had approxim'ately $130.2 million available to repurchase shares under this program. ‘

Reference is made to Note'6 of the consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
This note discusses limitations on ourgability to pay dividends.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following|table presents selected historical consolidated financial and operating data of Meritage Homes'
Corporation and subsidiaries as of and for each of the last five years ended December 31, 2006. The financial data has been
derived from our consolidated financial statements and related notes for the periods presented, audited by our independent
registered public accou:ming firms. This table should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
‘Financial Condition and Results of O;')erations“ and the consolidated financial statements and related notes included
elsewhere in this Annual Report. These historical results may not be indicative of future results.

The data in the table includes the operations of Hammonds Homes, Perma-Bilt Homes, Citation Homes, Colonial

Homes and Greater Ho:mes since their dates-of acquisition, July 2002, October 2002, January 2004, February 2005 and
September 20035, respectively. - - . - . :
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. Historical Consolidated Financial Data
Years Ended December 31,

. , ($m thousands, except per share amounts ) -
. 2006 . 2005 . 2004 2003 2002
Statement of Earnings Data: N -

Total closing TeVENUE........ooeeeeeeeeceiire e $3461320 $3,001,102 * $2.040.004 31471001 $1.119.817
Total cost of CloSingS ... (2,748,690) . (2,294,112) (1,631,534) (1,178,484) . (904,921)
TGross profit.... e 712,630 706,990 408,470 292,517 214,896
Commissions and other sales COStS ......coocevevivinnns. (216,341) (160,114) (116,527) (92,904) - (63,291)

" General and administrative expenses.......c.cuoveennee (164,477 (124,979 (79,257) (53,929 (41,496)
Earnings from unconsolidated entities, net............ 20,364 18,337 2,788 1,743 1,383
Other INCOME, NEL.. ..o e eseve e eiese s 11,833 . TA468 9,284 4,033 4,052
Loss on extinguishment of debt ................. reeresrees . — . (31,477) - —, L= —
Earnings before income taxes ...........c.cccovvevncierinas ~ - 364,009 416,225 224,758 151,460 - 113,544
INCOME LAXES vevvervietemeeeeeeieeeeeeee e ceeseeeesbasssaneneees (138,655) {160,560) - (85,790) (57,054) (43,607)

Net armings .....viereveeverisneseirereesasaasresnesasesnnas $§ 225354 § 255665 § 138968 $ 94406 § 69,937
Earnings per common share: (1) - ,
BASIC covivvecie e $ 852 % 948 $. 533 % 362 % 2.82
Diluted ..o, $- 832 % 888 % 5.03' 5 342 % 2.66
Balance Sheet Data (December 31)
Real EStAE..eccveeiiciiercr vt verivi e $1,530,602 $1,390,803 3 867218 3% 678011 § 484970
TOMAl BSSELS --oocvrrvrreraerir e reesees e e e e rnaersns $2,170,525 $1971,357 $1,2653934 $ 954539 § 691,788
Senior notes, loans payable and other borrowmgs $ 733276 % 592,124 $ 471415. $ 351,491 $ 264,927
Total Habilities . ... . $1,163,693 $1,120352 § 742839 § 542,644 $ 374480
Stockholders’ eqUILY ..o..ecuivveciiiieeie e - $1006832 § 851,005 .$, 6522555 § 411,895 $ 317,308
Historical Consolidated Financial Data’
Years Ended December 31,
($ in thousands, except per share amounts) j ‘
2006 2005 2004 2003 . 2002
Cash Flow Data: S ' o
-Cash provided by (used in): o . - . e
Operating activities ... $ (21964) $ 72243 $ 63,869 $ (50,302) $ © 1,050
Investing activities ... e (57,720) (247.427). - (85,502) + (35812) (149,691)

Financing activities ... 70,582 193,120 64,710 . 84313 151,858

'

(1) 2002-2004 amounts have been adjusted to reflect a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend that occurred in
January 2005. There were no cash dividends paid during 2002-2006. ..

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Overview . . BN

We are a leading designer and builder of single-family homes in the rapidly growing western and southern United
States, based on the number of home closings and revenue. We focus on providing a broad range of first-time, move-up,
active adult and luxury homes to our targeted customer base. We believe that the relatively strong population, job and income
growth as well as the favorable migration characteristics of our markets will continue to provide significant long-term growth
opportunities for us. At December 31, 2006, we were actively selling homes in 213 communities, with base prices ranging
from $100,000 to $1,176,000. We operate in the following geographic regions, which are presented as our reportable
business segrments:

West: -+ California and Nevada

Central: Arizona, Texas and Colorado
East: Florida
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We achieved record home closmgs and revenue in 2006. Home closmg revenue increased 15% in 2006 to $3.4
billion; however, net earmngs decreaqed 12% to $225 million due primarily to $78,million of inventory impairments and .
write-offs of option depdsns and pre- acquxsmon costs. In 2006 we closed 10,487 homes, up 11% from 2005, while new
orders received of 7,778|were down 26% from 2005.

During the latter half of 2006,/ our markets experienced significant declines in orders due to the weakened
homebuilding market anid high cancellatron rates. This decline in net orders contributed to the 42% decrease of units in
backlog and 45% decrease of backlog value at December 31, 2006 as compared to the prior year.

At December 3|1, 2006, we hald a backlog of 3,685 homes with a value of approximately $1.2 billion. Our lower
backlog reflects the stowdown the homebuilding industry as a whole experienced in 2006.

In 2006, we recelved 7,778 net new orders valued at $2.5 billion, decreases of 26% and 31%, respectively,
compared to 2005, due to a slower sale:s pace in 2006 from the weakened homebuilding market, coupled with higher
cancellation rates. Cancellauon rates were 35% of gross unit sales in 2006 as compared to 24% in 2005. During the fourth
quarter of 2006, we expenenced a contmued slowdown in our markets in the pace 6f new orders compounded by increased
cancellations when com'pared to the abnormal]y high leve! of orders in the fourth quarter of 2005, resulting in decreases in
the number of homes ordered of 42% and 51% in the value of those orders. It is our expectation that during 2007 cancellation
rates will begin to trend toward historical average levels of less than 25%.

During January 2007, demand continued to moderate from the prior year’s pace of sales orders. We believe our
experiences are consistent with the overall trends in the homebuilding market. In addition, we are offering our customers
increased incentives and discounts to femain competitive in the currently weak market.

Our Strategy and Other Recent Developments

In general, we focus on mlmmlzmg land risk by purchasing.property only after full entitlements have been obtained
and typically begin development or constructron immediately after close. We acquire land primarily through rolling option
“contracts, allowing us to purchase mdmdual lots as our building needs dictate. These arrangements allow us to control lot
inventory typically on ai non-recourse basm without incurring the risks of land ownership. At December 31, 2006, we owned
or had options to acqurre approxrrnately 44,075 housing lots, of which approximately 83% were under option and land
purchase contracts. We ibelieve that th'e lots we own or have the nght to acquire represent an approximate four- to five-year.
supply, and that we are well posmoned for future growth.

On February 23, 2007, we completed the sale of an aggregate principal amount of $150 million of 7.73% senior
.subordinated notes due w20|7 ina prlvate placement. -The notes were issued at par and resulted in net proceeds to the
Company of $147.2 rml]ron after deductron of fees, commmissions and expenses. We used the proceeds from the sale of
these senior subordinated notes to paydown our revolvmg credit facility.

- This dlSCUSSlOI’I and ana]ysrs of financial condition and results of operanons is based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accountmg principles generally accepted in the United States of
Arnenca -

Critical Accounting Policies

We have established various|accounting policies that govern the application of United States generally accepted
accounting principles. (“GAAP”) in the preparation and presentation of our consolidated financial statements. Our significant
accounting policies are described in I\llote 1 of the consolidated financial statements. Certain of these policies involve
significant judgments, assumptions and estimates by management that may have a material impact on the carrying value of
certain assets and ]:ab:lmes and revenue and costs. We are subject to uncertainties such as the impact of future events,
€conomic, envu'onmental and polmcal factors and changes in our business environment; therefore, actual results could differ
from these estimates. Accordmgly, th'e accounting estimates used in the preparation of our financial statements will change as
new events occur, as more expenence is acquired, as additional information is obtained and as our operating environment
changes, Changes in es!trmates are rnade when circumstances warrant, Such changes in estimates and refinements in
estimation methodologles are reﬂecled in our reported results of operations and, if material, the effects of changes in
estimates are disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements. The judgments, assumptions and estimates we

|
use and believe to be critical to our business are based on historical experience, knowledge of the accounts and other factors,

21




which we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Because of the nature of the judgments and assumptions we have
made, actual results may differ from these judgments and estimates, which could have a material impact on the carrying
values of assets and liabilities and the results of our operations. Our inability to accurately estimate stock-based
compensation, expenses, accruals, or an impairment of real estate or goodwill could result in charges, or income, in future
periods, which relate to activities or transactions in a preceding period. The estimates and assumptions we make relating to
our application of FIN 46R, if not accurate, could result in us incorrectly including, or excluding, certain contractual land
acquisition arrangements or investments in unconsolidated entities as variable interest entities in, or from, respectwely our
consolidated financial statements.

The accounting policies that we deem most critical to us, and involve the most difficult, subjective or complex
Jjudgments, include:

Revenue Recognition o . -

In accordance with SFAS No. 66, Accounting for Sales of Real Estate, we recognize revenue from home sales when
title passes to the homeowner, the homeowner’s initial and continuing investment is adequate 1o demonstrate a commitment
to pay for the home, the receivable from the homeowner is not subject to future subordination and we do not have a
substantial continuing involvement with the sold home. These conditions are typically achieved when a home closes.

Revenue from land sales is recognized when a significant down payment is received, the earnings process is
relatively complete, title passes and collectibility of the receivable is reasonably assured. ‘

Real Estate

Real estate is stated at cost and includes the costs of land acquisition, land development and home construction,
capitalized interest, real estate taxes and direct overhead costs incurred during development and home construction that
benefit.the entire community. Land and development costs are typically allocated to individual lots on a relative value basis.
The costs of these lots are transferred to homes under construction when construction begins. Home construction costs are
accumulated on a per-home basis. Cost of home closings includes the specific construction costs of the home and all related
land acquisition, land development and other common costs {both incurred and estimated to be incurred) based upon the total
number of homes expected to be closed in-each community. Any changes to the estimated total development costs of a
commutity are allocated on a relative value basis to the remaining homes in the community. When a home is closed, we may
have not yet paid all costs incurred to complete it. At the time of close, we record a liability and as a charge to cost of sales
the amount we determine will ulttmately be paid to complete the home,

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS™) No. 144, Accounting for the Impairment
of Disposal of Long-Lived Assets, land inventory and related communities under development are reviewed for potential
write-downs when impairment indicators are present. SFAS No. 144 requires that in the event the undiscounted cash flows
projected for those assets are less than their carrying amounts, impairment charges are to be recorded if the fair value of such
assets is less than their carrying amounts. Our determination of fair value is based on projections and estimates, including
future sales prices, construction costs and absorption rates. -Changes in these expectations may lead (o a change in the
outcome of our impairment analysis. Our analysis is completed at community level; therefore, changes in local conditions
may effect one of several of our communities. For those assets deemed to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized i is
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets.

During 2006, we recorded $23.7 million of such impairment charges related to our real estate inventories.
Additionally, we wrote off $54.6 million of deposits and pre-acquisition costs relating to projects that were no longer
feasible. The impairment charges were based on our fair value calculations, which are affected by current market conditions,
assumptions and expectations, all of wh:ch are highly subjective and may differ 51gmﬁcantly from actual results if market
conditions change.

Goodwill

We test goodwill for impairment annually or more frequently if an event occurs or circumstances change that more
likely than not reduce the value of a reporting unit below its carrying vatue. For purposes of goodwill impairment testing, we

.compare the fair value of each reporting unit with its carrying amount,.including goodwill. Our operations in each.state are

considered a reporting unit. The fair value of reporting units is determined using various valuation methodologies, including
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discounted future cash Iflow models and enterprise value computations. If the carrying amount of a reporting unit exceeds its
fair value, goodwill is consrdered lmpalred If goodwill is considered impaired, the impairment loss to be recognized is
measured by the amount by which the carrying amount of the goodwill exceeds 1mp11ed fair value of that goodwill.

Inherent in our fair value determinations are certain judgements and estimates, including pro_]ectlons of future cash
flows, the discount rateI reflecting the :nsk inherent in future cash flows, the interpretation of current economic indicators and
. market valuations and our strategic plans with regard to our operations. A change in these underlying assumptions may cause
a change in the results of our analysns{ which could cause the fair value of one or more reporting units to be less than their
respectlve carrying amounts. In addmon to the extent that there are significant changes in market conditions or overall
economic conditions or our strategic plans change, it is possible that our conclusion regarding goodwill impairment could
change whxch could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

Our goodwill has been assngned to reporting units in different geographic locatlons Therefore potential goodwill
impairment charges resulung from changes in local market and/or local economic’conditions or changes in our strategic plans
may be isolated to one 'or a few of our reporting units. However, a widespread decline in the homebuilding industry or a
significant deterroratlon of general economic conditions could have a negative impact on the estimated fair value of several
or all of our reporting Units. . 1"

‘While we beheve that no golodwﬂl impairment existed as of December 31, 2006, future economic or financial
developments, mcludmg general 1nterest rate increases or poor performance in either the national economy or individual local
economies, could lead 1o 1mpalrment.of goodwill in future periods. : -

Warranty Reserves

We use subcontractors for nlearly all aspects of home construction. Although our contracts generally require
subcontractors to repalr and replace any product or labor defects, we are generally responsible for such repairs. As such,
warranty reserves are recorded to cover potential costs for materials and labor as they relate to warranty-type claims expected
to be incurred subsequent to the dellvery of a home to the homeowner. Reserves are determined based upon the Company’s
and industry-wide historical data and trends with respect to product types and geographical areas.

At December; 31, 2006, our warranty reserve was $28.4 million. While we believe that the warranty reserve is
sufficient to cover our;projected costs, there can be no assurances that historical data and trends will accurately predict our
actual warranty costs. | Furthermore, there can be no assurances that future economic or financial developmems rrught not
lead to a significant change in the res'erve .

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We invest in enuues that acquire and develop land for sale to us’in connection with our homebuilding operations or
for sale to third pames Our partners|generally are unrelated homebuilders, land sellers and financial or other strategic
partners. ‘ ’ ' ‘

Most of the unconsolidated entities through which we acquire and develop land are accounted for by the equity
method of accounting|because the criteria for consolidation set forth in FASB Interpretation No. 46 (revised December
2003), “Consolidation of Variable h'iteresr Entities” (FIN 46R) have not been met. We record our investments in these
entities in our consohdated balance sheets as “Investments in unconsolidated entities” and our pro rata share of the entities’
earnings or losses in our consolidated statements of eamnings as “Earnings from unconsolidated entities, net.”

We use our business judgement to determine if we are the primary beneficiary of, or have a controlling interest in,
an unconsolidated entlty Factors consrdered in our determination include the profit/loss sharing terms of the entity,
expérience and ﬁnancllal condition of the other partners, votmg rights, involvement in day-to-day capital and operating
decisions and contmumg involvement; '

As of December 31, 2006, we believe that the equity method of accounting is appropriate for our investments in
unconsolidated entiti¢s where we are not the primary beneficiary, we do not have a controlling interest, and our ownership
interest exceeds 20%I At Dccember 31, 2006, the unconsolidated entitites in which we had equity investments had total
assets of $763.9 million and total habrlmes of $497.8 million. See Note 4 in the accompanying ﬁnancml statements for
additional information related to our investments in unconsolidated entities.




We also enter into option or purchase agreements to acquire land or lots from entities, for which we generally pay
non-refundable deposits. We analyze these agreements under FIN 46R to determine whether we are the primary beneficiary
of the VIE (as defined) created as result of these agreements using a model developed by management. If we are deemed to
be the primary beneficiary of the VIE because we are obligated to absorb the majority of the expected losses, receive the -
majority of the residual returns, or both, we will consolidate the VIE in our consolidated financial statements. See Note 3 in
the accompanying financial statements for additional information related to our off-balance sheet arrangements.

- e

Valuation of Deferred Tax Assets

We account for income taxes using the asset and liability method, which requires that deferred tax assets and
liabilities be recognized based on future tax consequences of both temporary differences between the financial statement

“carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are

measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply’in the years in which the temporary differences are expected to be
recovered or seitled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is recognized in eamnings in the

‘period when the changes are enacted. . . ‘ ‘ . .

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 109, “Accounting for Income
Taxes,” we assess our ability to realize deferred tax assets primarily based on earnings-history, future earnings potential, the
reversal of taxable temporary differences and available tax planning strategies. At December 31, 2006, our net deferred tax
asset was $28.1 million. Based on our assessment, it appears more llkely lhan not that the net deferred tax asset will be fully

. reallzed and does not require a valuation allowance.

Share-Based Payments

We have stock options and restricted common stock (“nonvested shares™) outstanding under two stock
compensation plans. Per the terms of these plans, the exercise price of our stock options may not be less than the closing
market value of our common stock on the date of the grant. No options granted under the plans may be exercised within one
year from the date of the grant. Thereafter, exercises are permitted in pre-determined installments based upon a vesting
schedule established at the time of grant. Each stock option expires on a date determined at the time of the grant, but not to
exceed seven years from the date of the grant.

’ M

Prior to January 1, 2006, we accounted for stock option awards granted under our compensation plans in accordance
with the recognition and measurement provisions of APB Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and
related Interpretations, as permitted by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Share-based employee .
compensation expense was not recognized in our consolidated statements of earnings prior to January 1, 2006, as our stock
options had an exercise price equal to or greater than the market value of our common stock on the date of the grant and '
therefore, no intrinsic value. On January 1, 2006, we adopied the provisions of SFAS No. 123 {revised 2004), Share-Based
Payment, (“SFAS No. 123R”) using the modified-prospective-transition method. -Under this transition method, our
compensation expense recorded in 2006 includes both charges related to the vesting of options and restricted stock granted
since the adoption of SFAS No. 123R as well as compénsation cost related to the unvested portions of options granted prior
to January 1, 2006. For all compensation cost recorded, fair value of the options was determined using the provisions of
SFAS No. 123R. In accordance with the modified-prospective-transition methed, results for prior penods have not been
restated. - - :

: o i ) B T . : .

The calculation of employee compensation expenge involves estimates that require management judgements. These
estimates include determining the value of each of our stock options on the date of grant using a Black-Scholes option-
pricing model discussed in Note 9. The fair value of our stock opiions, which typically vest ratably over a five-year period, is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting life of the options. Expected volatility is based on a composite of (1)
historical volatility of our stock and (2) implied volatility from our traded options. . The risk-free rate for.periods within the
contractual life of the stock option award is based on the rate of a zero-coupon Treasury bond on the date the stock OptIOIl is
granted with a maturity equal to the expected term of the stock option. We use historical data to estimate stock option ,
exercises and forfeitures within our valuation model. The expected life of our stock option awards is derived from historical
experience under our share-based payment plans and represents the perlod of time that we expect our stock options to be
outstanding. ,
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" HomeC Iosin:s;Revgnue, ‘Home Orders and Order Backlog — Segment Analysis

" The tables provided below sh

thousands).

.

Total
Dollars ....coeernneeecd
" Homes closed...........
Average sales price..

West Region s

California

DOLIATS vvvvverererererirendarresarenerenssesanes
Homes closed...........
Average sales price ...

Nevada

Home Closing Revenu

Dollars ...ovvveiieicei e

¢ Homes closed..........!
Average sales price |

West Réﬁion Totals
« Dollars................l
Homes closed .......... |

Average sales pnceF

. Central Region =

Arizona

Average sales price |

Texas
Dollars .....cvvvievnanale

. Homes clo_scd....‘.....‘L
Average sales price )

Colorado
Dollars ....cccceoeenees
Homes closed.........
- Average sales pricel

Central Region Totals

Dollars.............. . L
Homes closed........
Average sales price..

- East Region

- Florida -

Dollars ..cccovvvieiinnndds
Homes closed..........
Average sales price'..
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ow operating and financial data regarding our homebuilding activities (dollars’in

Years Ended December 31, ~

2006

2005 ¢ - 2004

$ 3,444,286
10,487

$ 3284
$ 820,583
- 1,471
$ 557.8
$ 244343
620
$ 394.1

$ 1,064,926
2,091
$ 5093

$ 1,102,662
3,355
$ 328.7

$ 996739

4,263

$ .233.8
$ 40,875
112

$ 365.0
$ 2,140,276
7,730

$ 276.9
$ 239,084
666

$ 359.0

$ 2996946 -$:2,015742

9,406 7,254

$ 3186 S 2779
$ 047228 § 628,324
1,627 #1367

$ 5822 § - 4596
$ 201,907, §.-120,576
. 541 404

$ - 3732 § 2985
$ 1,149,135.. 5 748,900
2,168 1,771

$ 5300 § 4229
$ 873,137 § 585743 -
3,122 . .2.331

$. 2797 $ 2513
$ 787204 § 681,099
3,576 3,152

$ 2201 $ 2161
$ 2809 - NA
8 N/A

$ 3511 N/A
$ 1,663,150 $ 1,266,842
6,706 5,483

$ 2480 § 2310

§-

$ 184,661 N/A
532 N/A

$ 34711 N/A




Home Orders
Total

HOmES Ordered...... oo i g
AVETage Sales PIICE.....ccocviviiiiiiiiiicnsiresreres e rrsss e esavresnssesrsassessneesens

West Region .t

California

DOLIATS ..o seeeeeseeeee s oo sesss s s
HOMES OFAETEA. ... .ottt e et e e e e e e e e eee e e eeensanaes

West Region Totals

DIOHAES oottt n bbb
Homes ordered...............ccccoooiiniiie e s st s sesssssssesnssasesessrseanns
AVErage SAles PriCe...........cccimiioniiiiiiieie e

Central Region

Arizona

DIOHETS .ot et o et
Homes ordered........ooiii et
AVErage SAIES PIICE ..ovviivirirsmnsisireeeeecceec s e e nene

-Texas .

Homes ordered.........ocoiiiiiiminriimee et s e s e sess e nensens
AVErAge SAlS PTICE ...eveeeceie ettt eene e es e eesae et et

Central Region Totals

Dollars
HOmes Ordered..................ocooceoecooiieeieeeieseieireecreeiessies s sss st n s eras s ssssens

East Region

Florida

DOLLALS ..t eccitecireecieertiere et rer et saes s re s srr e e srssssnesssssranesant e st assntesn
HOMES OFAETRA......ceeeeiriire e ressresresereeeressressressressrsssssressressresnrens
AVETage SAlES PIICE ..ottt ettt e e
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Years Ended December 31, -

2006

2005

- $2462,747

7,778
$ 316.6

$ 529435
983
$ 5386

$ 139668
328
$ 425.8

$ 669,103
1,311
$ 5104

$ 611,266
1,833
3335

&

1,069,437
4,299
3 248.8

)

$ 47836
125
$ 3827

$ 1,728,539
6,257
$ 276.3

- 65,105
210
$ 3100

R

$ 3,580,855
10,571
$ 338.7

$ 976,921
1,646
$ 5935

$ 249,104
653
$ 381.5

$ 1,226,025
2,299
$ 533.3

$ 1,174,452
3,558
$ 330.1

$ 983,579
4,264

$ 2307

3 14,631

40

$ 3658

$ 2,172,662
7,862
$ 2763

$ 182,168
410
$ 4443

2004

$ 2,604,948
9,007
$ 289.2

$ 821,266
. 1582
$ 5191

$ 146,141
417
3 350.5

$ 967407
. 1,999
$ 4839

$ 884,771
3,490
$ 2535

$ 752,770
. 3518
$ 2140

N/A
N/A
N/A

$ 1,637,541
7,008

$ 233.7

N/A
N/A
N/A




! At December 31,
‘ ; 2006 2005 004 .
Order Backlog ’
-Total . .
Dollars .................\.. ! $ 1,200,061 $ 2,181,600 $ 1,320,951
“Homes in backlog ... 3685 11639 4,408
Average salés price. - 3 3257 % 3412 7% 299.7
West Region '
éalifomia ) . . S R
DOLLATS -..cvovevevevevenodssessene e ebessssesesssasssesess e esseseees SR -$ 1129816 $ 420964 $ 391,271
Homes in backlog ..l oo .voer b e e T 226 714 T 695
Average sales price J ...... eveeeresrin, e s sasa s sasaeraatatans $ 5744 § 5896 $ 563.0
Nevada . ' . . o
Dollars ........... ST S SR S Cersassesnsssiesan '$ 21,725 $ 126400 "% 79,203
Homes in 5acklog .. |.....ovrvevvvvro oo 57 349 237
Average sales price................. . SO O $ 3811 %3 3622 % 334.2
West Region Totals ' i _
Dollars.......iuidueennne. ST N OO S R "% 151541 $ 547364 '$ 470474
Homes in backlog LIS s s v © 283 1,063 -~ 932
Average sales pricel. ...... e : .................. 3 5355 % 5149 % 504.8
Central Region
Arizona ‘ - ‘ _
Dollars .. ©$ 347306 '$ 838,702 $ 537387
Homés in backlog S SRR 905 2,427 * 1,991
AVErage SAles PriCel.......cooovvivooveesbecccresenrrecoroninnrrensns s S siosen e $ ° 3838 § 3456 $ 2699
vTexas - ‘ .
C DOMARS e e e e $ ..582,163 § 509465 $ 313,090
- Homes in backlog | ........ OO PO 2,209 2,173 1,485
 AVErage Sales Price ... rererreraersnesasees $ 2635 $ 2345 $ 2108
. -, S . ) - N I . LI -
Colorado
DIOHALS <ol et et $ 18783 § 11,822 N/A
Homes in backlog || 45 .3 N/A
Average sales prlcc:| ............................................................... 8 4174 " % 369.4 N/A
Central Region Tatals
Dollars ...l eeeeeteaenen e et e e s $ 948,252 $ 1359989 §$ 850,477
Homes in backlog ! ................... L SR 3,159 4,632 - 3476
Average sales pir'zce..................,...-I ............................................................... 5 3002 % 2936 3§ 244.7
~ East Region S i
) : ¢ . Looon 1
Florida N : o
Dollars ..........cu.... 5 SO 3 . v s ~$ -100,268 $ 274,247- N/A
- Homes in backlog I....‘..: ........... R, O SRR erenernneraresaiseaes SR 243 7699 - N/A
Average sales price ST NN 3 4126 § 3923 ‘N/A

“Home Clasmg ‘Revenue” Companywide. Home closing revenue mcreased 15%toa Company record of $3 4 billion
in 2006 from $3.0 billion in 2005. The factor primarily leading'to this increase was the strong demand and pricing power
relating to 2005 sales|orders, which Were realized in the 2006 closings. Average selling prices on homes closed rose 3%
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from 2005 to 2006 and we benefited from an 11% increase in the number of homes closed in 2006 to 10,487 from 9, 406 in
2003.

Home closing revenue increased 49% to a Company record of $3.0 billion in 2005 from $2.0_billiofi in 2004, The
factors primarily leading to this increase wére continued strong demand and our ability to raise prices throughout many of our
markets, Average selling prices on Homes closed rose 15% from 2004 to 2005 and we benefited from a 30% increase in the
number of homes closed in 2005 to 9,406 from 7,254 in 2004. Additionally, our two acquisitions in Florida, though only
included in our 2005 results for less than one year, accounted for approximately 18% of our increase in home closing
revenues in 2005. .

West, In 2006, the West Region experienced a 7% revenue decline. As some markets in the western United States
were first to feel the impacts of the downturn in the housing markets, closings in 2006 in both dollars and volume reflect our
reduced pricing power and high cancellations, particularly in California. The 13% decrease in California home closing
revenue to $820.6 million in 2006 compared to $947.2 million in 2005 reflects a 10% decrease in the number of homes
closed and a 4% decrease in the average selling price of homes closed. In Nevada, strong sales performance in early 2006
resulted in the number of homes closed i increasing 15% in 2006, producing home closmg revenue of $244.3 rrulllon an
increase of 21% compared to 2005. ' :

In 2003, the West Region experienced 53% revenue growth to $1.1 billion as compared to $748.9 million in 2004.
The strong performance of the West Region in 2005 was primarily attributed to exceptionally high demand and pricing power
as reflected in the number of closings and increased average sales price. The 51% increase in California home closing
revenue to $947.2 million in 2005 compared to $628.3 million in 2004 reflected a 19% increase in the number of homes
closed and a 27% increase in the average selling price of homes closed. In Nevada, the number of homes closed increased
34% in 2005, producing home closing revenue of $201.9 million, an increase of 67% compared to 2004.

Central. In 2006, sales mix and strong 20035 orders were the primary drivers behind the overall increased results in
the Central Region. Home closing revenue increased $477.1 to $2.1 billion as compared to $1.7 billion in 2005. Both
Arizona and Texas had a year of record closings with 3,355 and 4,263 homes closed, respectively, increases of 7% and 19%
over 2005. Additionally, average sales price increases of 18% and 6%, respectively, in Arizona and Texas i in 2006 as
compared to 2005 further contributed to the year’s strong performance.

In 2005, healthy demand and pricing power resulted in strong results in the Central Region. Home closing revenue
increased $396.3 to $1.7 billion as compared to $1.3 billion in 2004. In Arizona, home closmg revenue increased $287.4
million, due to increases of 34% and 1% in the number of homes closed and average sales price, respectively. These strong
results reflected the pricing power and limited homes inventory availability in this local market during 2005. In a very
competitive Texas market, where we expanded our entry-level and semi-custom luxury offerings in addition to our primary
focus on move-up homes, we closed 3,576 homes in 2005 for $787.2 million in revenue, increases of 13% and 16%,
respectively.” _ . N

East. During 2006, we closed 666 homes, generating revenue of $239.1 million. The 29% increase in revenue is
due to both increased volume and the higher average sales price of $359,000 as compared to $347,100 in 2005.

In 2005, as a result of our two acquisitions and the commencement of closings i in our Orlando slart—up division, we
produced home closing revenue of $184.7 million on 532 home closings.

Home Orders. Companywide. Home orders for any period represent the aggregate sales price of all homes ordered
by customers, net of cancellations. We do not include orders contingent upon the sale of a customer’s existing home as.a
sales contract until the contingency is removed. Historically, we have experienced a cancellation rate of less than 25% of
gross sales, although our rate in 2006 was 35%. In 2006, we took home orders for 7,778 homes, a decrease of 26% compared
to the 10,571 home orders in 2005 primarily due to the decline in demand in many of our homebuilding markets, partially
offset by home sales at new communities, which increased by 16%_to 213 actively selling communities at December 31,
2006.

In 2005, we took home orders for 10,571 homes, an increase of 17% compared to the 9,007 home orders in 2004

primarily due to strong demand for homes in most of our markets and a 32% increase in the number of actively selling
communities to 184 at December 31, 2005
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West. Our West Region posted significantly weaker order volume in 2006, decreasing 45% in the value of home -
orders, with our fourth :quaner order v'alue for this region also falling 45%, reﬂectmg the continued slowing from the .
unusually robust sales pace seen in prewous years in these markets. We expect home order rates to return to more normal and
sustainable levels in late 2007 or early 2008 as market conditions adjust and cancellation rates stabilize to more typical levels.

Our West Region posted strong order growth in 2003, increasing 27% in the value of home orders and 15% in the
number of homes ordered However. our fourth quarter 2005 order value for this region fell 41% year over year, reflecting
the start of the slowing trend in the homebuilding market as a whole and this Region in particular.

Central. In 2006 a weaker housmg market in the Arizona Region contributed to a 48% decrease in the value of
home orders in Anzona While average sales price per home held steady due to changes in sales mix offsetting price
-decreases, the number of home orders declined 1,605 to 6,257 for the Region, reflecting the deterioration in the local market
from the strong demand a year earherl In Texas, despite a very competitive market, we experienced solid demand in all of
our markets and recelved orders for 4, 299 homes valued at $1.1 billion in 2006, increases of 1% and 9%, respectrvely,
compared to 4,264 home orders with a value of $983.6 million in 2005, Additionally, the Central Region increased its
number of actively- sellmg communities to 169 as of December 31, 2006, as compared to 146 a year ago, also offse[tmg
slower sales and high cancellations.

In 2005 the Central Reglon experlenced a33% increase in the value of home orders as compared to 2004. The
increase was primarily due to pamcularly strong results in Arizona. The value of home orders in Arizona rose 33% in 2005
due, in part, to a 35% | mcrease in the number of actively-selling communities and the diversification of our product offerings.
We were able to take advanlage of emergmg demographic trends such as maturing baby boomers in the form of Active Adult
communities.

East. In 2006 the number of home sales in Florida decreased by 200 orders to 210 units worth $65 1 rmllron a49%
_and 64% decrease over, 12005, This decrease is due to the extremely difficult market conditions in Fi. Myers/Naples, where
demand and pricing power have declined at a faster pace than the rest of the nation. We expect these conditions to continue
in 2007. :

Order Backlog Companywrde Our backlog represents nel sales contracts thal have not closed. Our backlog was
$1.2 billion at December 31, 2006, a decrease of 45% compared to $2.2 billion at December 31, 2005 and was comprised of
3,685 homes, a 42% decrease compared to December “31, 2005. Our homes in backlog at December 31, 2006 reflect an
average sales price of $325 700, a decrease of 5% compared to $341,200 at the same time a year ago. These decreases are
* primafily the tesult of decllnlrlg housmg markets in many ‘of our markets as reflected by decreased pricing power and higher
cancellation rates, coupled wrth record closings i in 2006. ;

1. 4
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Our backlog was $2.2 brl]lon at December 31, 2005, an increase of 65% compared to $1 3 brlllon at December 31,
2004 and was comprlsed of 6,394 homes a 45% increase compared to the year ended December 31, 2004. Our homes in

backlog at December 3l 2005 reflected an average sales price of $341,200, an increase of 14% compared to $299, 700 atthe .

same time a year ago. ,These mcreases weré primarily due to healthy housing markets in many of our ‘markets.

West. In 2006 the West Regron experienced a 72% decrease in dollar backlog as compared to 2005. In Callfomla
we had a decrease in Lhe dollar value of backlog of 69%, reflecung weaker demand in the fourth quarter; while Nevada's 57
backlog units represenl an 84% decrease over the prior year. As previously | noted, record high cancellauon rales were a
primary factor causmg the reduced backlog

ln 2005 the Vlllest Region experienced a 16% increase in dollar backlog as compared t¢ 2004, In Calrforma we had
a modest increase in the doliar value of backlog of 8%, reflecting moderating demand in the fourth quarter, while Nevada’s
349 homes representedia 47% i increase over the prior year.

Cemral‘ As olf December 3 ll 2006 the Central Region had 3,159 homes in backlog, a decrease of 32% over 2005.
In Arizona, the number of homes in backlog decreased 63% and the value of those homes decreased 59%. These results were
parually offset by Texas where homes in backlog increased 2% to 2,209 from 2,173 at December 31, 2005 with an increase
of 14% in value to $582.2 million.

Asof December 31 2005, the Central Regron had 4,632 homes in backlog, an increase of 33% over 2004._In
Arizona, the number of hothes in backlog increased 22% and the value of those homes increased 56%, wh11e In Texas, homes
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in backlog increased 46% to 2,173 from 1,485 at December 31, 2004 with an increase of 63% in value to $509.5 million.
East. We ended 2006 with 243 homes in backlog in Florida with a value of $100.3 million, decreases of 65% and
63%, respectively, from 2005. The poor homebuilding market conditions and high cancellation rates, particularly in Ft.

Mpyers/Naples, were the main cause for these declines.

Other Operating Information

Years Ended December 31,
$ in thousands}
2006 2005 2004
" Home Closing Gross Proﬁt
West ’
Home closing gross profit...........c.ccoieioieeeeeee $198,890  $319,759 $§173,481
Percent of home closing revenue ...........ccccvveniniiicceens C18.7% 278% 23.2%
‘Central
Home closing gross profit...........ccoooveeveveeciceenecece s $486,780 $348,998 $226,806
Percent of home closing revenue ... 22.7% 21.0% 17.9%
East '
Home closing gross Profit.........o.ccivierererecrerersseseesesssssnees $ 26318 $ 37,696 -
Percent of home closing revenue .......... err s . 11.0% 20.4% —
Total
Home closing gross profit.........evesisssssssesseereennens $711,988 $706,453 $400,287
Percent of home closing revenue ...t 20.7% 23.6% 199%

Home Closing Gross Profit. Companywide. Home closing gross profit represents home closing revenue less cost
of home closings. Cost of home closings include land and lot development costs, direct home construction costs, an
allocation of common community costs (such as model complex costs and architectural, legal and zoning costs), interest,
sales tax, impact fees, warranty, construction overhead and closing costs.

Our companywide gross profit of 20.7% is 290 basis points below our 2005 gross profit of 23.6%. Our 2006 gross
profit included real estate inventory lmpamnents and write-offs of option deposits and pre-acquisition costs of $78.3 million,
which is 2.3% of total home closing revenue. Excluding such charges, our 2006 and 2005 margins are relatively comparable
as many of the 2006 closings reflect the favorable pricing conditions of 2005, when many of these homes were sold.

West. For 2006, home closing gross profit decreased 910 basis points over 2005 to 18.7%. The 2006 margins
reflect our declining pricing power and increased use of incentives in 2006, coupled with home construction costs holding
steady when compared to the robust homebuilding environment of 2005. Margins in 2006 were further impacted by
inventory impairments and write-downs of options and pre-acquisition costs. The West Region recorded $36.9 million of
impairment and write-downs, reducing the gross profit margin by 3.5%.

As we expected, our 2005 homebuilding margins were not sustainable, and we believe our margins will continue to
decline to more historical average levels. We believe that further margin compression could result from a continued slowing
in home sale price increases (or decreases in home sale prices), increasing costs of land and building materials and the
offering of increased incentives to homebuyers if the homebuilding market slows and interest rates increase.

Home closing gross profit increased 460 basis points in 2005 over 2004 to 27.8%. The 2005 margins reflected an
overall robust homebuilding environment and were above our target range. This increase was primarily due to strong
demand in 2005 and our ability to increase prices in many of our markets at that time, while cost-containment efforts of our
land and construction costs further contributed to the increase. '

Central. The Central Region experienced a 170 basis point increase in gross profit percentage in 2006 to 22.7% as
compared to 2005. This increase is due primarily to the mix of homes sold in Arizona, with higher margin communities
contributing a larger percentage of the sales. The Central Region also recorded $13.7 million of impairments and write-
downs as discussed above.
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The Central Region experienced a 310 basis point increase in gross profit percentage in 2005 to 21.0% as compared
to 2004 due to the strong homebuilding environment and cost management efforts of our land and construction costs.

East. The East'Region had home closing profit of 11.0% during 2006. The 940 basis point decline is due to both
the inventory impairments recorded duimg 2006, as well as the weakened homebuilding market, particularly in Ft. _
Myers/Naples, where 31g'n1ﬁcant price i:oncessmns and sales incentives were utilized in order to remain competitive in the
local market. Total lmpiurments and wnte-downs aggregated to $27.7 million during 2006, 11.6% of the Region’s home '
closing revenue for the year.

Years Ended December 31,

- ($ in thousands)

: y 2006 2005 - 2004
Commissions and Other Sales Costs N . - o _
Dollars......) oo e eeeegeseesseen $216341 $160,114 $116,527
Percent of Home CloSING TEVENUE .....v...vvvvverveessvesereerrerernes 6.3% 53% . 58%
General and Administrative Expenses
Dollars......) oo, Dttt $164477 $124979 $ 79257

, Percent of total closing FEVEIUE ... eeeereeoe e eeeeerererereree . 4.8% 42% - 39%
Provision for Income Taxes. - ' ‘ ) .
Dollars. ... kovvvereeee oo Lo e . 8138655 $160,560 -$ 85,790
Percent of eiamings before'.provision for income taxes....... 38.1% 38.6% 382%

[

Commissions and Other Sales Costs. Commissions and other sales costs, such as advertising and sales office
expenses, increased as aI percent of home closing revenue to 6.3% in 2006 from 5.3% in 2005. This increase was primarily
due to the weakened housmg markets, which resulted in the increased involvement of external real estate agents who are paid
a higher commission than our internal sales force, and additional sales and marketmg efforts targeted at improving our

competitiveness in this challengmg market.

Commissions and other sales'costs as a percent of home closing revenue were 5.3% in 2005 down from 5. 8% in
2004. This decrease was primarily the ‘result of our ability to leverage our fixed and semi-fixed sales and marketing costs
with our 49% i increase in home closing revenue. . S . oo |

General and Admmtstmttve Expenses. General and administrative expenses represent corporate and divisional .
overhead expenses such as salaries and bonuses, occupancy, insurance and travel expenses. General and administrative
expenses increased to 4. 8% of total revenue in 2006 from 4.2% in 2005. The increase is primarily attributed to $24.9 million’

{pre-tax) of charges related to severance costs and stock-based compensation due to the adoption of SFAS No. 123R, which .

contributed an additional 72 basis pomts

During 2005 we completed two acquisitions in Florida. These acquisitions, along with our growth in our existing
markets, necessitated an expansion of our corporate infrastructure capabilities, such as accounting, internal audit, human
resources, legal and mformauon lechnology to prudently manage the growth of the Company. This expansion resulted in an

increase in 2005 genera.l and administrative cost to 4.2% of total revenue compared to 3.9% for 2004. -

Loss on Extmgmshment of Debr In 2005, we incurred a $3l 5 million loss on extinguishment of debt relatmg to
our 2005 bond reﬁnancmg, the proceeds of which were used to repurchase pursuant to a tender offer and consent solicitation
approximately $276.8 rmllion of our outstandmg 9. 75% senior notes due 2011,

Income Taxes Income taxes decreased to $138.7 million in 2006 from $160 6 million in 2005 As a percent of pre-
tax earnings, taxes Were 38.1% in 2006 down from 38.6% in 2005. The slight decrease in 2006 is primarily attributed to an
increase in the deduetion related to quiihﬁed production activities provided by the American Jobs Creation Act of 2004, a
reduction in the amount of non-deductlble executive incentive compensation, and the 1mpact of incentive stock options under
SFAS No. 123R, which! was implemenited at the beginning of 2006. :

Income taxes mcreased to $160 6 million in 2005 from $85.8 million in 2004, Asa percent of pre-tax earnings, taxes

were 38.6% in 2005, up from 38.2% i m 2004. This increase was mainly due to the 2005 increase in pre-tax earnings in
Arizona and California, |which have higher state tax rates than Nevada and Texas. The tax benefit associated with the exercise
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of employee stock options reduced taxes payable for 2004 by approximately $3.0 million, which was credited to additional
paid-in-capital. :

Liguidity and Capttal Resources

Our pr1nc1pal uses of capital for the year ended December 3] 2006 were for operating expenses, land purchases,
investmeénts in joint ventures, lot development, home construction, the repurchase of common stock, income taxes and
interest. We used a combination of borrowings under our revolving credit facility and funds generated by operations to meet )
our short-term working capital requirements. '

Cash flows for each of our communities depend on the status of the development cycle and can differ substantially
from reported earnings. Early stages of development or expansion require significant cash outlays for land acquisitions, plat
and other approvals, and construction of model homes, roads, utilities, general landscaping and other amenities. Because
these costs are capitalized, income reported for financial statement purposes during those early stages may significantly
exceed cash flow. Cash flows during the later stages of a community may significantly exceed eamings reported for financial
statement purposes, as cost of closings includes charges for substantial amounts of previously expended costs.

We enter into various option and purchase contracts for land in the normal course of business. Except for a minor
number of our specific performance options, none of these agreements require us to purchase lots. Generally, our options to
purchase lots remain effective so long as we purchase a pre-established minimum number of lots each month or quarter, as
determined by the respective agreement. Although the pre-established number is typically structured to approximate our
expected rate of home construction starts, during a weakened homebuilding market, as we are currently experiencing, we
may be required to purchase lots at an absorption level that exceeds our sales pace in order to maintain the pre-established
purchase rate. At December 31, 2006, we had entered into option purchase contracts with an aggregate purchase price of
approximately $2.1 billion, on which we had made deposits of approximately $168.1 million in cash along with
approximately $64.3 million in letters of credit. Additional information regarding our purchase agreements and related
deposits is presented in Note 3 — Variable Interest Enutles and Consolidated Real Estate Not Owned in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements. : -

On May 16, 2006, we amended and restated our senior unsecured revolving credit facility (“Amended Credit
Agreement”). Under the Amended Credit Agreement, our credit facility was increased from $600 million to $800 mallion,
and the term was extended from May 2009 to May 2010. On June 30, 2006, we amended our Credit Agreement to increase
our borrowing capacity under the Credit Agreement by $50 million and to make certain other minor changes. The total
borrowing capacity of the credit facility is now $850 million. The increase in capacity was made pursuant to an accordion
feature contained in the Credit Agreement. This accordion feature allows us to request from time to time an aggregate
increase of up to $250 million in the maximum borrowing commitment. Each member of the lending group may elect to
participate or not participate in any request we make. In addition, any increase in the borrowing capacity pursuant to this
accordion feature is subject to certain terms and conditions, including the absence of an event of default. At December 31,
2006, $200 million was available under the accordion feature.. .+ : :

At December 31, 2006, $226.5 million was outstanding under our Amended Credit Agreement and approximately
$102.6 million was outstanding in letters of credit that collateralize our obligations under various land purchase and other
contracts. After considering our most restrictive bank covenants, our borrowing availability under the Amended Credit
Agreement was approximately $449 million at December 31, 2006, as detcrmmed by borrowmg base limitations dcﬁned by
our agreement with the lending banks. ‘ . :

On February 23, 2007, we completed the sale of an aggregate principal amount of $150 million of 7.73% senior
subordinated notes due 2017 in a private placement. The notes were issued at par and resulted in net proceéds to the
Company of $147.2 million, after deduction of fees, commmissions and expenses. We used the proceeds from the sale of
these senior subordinated notes to paydown our revolvmg credit facility. '

This credit facility contains certain ﬁnancial and other covenants, including covenants:

e requiring us to maintain tangible net worth of at least $500 million plus 50% of net income earned since
January 1, 2005 plus 50% of the aggregate net increase in tangible net worth resulting from the sale of
capital stock and other equity interests (as defined);

.
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e prohibiting our ratio of indebtedness (including accrued expenseé) to tangible net worth from being greater

than 22510 1;

. ‘. - -

. reqmrmg us to maintain a ratio of EBITDA (mcludmg mterest amortlzed o cost of sales) to interest

incurred (as deﬂned) of atleast 2.0to 1;

prohlbmng the net book value of our land and lots where construction of a home has not commenced to
exceed 100% of langlble net worth and prohibiting the net book value of our raw land where grading or
infrastructure lmprovements have not begun to exceed 20% of tanglble net worth;

.. lmutmg the number of unsold housmg units and model units that we may have in our inventory at the end

v, of an)'( fiscal quarter,as follows

(1) unsold homes cannot exceed 25% of the number of home closings wuhln the four fiscal quarters

ending on such date; and

(2) model homes cannot exceed 10% of the number of home closings within the four fiscal quarters |

-t ending on such date; and h

«  prohibiting us from
model homes. -

2.0% Senior Notes

entering into any sale and'leaseback transaction, excluding the sale and leaseback of

i

In Aprit 2004,'we issued $130.0 million in principal amount of 7.0% senior notes due 2014. The indenture for our -
7.0% senior notes requ1res us to comply with a number of covenants that restrict certain transactions, including covenants:

o llmmng the amount of a

ddlllonal indebtedness‘we can incur unless after glvmg effect to such addmonal

mdebtedrfess either (i) our ﬁxed charge coverage ratio would be at least 2.0 to 1.0 or (ii} our ratio of -

consollda}ed ‘debt to corrsohdated tanglble net worth would be less than 3.0 to 1.0, provided, however, this
llmltatlon does not generally apply to indebtedness under our senior unsecured credit facility, most types of
inter- company indebtedness, purchase money mdebtedness up to $15 million, other mdebtedness up to $15

million and non récourse indebtedness;

make to’ $10 million plu

¢ generally|limiting the amount of dmdends redemptlons of equny interests and certain investments we can

s (1) 50% of our net income since June 1,2001 plus (i1) 100% of the net cash proceeds

from the sale of quahﬁed eqmty mterests ‘plus other items and subject to olher exceptlons

e° requiringus to maintain

¢ limiting our ability to in

. ’ . .
* placing limitations on the

-~ .

El

tangible net worth of at least $60 million; ~
cur or create certain liens; and

N i . et o ., x. | N

sale of assets, mergers and consolidations and transactions with affiliates.

e
K . -

In March 2005, we completed the private placement of $350 million in aggregate principal amount of 6 25% senior
notes due 2015 which resulted in'net Iproceeds to us of approximately $344 million. The indenture which governs the 6.25%
senior notes contains c:ovenants that are substantially similar to the covenants in'the indenture that governs our ex1stmg 7.0%
senior notes, except that, among other thmgs the new mdenture f .

s does not require us to maintain a certain level of minimum tanglble net worth;

e prov1des that the: exceptrons to thé limitation of the amount of addmonal indebtedness we may acqurre with
respect to purchase money mdebtedness is unhmlted and with respect to ‘other mdebledness is $25 ml"lOl’l

. provrdes thal the amount of dlvndends redempuons of equily interests and certain 1nvestmems we can make is

i » 5

~ Nimited to $25 million pllus (i) 50%of net income since June 1, 2001 plus (ii} 100% of the net cash proceeds
- +from the 'sale of quallﬁed equity interests, plus other items and subject to other exceptions; -

. 1ncreases the amount of

investments we can make in Jomt ventures in' a permitted busmess with unaffiliated

third pames t0"30% of our consolldated tangible net worth (as defined in the new indenttire); and

.




s provides for a suspension of certain covenants if the new 6.25% senior notes have “investment grade ratings,”
as defined in the indenture, including covenants relating to change of control, limitations on additional
indebtedness, limitations on the amount of dividends, redemptions of equity interest and certain limitations on
investments and asset sales.

As of and for the year ended December 31, 2006, we were in compliance with the credit facility and senior note
covenants.

Although we believe that our current borrowing capacity, cash on hand and anticipated net cash flows from
operations are and will be sufficient to meet liquidity needs for the foreseeable future, certain events may occur, particularly
in light of the current slowdown of the homebuilding market, which may require additional cash outlays beyond our
historical levels. Such events include the acquisition of land from our lots under option at a rate faster than our sales pace
and the build-up of unsold inventory due to high cancellation rates. We believe our future cash needs will include funds for
the completion of projects that are underway, the acquisition of land and property for new projects, repurchases of common
stock. the maintenance of our day-to-day operations, and the acquisition or start-up of additional homebuilding operations,
should the opportunities arise. There is no assurance, however, that future cash flows will be sufficient to meet future capital
needs. The amount and types of indebtedness that we incur may be limited by the terms of the indenture governing our sentor
notes and by the terms of the credit agreement governing our senior unsecured credit facility.

See Part 11, Item 5 for additional discussions regarding our share repurchase program.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We often acquire finished building lots at market prices from various development entities under fixed price
purchase agreements. This lot acquisition strategy reduces the financial requirements and risks associated with direct land
ownership and land development. Under these purchase agreements, we are usually required to make deposits in the form of
cash or a letter of credit, which may be forfeited if we fail to perform under the agreement. At December 31, 2006, we had
entered into purchase agreements with an aggregate purchase price of approximately $2.1 billion and had made deposits of
approximately $168.1 million in the form of cash and approximately $64.3 million in letters of credit.

‘We also enter into land acquisition and development joint ventures. We believe our participation in such joint
ventures provides us a means of accessing larger parcels and lot positions and helps us expand our market opportunities and
manage our risk profile. Our participation in joint ventures is an increasingly important part of our business model and we
expect it to continue to be in the future. We and/or our joint venture partriers occasionally provide limited repayment
guarantees on a pro rata basis on debt of certain unconsolidated land acquisition and development joint ventures. At
December 31, 2006, we had limited repayment guarantees of $38.6 million. )

In addition, we and/or our joint venture partners occasionally provide guarantees that are only applicable if and
when the joint venture directly, or indirectly through agreement with its joint venture partners or other third parties, causes
the joint venture to voluntarily file a bankruptcy or similar liquidation or reorganization action (commonly referred to as “bad
boy guarantees™). These types of guarantees typically are on a pro rata basis and are designed to protect the secured lender
from the joint venture filing voluntary bankruptcy to impede the lender’s remedies with respect to its mortgage or other
secured lien on the joint venture’s underlying property. To date, no such guarantees have been invoked and we believe it is
unlikely that such a guarantee would be invoked in the future as it would generally require us to voluntarily take actions that
would generally be disadvantageous to the joint venture and to us. At December 31, 2006, we had outstanding guarantees of
this type totaling approximately $82.3 million. By definition, guarantees of this type, unless invoked as described above, are
not considered guarantees or indebtedness under our revolving credit facility or senior note indentures.

We and our joint venture pariners are also typically obligated to the project lenders to complete land development
improvements if the joint venture does not perform the required development. Provided we and the other joint venture
partners are in compliance with these completion obligations, the project lenders generally would be obligated to fund these
improvements through any financing commitments available under the applicable joint venture development and construction
loans. In addition, we and our joint venture partners have from time to time provided unsecured environmental indemnities to
joint venture project lenders. In some instances, these indemnitics are subject to caps. These indemnities generally obligate us
to retmburse the project lenders only for claims related to environmental matters for which such lenders are held responsible.
As part of our project acquisition due diligence process to determine potential environmental risks, we, or the joint venture
entity, generally obtain an independent environmental review from outside consultants.
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Additionally, we and our joint venture partners have agreed to indemnify third party surety providers with respect to
performance bonds issued on behalf of|certain of our joint ventures. If a joint venture does not perform its obligations, the
surety bond could be callled If these surety bonds are called and the joint venture fails to reimburse the surety, we and our
joint venture partners would be obligated to indemnify the surety. These surety indemnity arrangements are generally joint
and several obligations with our other jomt venture partners. As of December 31, 2006, we were subject to approximately
$45.4 million of these ty’pes of surety bond indemnity arrangements, None of these bonds have been called to date and we
believe it is unllkely that any of these bonds will be called.

We also obtain letters of credlt and performance, maintenance, and other bonds in support of our related obligations
with respect to the development of our; pl‘OJCClS The amount of these obligations outstanding at any time varies depending on
the stage and level of ou'r development|activities. In the event the letters of credit or bonds are drawn upon, we wouldbe  *
obligated to reimburse l;he issuer of the letter of credit or bond. At December 31, 2006, we had approximately $38.3 million
in outstanding letters of credlt and $272 5 million in performance bonds for such purposes. We believe it is unlikely that any
of these letters of credit or performance bonds will be drawn upon.

Contractual Obligations

The following is a summary of our contractual obligations at December 31, 2006, and the effect such obligations are
expected to have on ourlhquldlty and cash flows in future penods (1n thousands)

Payments Due by Period

Less than 4-5 More Than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years Years 5 Years

Principal, senior TOLES e rervereeseee s $ 480,0000 % — 3 - 3 — § 480,000
Interest, senior notes ..... L, [ 245,452 30,975 61,950 61,950 90,577
Unsecured revolving credtt facility...... |, 226,500 - — 226,500 -
Other borrowing obligations (1)(2).... R 28,140 27,964 176 — -
Interest, other borrowmg obligations (l)(2) ........... 917 916 1 - -
Operating lease obligations {1)............ Lo, 58,090 18,462 23,088 10,084 6,456
Specific performance oﬁtion obligatioﬂs ............... B 4,269 2,468 1,801 — =

Total..oo i e rreesaeenesaes $1043368 $ 80,785 §$ 87016 §$ 298,534 $ 577,033

(1) As apart of our model home constructlon activities, we enter into lease transactions with third partles the monthly

payments for Wthh are typically calculated by applying a LIBOR-based rate to the agreed upon basis of the leased asset.

As discussed in Note 5; at December 31, 2006 and 2005, approximately $26.8 and $39.3 million of these transactions
were included in oulr balance sheet as model home inventory with a corresponding debt balance, which is included in the
other borrowings category above. |0ther payments relating to the model home leases and other operating leases are
included in the “Operatmg lease obligations” category. See Notes 3 and 14 to our consolidated financial statements
included in this report for additional information regarding our contractual obligations. :

(2) Includes $1.3 million in principal related to an acquisition and development loan with interest payments totaling
approximately $40,000.

We do not engage in commodity trading or other similar activities. We had no derivative financial instruments at
December 31, 2006 or 2005 - ' .

Seasonality

We typically experience seaqonal variations in our quarterly operating results and capital requirement. Historically,
we sell more homes in the first half of Ithe fiscal year than in the second half, which results in more working capital
requirements and home closmgs in the third and fourth quarters. We expect this seasonal pattern to continue, although it may
vary as our operations contmue to expand.
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Recent Accounting Standards -

See Note 1 for drscussron of recently-lssued accounting standards. Reference is also made to Note 9 regardmg our
adoption of SFAS No. 123R, "Share-based Payment.” '

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk primarily related to potential adverse changes in interest rates on our existing
revolving credit facility. The interest rate relative to this borrowing fluctuates with the Prime and LIBOR lending rates. At
December 31, 2006, we had $226.5 million drawn under our revolving credit facility that would be subject to changes in
interest rates. We do not enter into, or intend to enter into, derivative ﬁnancna] instruments for tradmg or speculauve

purposes. . .

Our fixed rate debt is made up primarily of $350.0 million in principal of our 6.25% senior notes and $130.0 million
in principal of our 7.0% senior notes. Except in limited circumstances, we do not have an obligation to prepay our fixed-rate
debt prior to maturity and, as a result, interest rate risk and changes in fair value should not have a significant impact on our
fixed rate borrowings until we would be required to repay such debt. '

The following table presents our long—term debt obligations, principal cash flows by maturity, weighted average
interest rates and estimated fair market value. Information regarding interest rate sensitivity principal (notional) amount by
expected maturity and average interest rates for the year ended December 31, 2006 follows: '

"December 31, 2006 Fair Value at
For the Years Ended December 31, December 31,
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 Thereafter Total . 2006
(dollars in millions)
Fixed Fate voevverrerrerne s — — - — . —$ 4800 $4800 § .460.6(a)
Average interest rate..... — . — - - = 645% 6.45% ‘n/a
Variable rate $ -28.0(b)(c) 0.1(b) ~ 2265 {d) — — $2546 % 254.6
Average interest rate..... — - — — — — — n/a

(a) Fair value of our fixed rate debt at December 31, 2006, is based on quoted market prices by independent dealers.
(t) $26.7 and $0.1 million relates to our model home lease program in 2007 and 2008. Although we have no legal obligation
to repay this amount, generally accepted accounting principles require we include this liability and a related asset in our
consolidated financial statements. The lease payments required under this program are based on the outstanding principal
amount at approximately 7.85% of such amount per annum. <

(c¢) $1.3 million relates to an acqursmon and development loan which carrles a variable interest rate of the 30 day LIBOR -
plus 3.5% per annum.

(d) $226.5 million relates to our revolving credit facrllty which carries a variable interest rate of LIBOR plus 1. 25% per.
annum or Prime.

Our operations are interest rate sensitive. As overall housing demand is adversely affected by increases in interest
rates, a significant increase in mortgage interest rates may negatively affect the ability of homebuyers to secure adequate
financing. Higher interest rates could adversely affect our revenues, gross margins and net income and would also increase
our variable rate borrowing costs.

Item 8. Fmancral Statements and Supplementary Data : . w

Our consolidated financial statements as of December 31 2006 and 2005 and for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2006, together with related notes and the report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent
registered public accounting firm, are on the following pages. Other required financial information is more fully described in
Item 15.

*
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' REPORT OF [NDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ”
' . N ke N 4

The Board of Dlrectors and Stockho]ders of
Meritage Homes Corporatton

We have audlted the accompanymg consohdated balance sheets of Meritage Homes Corporatton and subs1d1ar1es
(the “Company”) as of Dlecember 31, 2006 and 2005, and the related consolidated statements of earnings, stockholders’ *
equity, and cash flows for each of the three years'in the period ended December 31, 2006. These consolidated financial
statements aré the respons1b1hty of the Company s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on-these
' consohdated financial statements based on our audits. . . . . . .

xa -

We conducted our aidits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Overmght Board
(United States). Those s'tandards requﬁ'e that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial Statements are free of matenal misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
. amounts and dlsc]osuresI in the fmanc1al statements. An audit also incliudes assessing the accounting principles used and.
mgmﬁcant estlmates made by management as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe

|
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our oplmon . L oo : CoL

- In our opinion, such consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of
Mentage Homes Corpor'atton and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2006 and 2005, and the results of their operations and their
cash flows for each of the three years m the period ended December 31, 2006 in conformity with accountmg principles

,generally accepted in the United States of America. i :
As discussed in Note 9 to the consohdated financial statements, effecttve J anuary 1, 2006, the Company adopted
Statement of Fmanmal Accountmg Standard No. 123(R), Share Based Paymem using the modified. prospective method

Wehave also aludtted in accoqrdance -with the standards of the Public Company | Accountmg Oversnght Board (Umted
States) the effectlveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on the
criteria establtshed in ‘Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by.the Committee of. Sponsormg Orgamzatlons of the
Treadway Comrmssmn and our report dated February 26, 2007 expressed an unquahﬁed Oplnl()n on management’s
assessment of the effectivencss of the Company s internal control over financial reportmg and an unquahfied opinion on the
effectiveness of the Con"npany s internal control over financial repomng

/s DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Phoemx Artzona
February 26, 2007
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Assets

MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Cash and cash equwalents ...........................................................................................
Receivables ..o JO O OOV POV e
Real €Stae...0 ..ol st e

Property and equipment, et ...........ooveerecriniecincnnilive
Deferred tax asset, NEl.........cccovvriiiivenrernesniesevsienerinen.

GoOdWll 2ot

Intangibles, net..

Prepaid expenses and other assets

Total assets

Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Home sale deposits
Liabilities related to real estate not owned
Deferred tax liability, net
Loans payablé and other borrowmgs

D T P L AL I LLLLL LT

Deposm on real estate under optton or contract
Investments in unconsolidated entltles

..............................

SEMIOT TIOIES 11.vvviieveeereeeeiesereereessss Tereesserssres farvesseneesaneseasanirnessnssnns enmmnnsas e I

Total liabil_ities

Stockholders’ Equity

Common stock, par value $0.01. Authorized 50,000,000 shares; issued 34,035,084

and 33,112,358 shares at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Retained earnings

Treasury stock at cost, 7,891,068 and 5,935,068 shares at December 31, 2006 and
2003, 18SPECIVELY ..ottt et

Total stockholders’ equity

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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December 31,

~3006

3005

(In thousands, except share data)

$ 56,710
68,725
1,530,602
-5,269
167,132
114,250
40,712
28,119
129,659

9,492

19,855

$ . 65812 -
60,745
1,390,803
[,464
167,040
88,714

. 36,239
130,222
14,029
16,289

$: 2,170,525

$ 1971357

$ . 117443  § 140,789
266,683 289,307
42,022 76,299

4,269 968
— 20,865
254,640 112,398
‘478,636 479,726

. 1,163,693

* 1,120,352

340 331
332,652 296,804
862,602 637,248

(188,762) (83,378)
1,006,832 851,005

$ 1,971,357

$ 2,170,525




Home closing revenue .

Land closing revenue ..... ! .........
. Total closing revenue.............oune

Cost of home closings................. e
Cost of land closings...... | eeereeeeneen
Total cost of closmgs ...................

Home closing gross profite....ooocn.

Land closing gross profit ......... v
Total closing gross profit .............

Commissions and other sa]es Costs....0.

General and admlmstratwe expenses,.. |

Eamnings from unconsolidated entities,
Other i mcomc net...........| ......................

Earnings before provision for income t
Provision for income taxes ..................

Net armings.....ccccoovvevsteveereennce v

Eamings per share*: |

b BaSIC v e
Diluted ..cocooreeveverecherr e scnnnenre
Weighted average numb|er of shares*:
Basic ..o e
Diluted .................. IR -

...........................................................

nct ....... e eieeetetas et e et et e ren e raraa.

zlixes .......... e s sabes

MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
- CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 .

(In thousands, except per share data) -

$ 3444286 $ 2,996,946 $ 2,015,742

17,034 . «4,156 T 24262
3461320  3.001,102 2,040,004
(2,732,298)  (2,290,493)  (1,615,455)

(16,392) (3.619) __ (16079)
(2,748,690) (2,294112) (1,631,534)

711,988 706,453 L 400287
642 537 8,183
712,630 706990 . 408,470
(216341)  (160,114)  (116,527)
(164,477)  .(124,979) (79,.257)
20,364 18,337 2,788
11833 . 7.468 9,284
— (31477) - - —

364,009 416,225 .. 2247758"
(138,655) __ (160,560) (85,790)

$ 225354 $ 255665 $ 138963
$ 852 $ - 948 § °.533°

$ 832 §% 888 § - 503

26,066
27,610

269717
28,787

*2004 share amounts re'ﬂect a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend that occurred in January 2005,

See ac
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MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

*2004 amounts reflect a 2-for-1 stock split in the form of a stock dividend that occurred in January 2005.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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Years Ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004
{In thousands)
. ’ Additional
Number of Common + Paid-In Retained Treasury
_ Shares* _ Stock* Ca_pilal" Earnings _ Stock Tolzfl -
Balance at January. 1, 2094 ........ e 30,958 | 310 202,523 242 615 (33:553)y 41 1,895
- Net €AIIBES v oo — — ~ 138968 — 138968
Income tax benefit from stock ' : . -
. OpLION EXErCiSes ..ocovecerevninennn. .. - - -2,972- - — 2972
- Exercise of stock options................ 502 5 4,114 . — — 4,119
Purchase of-treasury stock .............. — — ’ - - (35.420) (35,420)
Stock Option eXpense ..........c.cocuues = = 21 — = 21
Balance at December 31,2004 ....... o 31,460 ' 315 209,630 381,583 ° (68,973)~ 522,555
NEt EAIMINGS c.vcr.lnreonreereerreereereenes : - .- - 255,665 — * 255,665
.Income tax benefit from stock B ot o
Oplion EXETCiSes oo L C— R 10,465 . e — c=2r i 10,463
Exercise of stock options............... ‘ 617 -6 . 6,985 —_ = " 6,991
Purchase of treasury stock .............. - — _ — - — (14,405) - - . (14,405)
Stock option expense.............. Cernanns - : — 25 - - . 25
Issuance of common stock.............. oo 1,035 10 . 69,699 — - - + 69,709
Balance at December 31, 2005 ....... ) 33,112 331 296,804 637,248 (83,378) 851,005
Net €aInIgS ... vvrroereerrserrer ' — .~ 25354 . — 25354
"+ Income tax benefit from stock . ‘ . - ' - S
* OpLiON EXErCiSes .vvenenenuee. crrnenead - — — 10,777 — — 10,777
Exercise of stock options ...c...c.c..... . 923 9 . 13,526 — —. 13,535
. Purchase of treasury stock ............. - - — — (105,384) (105,384)
" Stock option eXpense ......o...cceueene. : — — 11,545 — - 11,545 .
L Balance at December 3'1, 2006........ 34,035 i$ ' 340 $ 332652 § 862,602 $.(188,762) '$1,006,832
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MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
_ o . ' Years Ended December 31,

oo ' . . . 1006 2005 2004
- (In thousands} \

Cash ﬂows from operatmg acttvrtles o o s
Net €amings............soeereerecneonnenneen ' $225,354 $255,665 . $138,968
Ad]ustments to reconcile net earmngs to net cash prov:ded by (used m) ' '

operating activities: : ' .
Depreciation and ATNIOTLIZATION ool revee oo eetassesseeeeeaseseseseseseseeeeesneebsssesessesersrseenes ) 23,729 17,207 13,233
Write-off of senior Inote issuance cost...: ............................................................... - 4977 —
Inventory 1mpa1rment_s and land olptlon deposit and Yand pre- vaUISltl()n cost
OO OO N 78,268 -
" Increasé (decrease)‘m deferred taxes . ; : : " (48,984) (5,965) 609
* Stock-based compensation........... | ................................. 11,545 — -
Income tax benefit from stock optlon BXETCISES ..ot — 10,465 2,572
B Excess mcome tax Ibeneﬁt from stock-based AWards ... Jo—. (8,938) R
. Equity in earnings of unconsoltdated ENttes oo o SRS ' (20,364)  (18,337) (2,788)
'Dlstnbulrons of eamings from unconsohdated EMNHLES...cociiriiiiinienas ST 17,126 16,140 3,698
Changes in assets and liabilities, net lof effect of acqutsmons o . ' ot
Increase in real estate ................... | ......................................................................... (182,391) (364,571) (136,967)
Increase in deposrts on real estate under option or contract............... s (19,785)  (33.455) (23,776)
Incréease in recewables and prepa:ld expenses and OhEr ASSELS ..cooviiiiaieeieeevarerens " (7,569) (40,805) © (11,347)
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accrued liabilities......coveeeslvereenenene N (55,678) 208,968 63,169
. Increase (decrease) in home sale deposns....................................."....'. ................... - (34277) 21,954 - 16,098
Net cash provided by (used in) oderanng activities......... e eevveanres renrsnines (21,964) 72,243 . 63,869

Cash flows from mvestmg actmtles . . s '
lnvestments in uncon‘sohdated entttltes ........ e ———— ‘“\ (51,909 (R9,085) (45,567)

. Drstnbuttons of capltal from unconsolidated entities ........ e LT 18,959 20,799 951
Cash paid for acquisitions............. ST F SO SETRAR v ‘ — " (152,425) (24,165)
Cash paid for eam-out agreements e e eees e eesneniis S— (1,929  (1,780)
Purchases of propert)'( and equlpment ................... e s (25,850)  (25,279)  (15,113)
Proceeds from sales of property and equrpment e e e abessaasssas JET S —— 1,080 - 492 172

Net cash used in u'westmg act1v1t1es S g | (57,720) (247.427) _ (85,502)

Cash flows from ﬁnancmg activities: ) ‘ . .
Net borrowings (payments) under lme of credit AEreement...........vrveeeeureeiiienenns 153,900 72000  (34077)

Proceeds from loans’payable and other DOITOWINES «-eeoerieeirininien s resrrrem et sass ) 847 ©o462

Proceeds from i issuance of senior notes DEL bbb — 343,835 1_30,088

Proceeds from sale 0|f common stock, net . _ ; — 69,709 .

Purchase of treasury;stock ........ ' ........................ — . (_105,384) (14,405) (35,420)

Payments for repurchase of senior lnotes..'. ................... . : . ' (1,254) (285,:}72) -

Excess income tax beneﬁt from stock based aWATdS .....coovereere v ereeenes 8,938 L T

Proceeds from stock opnon exerc1ses ....................................................................... 13,535 | 6,991 4,119

Net cash: prov1dcd by financing activities . ...coiuerverinsemocmocmncmaiianns ‘ A .. 70582 193,120 64,710 -
Net increase (decrease) ifi"cash and cash equwalents .............. ettt nreb e 9,102) 17,936 43077
Cash and cash equlvalents beginning of YEAL e e e 65,812 © 47,876 4,799
Cash and cash’equivalents, end of YEAT ..ovieerenencnene OO N '$ 56,710 $ 65812 $ 47,876
. R st
See Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information at Note 11.
. See accompanying notes to consolidated ﬁnancial statements
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MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004

NOTE 1 - BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Organization. Meritage Homes 1s a leading designer and builder of single-family attached and detached homes in
the fast-growing southern and western United States, based on the number of home closings. We offer a variety of homes that
are designed to appeal to a wide range of homebuyers, including first-time, move-up, luxury and active adult buyers, We
have operations in three regions: West, Central and East, which are comprised of 14 metropolitan areas in Arizona, Texas,
California, Nevada, Colorado and Florida. Through our successors, we commenced our homebuilding operations in 1985,
Meritage Homes Corporation was incorporated in 1988 in the State of Maryland.

Our homebuilding and marketing activities are conducted under the name of Meritage Homes in each of our
markets, except for certain communities in Arizona, where we operate under the name of Monterey Homes, and in Texas,
where we operate in certain communities as Legacy Homes, Meritage Homes and Monterey Homes. At December 31, 2006,
we were actively selling homes in 213 communities, with base prices ranging from approximatety $100,000 to $1,176,000.

Basis of Presentation. The accompanying consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
United States generally accepted accounting principles and include the accounts of Meritage Homes Corporation and those of
our consolidated subsidiaries, partnerships and other entities in which we have a controlling financial interest, and of variable
interest entities {see Note 3) in which we are deemed the primary bereficiary (collectively, the “Company™). Intercompany
balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Cash and Cash Equivalents. Liquid investments with an initial maturity of three months or less aré classified as
cash equivalents. Amounts in transit from title companies for home closings of approximately $51.6 million and $62.7
million are included in cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively.

Real Estate. Real estate consists of finished home sites and home sites under development, completed homes and
homes under construction, and land held for development. Capitalized costs include direct construction costs for homes,
development period interest and certain common costs that benefit the entire community. Common costs are incurred on a
community-by-community basis and allocated to residential lots based on the number of lots to be built in the project, which
approximates the relative sales value method. Common costs incurred prior to construction are allocated to the land parcel
benefited, based on the relative fair value of the parcel prior to construction.

An impairment loss is recorded when events or changes in circumnstances indicate that the carrying amount of an
asset may not be recoverable from the cash flows generated by future disposition. Real estate is reviewed quarterly to
determine whether recorded costs are recoverable. In such cases, amounts are carried at the lower of cost or estimated fair
value less disposal costs. During 2006, we recorded a $23.7 million impairment charge related to real estate inventories.
Additionally, we wrote off $54.6 million of deposits and pre-acquisition costs relating to projects that were no longer
feasible. These changes are included in cost of home closings. '

Deposits. Deposits paid related to land options and contracts to purchase land are capitalized when incurred and
classified as deposits on real estate under option or contract until the related land is purchased. The deposits are then
transferred to real estate at the time the lots are acquired. To the extent they are non-refundable, deposits are charged to
expense if the land acquisition is terminated or no longer considered probable. i

Property and Equipment, net. Property and equipment, net, at December 31, 2006 and 2005 consists of
approximately $20.4 million and $17.9 million, respectively, of computer and office equipment and
approximately $20.3 million and $18.3 miltion, respectively, of model home furnishings, and is stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation. Accumulated depreciation related to these assets amounted to approximately $33.6 million and
$24.4 million at December 31, 2006 and 2005, respectively. Depreciation is generally calculated using the straight-line
method over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which range from three to seven years. Maintenance and repair costs are
expensed as incurred.

Deferred Costs. At December 31, 2006 and 2005, deferred costs representing financing fees totaled approximately

$7.1 million, net of accumulated amortization of approximately $3.8 million and $2.4 million, respectively, and are included
on our consolidated balance sheets within prepaid expenses and other assets. The costs are primarily amortized using the
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* straight line method Wthh approximates the effecttve interest method. Additionally, in. 2005, we wrote off approximately
$5.0 million of deferred costs related to our 9.75% senior notes of which $278.8 million in aggregate principal amount was
repurghased during 2005.
. - 5

Investments in lUnconsahdated Entities. We use lhe equity method of accountmg fori mvestments in unconsolidated
entities over which we exercise stgmficlant influence but do not have a controlling interest. Under the equity method, our
share of the unconsolldated entities’ eamnings or loss is included in earnings from unconsolidated entities, net. We use the
cost method of accountmg “for investments in unconsolidated entities over which we do not have significant influence. See

_Note 4 for further discussion.

Intangibles, nel. Intangible assets consist primarily of non-compete agreements, tradenames and floor plan designs
acquired in connection wtth our Febru:lary 2005 acquisition of Colonial Homes and our September 2005 acquisition of Greater
Homes. These 1ntang1b]e assets were valued at the acquisition dates utilizing accepted valuation procedures. The non-
compete agreements, tradenames and floorplan designs are being amortized over their estimated useful lives. The acquired
cost and accumulated arhortization of dur intangible assets was $8.5 million and $4.6 million, respectively, at December 31,
2006. During 2006, we {vrote off $3.0 million of trade names that we no longer expect to use. The amortization expense in
2006 was $2.7.miilion and is expected|to be appr0x1mately $1.2 million in 2007 and $1.1, $1.1 and $0.5 million per year in
2008, 2009 and 2010, respectwely

We have capltallzed software costs at December 31, 2006 and 2005 in accordance with AICPA Statement of
Position (SOP) 98-1 “Accountmg for Costs of Computer Software Development or Obtained for Internal Use™ with a cost

basis of $9.8 and $6.9 mllllon respecnvely, net of accumulated amortization of $5.4 and $2.5 million, respectively. In 2006, -

amortization expense was approxtmately $2.9 million related to the capitalized software costs and is expected to be .
approximately $1.8, $0. 7 30.7, $0.7 and $0.5 million in 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively. Addttlonally, we
have $1.2 million of capltahzed software costs that have not begun to amortize.

Accrued Liabilities. Accrued liabilities at December 31, 2006 and 2005 consisted of the following (in thousands):

: . Lo . At December 31,
- . - 2006 2005
Accrials related to real estate development and construction activities......... . .- $120,604 - $135,953 '
Payroll and ONEE BENEETS oo oo e e . 54,893 51,382 ’
Accrued taxes| ..., A e eeeneeer s ereeeneeesesersaans e 9112 - 48941 ..
Warranty reser'ves SO VOO 28,437 + 25,168
© Other acerualsh..........eooeen OO 53,637 27,863
C oy Totalerreenen Loreeeeerenes e r e . $266,683 $289,307

Revenue Recognmon Revenue from closings of resndentlal real estate is recogmzed when closings have occurred,
the buyer has made the Irequ1red minimum down payment, obtained necessary financing, the risks and rewards of ownership
are transfeg‘red to the buyer, and we have no continuing involvement with the property, which is generally the close of
ESCrow. .. . . o .

Cost of Home Closings. Cost of home closings includes direct home construction costs, closing costs, land
acquisition and developl_ment costs, development period interest and common costs. Direct construction costs are accumulated
during the period of construction and charged to cost of closings under specific identification methods, as are closing costs.

Estimated future warranty costs are charged to cost of home closings in.the period when the revenues from the
related home closings are recognized./Costs are accrued based upon historical expenence and generally range from 0.42% to
0. 83% of the home’s sales price (see Note 14) . .

- Income Taxes “We account for income taxes in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards
(SFAS) No. 109, “Accountmg for Income Taxes.” Under the asset and liability method of SFAS No. 109, deferred tax assets-
and liabilities are recog'ntzed for the future tax consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement
carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax basis. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are
measured using the ene{cted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in.future years and are subsequently adjusted for
changes in the rates. Tl;te effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is a charge or credit to deferred
tax expense in the périod of enactment. See Note 10 for further discussion.
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Advertising Costs. The Company expenses advertising costs as they are incurred. Advertising expense was
approximately $35.6 million, $21.7 million and $14.4 million in fiscal 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

Stock Splits. In April 2002 and in January 2005, we completed two-for-one splits of our common stock in the form
of stock dividends. All share and per share amounts have been restated to reflect the stock splits.

Earnings Per Share. We compute basic camings per share by dividing net eamings available to common !
stockholders by the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share
gives effect to the potential dilution that could occur if securities or contracts to issue common stock that are dilutive were
exercised or converted into common stock or resulted in the issuance of common stock that then shared in our earnings.

Stock-Based Compensation. In the first quarter of 2006, we adopted Statement SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based
Payment (“SFAS No. 123R"), which revises SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation. Prior to 2006, we
accounted for stock awards granted to employees under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles
Board Opinion No. 25, Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees, and Related Interpretations. As a result, in periods prior
to fiscal year 2006, no compensation expense was recognized for stock options granted to employees because we did not
grant stock options with exercise prices below the market-price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant.

SFAS No. 123R applies to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased or cancelled after the required effective
date, as well as to the unvested portion of awards outstanding as of the required effective date. We use the Black-Scholes
model to value new stock optton grants under SFAS No. 123R. We have applied the “modified prospective method” for

* existing grants, which requires us to value stock options prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R under the fair value method .

and expense the unvested portion over the remaining vesting pertod. SFAS No. 123R also requires us to estimate forfeitures
in calculating the expense related to stock-based compensation and to reflect the benefits of tax deductions in excess of
recognized compensation expense as both a financing inflow and an operating cash outflow upon adoption. S

Goodwill. Upon our January 1, 2002 adoption of SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets,” goodwill
is no longer subject to amortization, though it is subject to at least an annual assessment for impairment by applying a fair
value-based test. If the carrying amount of the net assets of an identified reporting unit exceeds the fair value of that reporting
unit, goodwill is considered to be impaired. Qur operations in each state are considered a reporting unit. We continually
evaluate whether events and circumstances have occurred that indicate the remaining balance of goodwill of each reporting
unit may not be recoverable. In determining fair value, we use various valuation methodologies, including discounted cash
flow models and enterprise value computations.

Inherent in our fair value determinations are certain judgements and estimates, including projections of future cash
flows, the discount rate reflecting the risk inherent in future cash flows, the interpretation of current economic indicators and
market valuations and our strategic plans with regard to our operations. A change in these underlying assumptions may cause
a change in the results of our analysis, which could result in the fair value of one or more reporting units to be less than their
respective carrying amounts. In addition, to the extent that there are significant changes in market conditions or overall
economic conditions or our strategic plans change, it is possible that our conclusion regarding goodwill impairment could
change, which could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

- Fair Value of Financial Instruments. We determine fair value of ﬁnanc1al instruments as requ:red by SFAS N 0.
107, “Disclosures About Fair Value of Financial Instruments.”

The estimated fair value of our 7.0% senior notes at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $128.1 and $123.5 million,
respectively, based on quoted market prices by independent dealers. The aggregate principal amount of these notes at
December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $130.0 million. :

The estimated fair value of our 6.25% senior notes at December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $332.5 million and $320.3
million, respectively, based on quoted market prices by mdcpendent dealers. The aggregate principal amount of these notes at
December 31, 2006 and 2005 was $350.0 mllhon :

Our revolving credit facility and liabilities related to our model lease program carry interest rates that are variable
and/or comparable to current market rates based on the nature of the obhgallons thclr terms and remaining maturity, and
therefore, the cost basis approximates fair value.
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Due to the short-term nature of other financial assets and liabilities, we consider the carrying amounts of our short-
term financial instruments to appromm'ate fair value. . - 1

Recently Issued Accounting Pronauncements In September 2006 the Securities and Exchange Coimmission
(“SEC™) issued Staff Aclcountmg Bulleltm No. 108 (“SAB No. 108™). Due to diversity in practice among registrants, SAB -
No. 108 expresses SEC staff views regardmg the process by which misstatements in financial statements are evaluated for
purposes of detemnmngI whether ﬁnancml statement restatement is necessary. SAB No. 108 is effective for fiscal years
ending after November 15, 2006. The adoptxon of SAB No. 108 did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial
statements.

- In September 2006, the Fmancra] Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Statement of Financial Accounting
Standard (“SFAS”) No.[157, Fair Value Measurements (“SFAS No. 1577). SFAS No. 157 defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value mfgenerajly accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value
measurements. SFAS No 157 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years begmmng after November 15, 2007
and interim periods w1th1n those ﬁscalfyears We are currently rev1ewmg the effect of SFAS No. 157, if any, on our
consohdated financial statements,

In June 2006, the FASB lssued FASB Interpretatron No. 48 Accauntmg Jor Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of SFAS l‘Vo 109 ("FIN 48”) FIN 48 clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an
enterprise’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. FIN 48 prescribes a*
recognition threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax posmon
taken or expected to be taken in a tax retum FIN 48 also provides guidance on derecognition, classification, interest and
penalties, accounting inlinterim penods disclosure and transition. FIN 48 is effective for fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2006. U;')on adoption, FIN 48 requires an adjustment to retained earnmgs for the initial cumulanve effect of

the interpretation. We are continuing to review and evaluate the impact of FIN 48 on our retained earnmgs

Reference is made to Note 9 regardmg our adoption of SFAS No. 123R “Share-based Payment.”
NOTE 2 - REAL ESTATE AND CAPITALIZED INTEREST

Real estate at December 31 consists of the following (in thou'sends):

o - 2006 -. 2005.
Homes under contract under construction.. $ 589241 $ 815925
Flmshed home sites and home sites under dcvelopment 592,949 370,921
Unsold homes completed and under coONStruction.........ccccceeeenne 271,559 116,088
Model homes ............... D s 39,i31 45,060
Model hpmc lease prog'ram ......................................................... - 26,831 39,336
Land held for development .........cccocoevmmrerrnenenermereerorerenensense 10,891 3473

$1,530,602 $1,390,803

Subject to sufﬁcient'qualifying assets, we capitaliie all development period interest costs incurred in connection with
the development and construction of rlea] estate. Capitalized interest is allocated to real estate when incurred and charged to
cost of closings when the related property is delivered. Certain information regarding interest follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

‘ ' ) 2006 2005
Capitalized interest, beginning of year.........cccoonnrneinincnanss $ 23939 § 19,701
Interest mcurred and chpltahzed erere et 52,063 43,034
Amomzatron to cost of home and land closmgs .......................... (42,986) {38,796)
Capltallzed interest, end of year... $ 33016 § 23939

NOTE 3 - VARIABLE INTEREST ENTITIES AND CONSOLIDATED REAL ESTATE NOT OWNED

FASB Interpretation No. 46 (rev;sed December 2003), “Cansolrdanon of Variable Interest Entities” (“FIN 46R™)
requires the consohdatlon of entities m which an‘enterprise absorbs a majority of the entity’s expected losses, receives a
majority of the entity’ s expected resrdual returns, or both, as a result of ownership, contractual or other financial interests in
the entity. Prior to the issuance of FIN 46R, entities were generally consolidated by an enterprise when it had a controlling
financial interest throu'gh ownership of a majority voting interest in the entity.
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Under FIN 46R, a variable interest entity, or VIE, is created when any of the following factors are present: (i) the
equity investment at risk is not sufficient to permit the entity to finance its activities without additional subordinated financial
support from other parties, (ii) equity holders either {a) lack direct or indirect ability to make decisions about the entity, (b)
are not obligated to absorb expected losses of the entity, or (c) do not have the right to receive expected residual returns of the
entity or (iii) the equity investors as a group are considered to lack the direct or indirect ability to make decisions about the
entity if (x) the voting rights of some investors are not proportional to their obligations to absorb the expected losses of the
enlity, their rights to receive the expected residual returns of the entity, or both, and (y) substantially all of the entity’s
activities either involve or are conducted on-behalf of an investor that has disproportionately fewer voting rights.

Based on the provisions of FIN 46R, we have concluded that when we enter into option or purchase agreements to
acquire land or lots from an entity and pay a non-refundable deposit, a VIE is created because we are deemed to have
provided subordinated financial support, which refers to variable interests that will absorb some or all of an entity’s expected
losses if they occur. For each VIE created, we compute expected losses and residual returns based on the probability of future
cash flows as outlined in FIN 46R. If we are deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE, because we are obligated to
absorb the majority of the expected losses, receive the majority of the residual returns, or both, we will consolidate the VIE in
our consolidated financial statements. Not all of our purchase or option agreements are determined to be VIEs.

We have applied FIN 46R by developing a methodology to determine whether or not we are the primary beneficiary
of the VIE. Part of this methodology requires the use of estimates in assigning probabilities to various future cash flow
possibilities relative to changes in the fair value and changes in the development costs associated with the property. Although
we believe that our accounting policy properly identifies our primary beneficiary status with these VIEs, changes in the
probability estimates could produce different conclusions regarding our primary bereficiary status.

We generally do not have any ownership interest in the VIEs that hold the lots and land under option or contract,
and accordingly, we generally do not have legal or other access to the VIEs’ books or records. Therefore, it is not possible for
us to compel the VIEs to provide financial or other data fo us in performing our primary beneficiary evaluation. Accordingly,
this lack of information from the VIEs may result in our evaluation being conducted primarily based on management’s
Jjudgments and estimates.

In most cases, creditors, if any, of the entities with which we have option agreements have no recourse against us
and the maximum exposure to loss in our option agreements is limited to our option deposit. Often, we are at risk for items
over budget related to land development on property we have under option. In these cases, we have contracted to complete
development at a fixed cost on behalf of the land owner. Some of our option deposits may be refundable if certain contractual
conditions are not performed by the party selling the lots.

The table below presents a summary of our lots under option at December 31, 2006 (dollars in thousands):

Option/Earnest
Money Deposits
Number Fair Purchase Letters
- of Lots Value Price - Cash of Credit
Options recorded on balance sheet as real estate
not owned (1) (3} oo 170 $§ 5269 § — % 1,000 $ —
Option contracts not recorded on balance sheet -
non-refundable deposits (1) ... eeeeenee e 28,072 N/A  $1,673,046 §$ 133,393 § 63,501
Purchase contracts not recorded on balance sheet -
non-refundable deposits (1) ..o, 7,279 N/A 261,962 32,939 803
Purchase contracts not recorded on balance sheet —
refundable deposits (2).......ccoovvvevnienienceceeccnn 3,720 N/A 126,515 800 —
Total options not recorded on balance sheet.......... 40071 . N/A 2,061,523 167,132 64,304
Total lots under option or contract........c.cveeeeuen.... 40241 $ 5269 $2061523 $ 168,132 $ 64,304

(1} Deposits are non-refundable except if certain contractual conditions are not performed by the selling party.

(2) Deposits are refundable at our sole discretion.. We have not completed our acquisition evaluation process on these lots
and we have not internally committed to purchase them.

(3) The purpose and nature of these consolidated lot option contracts {VIEs) is to provide the Company with the option to
purchase the lots in anticipation of building homes on the lots in the future.

Note: Our option to purchase lots remains effective so long as we purchase a pre-established minimum number of lots each
month or quarter, as determined by the agreement. The pre-established number of lots typically is structured to approximate
our expected rate of home orders at the inception of the option.
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Generally, our options to purchase lots remain effective so long as we purchase a pre-established minimum number
of lots each month or quarter, as determined by the respective agreement. Although the pre-established number is typically
structured to approxlmate' our expected rate of home construction starts, during a weakened homebuilding market, as we are
currently experiencing, we may purchas'e lots at an absorption level that exceeds our sales pace.

NOTE 4 - INVESTMENTS IN UNCONSOLIDATED ENTITIES

We participate in homebuilding and land development joint ventures from time té time as a means of accessing
larger parcels of land and lot positions, expanding our market opportunities, managing our risk profile and leveraging our
capital base. Based on the structure of these joint ventures, they may or may not be consolidated into our results. Qur joint
venture partners generally are other homebullders land sellers or real estate investors. We also enter into mortgage and title
business joint ventures from time to ttme These unconsolidated entities follow accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States of America and we generally share in their profits and losses in accordance w1th our ownership interests.

For land development joint ventures, we, and in some cases our joint venture partners, usually receive an option or
other similar arrangement to purchase p'ortlons of the land held by the joint venture. Option prices are generally negotiated
prices that approximate n'tarket value when we enter into the option contract.” For homebuilding and land development joint
ventures, our share of theL joint venture ea.mmgs relating to lots we purchase from the joint ventures is deferred until- homes
are delivered by us and tttle passestoa homebuyer At such time, we allocate our joint venture earnings to the land acqutrcd
byusasa reductton in the basis of the property :

We andfor our joint venture partners occasionally provide limited repayment guarantees on a pro rata basis on the
debt of certain unconsoltdated land acqt}tsmon and development joint ventures. At December 31, 2006, our share of these
limited pro fata repayment guarantees was approximately $38.6 million.

3

In addition, we andfor our Jomt venture partners occasionally provide guarantees that are only applicable if and

_ when the joint venture dtrectly, or 1ndtrectly through agreement with its joint venture partners or other third parties, causes

the joint venture to voluntanly file a bankruptcy or similar liquidation or reorganization action or take other actions that are
fraudulent or improper (cbmmonly referred to as “bad boy guarantees”). These types of guarantees typically are on a pro rata
basis and are designed to ‘protect the resbective secured lender’s remedies with respect to its mortgage or othér secured lien
on the joint venture’s underlymg property. To date, no such guarantees have been invoked and we believe it is unlikely that
such a guarantee would be invoked in the future as it would require us to voluntarily take actions that would generally be
disadvantageous to the _lomt venture and to us. At December 31, 2006, we had outstanding guarantees of this type totaling
approximately $82.3 mtllton By deﬁnmon these guarantees, unless invoked as described above, are not considered

guarantees or indebtedness under our revolvmg credit facility or senior note indentures.

We believe that the equity method of accounting is appropriate for our invernents in unconsoltdated entities where
we are not the primary beneﬁ01ary, we do not have a controlling interest, and our ownership interest exceeds 20%.
Summarized condensed financial information related to unconsolidated joint ventures that are accounted for using the equity
method was as follows: : ‘

' At December 31,
2006 2005
(in thousands)

Assets:

$ 14392 $ 10,337

723,753 524,775
25,722 22,373°

‘$763,867 $557,485

Liabilities and| eqmty ) '
Accounts payable and other liabilities ......................... e e - § 26639 $ 32244
Notes and mortgages payableI " : 471,197 299,498
Equity of: '
Meritage 93,792 72,362
Other ........... SO 172,239 153,381
Total liabilities and equitly ........................................................................ $763,867 $557485 - °
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Years Ended December 31,
2006 2005 2004
(in thousaqu) ‘

Revenue ................. eteraretorar e e tataeatataataaaann ey sanan e aemeemeennns : $100,322 $145580 $ 29,130

Costs and expenses .. (51,717 (91,289) (21,917
Net earnings of unconsolldated ENEILES 1vviveiceeceeerece e rrrerereseeneees $ 48605 § 54,291 $ -7.213
Meritage’s share of pre- -1aX €ArNINEGS *...oovevveeiercreeneere s $ 21,170 $ 19420 §$ 2,788

*  Our share of net eammgs is recorded in “Earnings from unconsolidated entmes net” on our consolidated statements of
earnings. Our share of net earnings excludes joint venture earnings related to lots we purchased from the joint ventures.
_ Those earnings are deferred until homes are delivered by us and title passes to a homebuyer.

At December 31, 2006 and December 31, 2005, our investments in unconsolidated entities includes $2.8 million
and $1.5 million, respectively, related to the difference between the amounts at which our investments are carried and the
amount of underlying equity in net assets. These amounts are amortized to earnings of unconsolidated entities as the assets of
the respective joint ventures are sold. We amortized approximately $0.8 million and $1.1 million to our equity of the J(nnl
venture earnings in 2006 and 2005, respectively. There was no such amortization in 2004.

In addition to joint ventures accounted for under the equity method summarized in the above table, at Deccmber 31,
2006, our investments in unconsolidated entities included joint ventures recorded under the cost method. These joint ventures
were formed to obtain large parcels of land, to perform off-site development work and to sell lots to the joint venture
members. As of December 31, 2006 and 2005, our investments in unconsolidated entities recorded under the cost method
were $17.7 and $14.9 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, we have not recorded
any income or distributions from these joint ventures.

As of December 31, 2006, our total investment in unconsolidated joint‘ventures of $114.3 million was primarily
comprised of $35. 2 million in our West Region and $74.7 million in our Central Region. As of December 31, 2005, our total.
investment in unconsolidated joint ventures of $88.7 million was pnmarlly compnscd of $28.5 million in our West Reglon
and $59.4 million in our Central Reglon L _ .

NOTE 5 LOANS PAYABLE AND OTHER_ BORROWINGS

Loans payable at December 31 consist of the following (in thousands):

2006 - 2005

$850 million unsecured revolving credit fac1llty maturing May 2010 with extenswn provisions,. -

with interest payable monthly approximating LIBOR (approximately 5. 32% at December 31, o

" 2006) plus 1.25% or Prime (8.25% at December 31 2006) ..... BSOSO s ' $226,500 . $ 72,600
Maodel home lease program, with interest in the form of lease paymenls payable monthly - '

approximating 7.85% at December 31, 2006.........ccvimimimvmvnivemiciieiic s 26,831 - 39,336
Other borrowings, acquisition and development finANCING ... 1,309 462

Total loans payable and other DOTTOWITIES 11ocveeeeeererec sttt s ab s a0 00s $254,640 $112,398

We have determined that the construction costs and related debt associated with certain model homes which are
owned and leased to us by others and that we use to market our communities are required to be included on our balance sheet.
We do not legally own the model homes, but we are reimbursed by the owner for our construction costs and we have the
right, but not the obligation, to purchase these homes. Although we have no legal obligation to repay any amounts received
from the third-party owner, such amounts are recorded as debt and are typically deemed repaid when we simultaneously
exercise our option to purchase the model home and sell such model home to a third-party home buyer. Should we elect not
to exercise our rights 1o purchase these model homes, the model home costs and related debt under the model lease program
will be eliminated upon the termination of the lease, which is generally between one and three years from the origination of
the lease. During 2006, $12.5 million of such leases were exercised or terminated:

On May 16, 2006, we amended and restated our senior unsecured revolving credit facility (“New Credlt

Agreement”). Under the New Credit Agreement, our credit facility was increased from $600 million to $800 million, and the
term was extended from May 2009 to May 2010. On June 30, 2006, we amended our New Credit Agreement to increase our
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borrowing capacity under the Credit Agreement by $50 million and to make certain other minor changes.” The total
borrowing capacity of the| credit facility Iis now $850 million. The increase in capacity was made pursuant to an accordion
feature contained in the Credlt Agreement Under this accordion feature, we may request from time to time an aggregate
increase of up to $250 1'n1"10[1 in the maximum borrowing commitment, of which $200 million remained available at
December 31, 2006. Each member of thfl: lending group may elect to participate or not participate in any request we make. In
addition, any increase in the borrowing capac1ty pursuant to this accordion feature is subject to certain terms and conditions,
including the absence of an event of default.

NOTE 6~ SENIOR NO'|I‘-ES

Senior notes at December 31 consist of the following (in thousands):

2006 2005
6.25% senior notes due 2015 N December 31, 2006 and 2005, there was approxrmately 514
and $1.6 million in unamomzed drscount respecuvely $348,571 $348,396
7.0% senior notes due 2014, At December 31,2006 and. 2005 there was apprommalely $0 1
million in unamortlzed‘premrum ...... D et 130,065 130,074
9.75% senior notes due 2011 ................ L e e — 1,256

$478,636 $479,726

In March 2005, we used a portion of the proceeds from the $350 million sale of our 6.25% senior notes to
repurchase pursuant to a tender offer and consent solicitation approximately $276.8 million of our outstanding 9.75% senior
notes due 2011. In connection with this tender offer and repurchase, we reported a one-time pre-tax charge of approximately
$31.5 million for prermur'ns comrmssml'ls and expenses associated with the tender offer and the write-off of existing offering
costs associated with the 9 75% senior notes net of the accretion of existing note premiums on the 9.75% senior notes. In
2006, we repurchased the remaining $1 3 million of our outstanding 9.75% senior notes.

The bank fac1llty and indentures for the 7% senior notes due 2014 and the 6.25% senior notes due 2015 contain
covenants which require mamlenance of certain levels of tangible net worth and compliance with certain minimum financial
ratios, place limitations on the paymenl rOf dividends and redemptions of equity, and limit the incurrence of additional
indebtedness, asset dlsposmons mergers, certain investments and creations of liens, among other items. As of and for the
year ended December 31, 12006, we’ ‘were in compliance with these covenants. After considering our most restrictive bank
covenants, our borrowmg availability ur')der the bank credit facility was approximately $449 million at December 31, 2006 as
determined by borrowmg base lmutanons defined by our agreement with the lending banks. The senior notes restrict our
ability to pay dividends, and at December 31, 2006, our maximum permitted amount available to pay dnvrdends was $344.1
million,

Obligations to pay principal and interest on the bank credit facility and senior notes are guaranteed by all of our
subsidiaries (collectlvely,| the Guarantor, Subsidiaries), each of which is directly or mdlreclly 100% owned by Meritage )
Homes Corporation. Suclll guarantees are full and unconditional, and joint and several. Separate financial statements of the ~
Guarantor Subsidiaries are not prowded because Meritage (the parent company) has no independent assets or operations, the
guarantees are full and uncondmonal and joint and several. There are no significant restrictions on the ability of the parent
company or any guarantor 10 obtain funds from its subsidiaries by dividend or loan.

Scheduled principal maturities 'of loans payable and other borrowings and senior notes as of December 31, 2006
follow (in thousands): ’

Year Ended December 31

2007 | ................................................................................ $ 27.964
2008, eeeeeeeess e 176
20090 e eeeeesereeseeseseasse s eeesseee b e oo e e eeereeeeeenne -
2010 1 ................................................................................ 226,500
20T e ee e s e ee e es —
TRETCAFIET . evev v e e e s s e 480,000

$734,640
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NOTE 7- ACQUISIT TONS AND GOODWILL . T

Greater Homes. In September 2005 we purchased all of the outstandmg stock of Greater Homes, Inc (“Greater
Homes™), a builder of single-family homes in Orlando, Florida, The purchase price was approximately $86.2 million in cash,
including the repayment of existing debt of approximately $27.7 million. The results of Greater Homes' operations have been
included in our financial statements since September 1; 2005, the effective date of the acqursmon : AL

Colonial Homes. In February 2005, we purchased the homebuilding and related assets of Colonial Homes of Florida
(“Colonial Homes™), which operates primarily in the Ft. Myers/Naples area, The purchase price was approximately $66.2
million in cash. The results of Colonial Homes’ operations have been mcluded in our consohdated financial statements as of
the effective date of acquisition, February 1, 2005.

Goodwill. Goodwill represents the éxcess of the purchase price of our acquisitions over the fair value of the assets
acquired. The acquisitions of Colonial Homes and Greater Homes were recorded using the purchase method of accounting. 7
The purchase prices were allocated based on estimated fair value of the assets and liabilities assumed at the date of the -
acquisition. The excess purchase price over the fair value of the net assets, of $27.9 million and $10.1 million for Colonial
Homes and Greater Homes, respectively, were recorded as goodwill, which is included on our consolidated balance sheets.
We expect that substantially all of the goodwill recorded for the Colonial Homes acquisition will be deductible for tax
purposes. .

The changes in the carrymg amount of goodwnll for the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2005 were as follows
(in thousands):

i

o ) . Corporate | Wet Central East *’ Total
Balance at January 1, 2005 .. w9 1,323 836,036 $ 54116 $ — 391475
Goodwill acquired during the year ............... — - - 37802 37,802
Increase due to earn-out agreements — 1476 - - 1,476
Amortization of excess tax basis........cccevvivienie i eenneeneeens — (117) ) T (34D " (53D
Balance at December 31; 2005 .......... e e <'1,323 7 37,395 - 54,043 37461 130,222
Amortization of excess tax basis.......... ORI v — (118 (73) (372) '(563)
Balarice at December 31,2000 ... 5 1,323 $ 37,277 $ 53970 & 37,089 $129,659

From time to time, we may acquire compames that are determmed to have a tax basrs goodwill in excess of book
basis goodwill. Current tax law provides for the amortization of purchased goodwrll Under this circumstance, SFAS No. 109
requires that the goodwill be separated into two components. The first component is equivalent to book goodwill and future
tax amortization of this component is treated as a temporary difference, for which a deferred tax liability is established. The
second component is the excess tax goodwill over the book goodwill, for which no deferred taxes are recognized. The tax
benefit from the recognition on the tax return of the amomzanon of the second component is treated asa reductlon in the
book basis of goodwill.

'Under the guidelines conta.med in SFAS No. 142, “Goodw:lt and Orher Intangzble ‘Assets,” management selected .
January 1 as the date of our annual goodwill impairment test. During 2006 and 2005, management performed an analysis of
potential impairment of goodwill carried and determined that no impairment existed. We completed our analysis of potential
impairment of goodwill carried on our balance sheet at December 31, 2006, and determined that no impairment exrsted

* See Note 11 for a summary of the allocation of the purchase price to acquired assets and liabilities.
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NOTE 8§ - EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic and dnluted earnings per share for the years ended December 31, were calculated as follows (in thousands,
except per share amounts)

2006 2005- 2004

Basic average number of shares outstanding..............ccoeviniinnn 26,448 26,91 26,066
Effect of dilutive securities: o :

Options to acquire common s|tock s 654 1,810 1,544

Diluted average shares outStanding ........co.....cooremeermeerneeneeinesonnes 27,102 28,787 27,610
Net earmngs| ...................................... $225354 $255,665 $138.968
Basic earnings per share ..........locceeieenneneres e $ 852 § 948 § 533
Diluted earnings|per share.......... JRSS—— bbb $ 832 % 888 § 503
Antidilutive stock options not included in the calculation of

diluted earmngs per share....! ........................................................ 657 52 —

NOTE 9-IN CENTIVE: AWARDS AND RETIREMENT PLAN
Stock Based Compensation

In the first quarter of 2006, we adopted Statement SFAS No. 123R, Share-Based Payment (“SFAS No. 123R™),
which revised SFAS No. 'l 23, Accoummg for Stock-Based Compensation. Prior to 2006, we accounted for stock awards
granted to employees under the recognition and measurement principles of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25,
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employe'es and Related Interpretations.’ As a result, in periods prior to fiscal year 2006, no
compensation expense was recognized for stock options granted to employees because we did not grant stock options with
exercise prices betow the market price of the underlying stock on the date of the grant. :

SFAS No. 123RI applies to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased or cancelled after the required effective
date, as well as to the unvested portion of awards outstanding as of the required effective date. We use the Black-Scholes
model to value new stock option grants under SFAS No. 123R. We have applied the “modified prospective method” for
existing grants, which redutres us to value stock options prior to our adoption of SFAS No. 123R under the fair value method
and expense the unvested portion over the remaining vesting period. SFAS No. 123R also requires us to estimate forfeitures
in calculating the expensé related to stock-based compensation and to reflect the benefits of tax deductions in excess of
recognized compensatlon expense as both a financing inflow and an operating cash outflow upon adoption. -

We have two stock compensation plans the Meritage Stock Option Plan, which was adopted in 1997 and has been
amended from-time to ttme {the “1997 Plan”) and the Stock Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plan” and together with the 1997 Plan,
the “Plans”). The Plans, which were approved by our stockholders, are administered by our Board of Directors. The
provisions of the Plans are generally con51stem with the exception that the 2006 Plan allows for the grant of stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock awards performance share awards and performance-based awards in addition to the non-
qualified and incentive stlock options al!owed under the 1997 Plan. The Plans authorize awards to officers, key employees,
non-employee directors and consultants for up to 6,600,000 shares of common stock, of which 1,042,701 shares remain
available for grant at December 31, 200|6 We believe that such awards provide a means of performance-based compensation
to attract and retain quahﬁed employees and better align the interests of our employees with those of our stockholders.
Option awards are gramed with an exermse price equal to the market price of Meritage stock at the date of grant, and
generally have a ﬁve-year ratable vestmg period and a seven-year contractual term.

The fair values of option awards are estimated using a Black-Scholes option pricing model that uses the assumptions
noted in the following table. Begmmng January 1, 2006, expected volatilities are based on a combination of implied
volatilities from traded o'ptlons on our stock and historical volatility of our stock. Expected term, which represents the period
of time that options granted are expectéd to be outstanding, is estimated using historical data. Groups of employees that have

.similar historical exerc1se behavior are considered separately for valuation purposes. The risk-free interest rate for periods

within the contractual life of the optioniis based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve.
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2006 T 2005 2004
Expected dividend yield ..o e 0% 0% 0%
RisK-free INEIESE FAC..........coevvrrriiiisiietes et s s s S501% 441% . 4.39%
Expected volatility ... 46.26% 52.10% 55.50%
Expected life (in years) ............................................................................................ 5 7 77
Weighted average fair value 0f OPHONS ..o s $2428 $35.13 §$19.37

The following table illustrates the effect on net income and earnings per share for the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2004, respectively, as if our stock-based compensation had been determined based on the fair value at the grant
dates for awards made pnor to 2006, under the Plans and consistent with SFAS No. 123R (m thousands, except per share

amounts):

.

Net earnings .

Diluted earnings per share

Asreported.......ccceeieinnnevieenns
Pro forma .....ccoeeiceeeeerneene

* Deduct: Total stock-based employee C()mpensatlon expense determined under fair value based method for awards net of

related tax effects.
Summary of stock option activity:

7y

Options outstanding at beginning of year:
Granted ......ooveevvenerrein e
- Exercised........
o« Cancelled .....coorervieneen.
Outstanding at end of year

Vesled and expected to vest at end of year...
Exerc1sable atendof year........ccccouneevevineencnn.
Price range of options exercised

Price range of options biltstanding...' ..............

Total shares reserved for existing or future
grants at end of year..............o.lviiinnnn.

Years Ended December 31,
(in thousands, except per share amounts)
2005 2004

$ 255,665 138,968
(7,501) (4,357)
$ 248,164 '$ 134,611
$ 948 § 5.33
$ 920 $ 5.16
$ 888 § 5.03
$ 862 § 4.88

T

Years Ended December 31,
. 2006
. Welghted . |
Weighted Average ’ :
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic Value
Options _ Price Life (In thousands)
2799282 § - 27.90
662,000 $ 52.70

(922,726) % - 14.67 '

(615,502) § 41,26 . o
1,923,054 § 38.51 46 3 " 74,048
1,682,017 % 36.99 43 3 23961

676854 § 25.07 31 8 16,970
$ 1.41-35592 o .
$ 3.59-$81.96 '
2,965,755
52
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Years Ended Decemb_er 31,

7005 7004 '
© Weighted Weighted
o Average - Average
. Exercise Exercise
Options Price Options Price
Options outstanding at begmmng of year: 2901,030 $ 17.73 2,693,024 § 11.37
GRANEA <evovrreveveveres e sesssssees 588,750 ' $ 60.40 880,500 $ 31.86
Exercised.................. }‘ ...................................... (617,298) $ 11.33 (500974) $ 8.22
Cancelled ................. N SO (73,200) $ 26.03 (171,520) $ 18.21
Outstanding at end of Year .............oovoweeleoeoeocecerrereiroo e 2,799282 $ 27.90 2901030 $ 17.73
Exercisable at end of yeat'........ccouererrnnen. l ..... [ RUUTUO 961,130 . 855,708
Price range of options exercised ........... I ...................................... $1.41 - $36.91 $2.50 - $26.24
Price range of options outstanding.......... J ...................................... $1.41-3%8196 $ 1.41-4429
Total shares reserved for existing or future grants at end of year .. 3,289,872 3,907,170
Summary of Nonvested Shares Activity:
Weighted Average
Nonvested Shares Shares Grant Date Fair Value
Nonvlsted at Januarylf 1,2006 ............. — —
Granted...... oo S 93,886 $ 48.54
Vested ...o.coeoeeveenen, e —
Cancelled ... s (20443) $ 54.87
Nonvested at December 31, 2006........ 73443 § 46.78

Stock options outstanding at December'31, 2006, were;
Stock Options OQutstanding

Stock Options Exercisable

Weighted

. Average r  Weighted Weighted

Range of Number Contractual Average Nuinber Average
Exercise Prices Qutstanding Life Exercise Price Exercisable Exercise Price
$ 0.00-%16.39 359,904 24 $ 12.44 252384 §$ 10.92
$16.40 - $32.78 588,000 3.6 $ 27.23 307,720 % 25.01
$32.79 - $49.17 117,500 59 $ 40.46 24000 $ 37.09
$49.18 - $65.56 801,650 59 $. 55.81 79,550 § 58.54
$65.57 - $81.96.: 56,000 55 $ 72.61 13,200 § 73.58
1,923,054 4.5 .. $ 38.51 676,854 $ 2507

The total mtnnsnc value of opnons exercises for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was $35.2,
$36.3 and $14.0, respecnvely The mtrmsm value of a stock option is the amount by which the market value of the

underlying stock exceeds the exercise pnce of the stock option.

As of Decemberliil 2006, we had $27.5 million of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested
stock-based compensauon arrangcments granted under the Plans that will be recognized on a straight-line basis over the

remaining vesting penods That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 3.42 years. For the year
ended December 31 2006, our total stock—based compensation expense was $11.5 million ($8.5 million net of tax). Stock
compensation expense net of tax for the | year ended December 31, 2006, was $0.32 and $0.31 per basic and dituted share,

respectively.

Cash received from option exercises under the Plans for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004 was
$13.5 million, $7.0 mllhon and $4.1 mxll:on respectively. The actual tax benefit realized for the tax deductions from option
exercises totaled $10.8 million, $10.5 million and $3.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004,

respectively.
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401(k) Retirement Plan -

We have a 401(k) plan for all full-time Meritage employees who have been with the Company for a period of six
months'or more. We match portions of employees voluntary contributions, and contributed to the plan approximately $2.0
mllhon $1.4 million and $1.2 million for the years ended 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively.

NOTE 10 - INCOME TAXES

Components of income tax expense (benefit) follow (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2006 2005 2004
Current taxes:
Federal ...coovvvviiiiviieeiii e e sree s e s e raesnesestaesanesan $ 165274 $ 144287 $ 74819
SUALE oottt ein e bbb b s s e r e enee s 22,365 22,238 - 10,362

187,639 166,525 85,181
Deferred taxes: . ,
Federal ..o e (44,870) (5,170) 524

“SHALE .vvvvevvrns e seonrnserene st seeas e e e e e eeeae et raseses . (4,114) (795) 85
(48,984) (5,965) 609

TOtal ...t $ 138,655 § 160,560 % 85790

Inceme taxes differ for the years ended December 31, 2006, 2005 and 2004, from the amounts computed using the

- expected federal statutory income tax rate of 35% as a result of the following (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

3 2 e by S i e D B S e i bt £ T W

. 2006 2005 2004
Expected taxes at current federal statutory income tax rate..........ooeininnnnn eeeeraranns - $ 127403 $°145679 § 78,665
State income taxes, net of federal tax benefit ... . : 11,863 13,938 6,791
Non-deductible costs and other..........ccocooviniiiiiiencs {611) 943 334
Income tax EXPENSC..cerceecerrerere e : $ 138655 § 160,560 $ 85,790

“ Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been recogmzed in the consolidated balance sheets due to the followmg
temporary differences at’ December 31 (in thousands): -

2006 . 2005
Deferred tax assets: - . . F S

REal @8EALE oot st erssbsssse st saane s rssaresaes .. % 13904 % — s
“WAITANLY [BSETVE .. eeeurererererneereimeme it b et s r s sasaseas 11,678 7.859 i
Wages Payable .. it . 6,599 1,828
Reserves and alloWances. .o eeeerioreinrrrrreieieismreeeeeeeiesssnsasaens 3,856 1,685
-Deferred revenue.: 3,182 —
" Equity-based compensatlon 2,530 —
Accrued expenses... T L1s - 1770
Other.............'.............:‘...'. ................... erereriir ey evesnsnarerens 1,086 450

Total deferred tax assets.....ccooooreeeeiiimeeeeeeceee e, 43,950 13,592

_ Deferred tax liabilities: . : , ] - . ‘
Goodwill ..........cooiiniicrnereees et ee it et berares 12,024 8,607
Intangibles.......cccoceeeee ereeeetereeneenerane et ens et et es . 1,471 3,681 - .
Prepaids.................. OO SOOI OOTUTTURTRTOTO oo 1,353 . 1,959
FixXed 55615 ..iciiiiiiirerrieserersrrsereassessnsaseeseeessmeeeeamseeesenmenaessinssanan 924 1,882
OhEr ... 59 565
Real eState.....oovvvriei oo eeeenenene et ' — - 17,763
Total deferred tax Liabilities .......cccocvevvircrevenrerarersrnnenes 15,831 34 457
Net deferred tax asset (liability) ... $ 28,119 § (20,865)
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On an annual basis, we review our deferred tax assets based on open tax years, the status of refund claims filed and
other factors. As a result |of our acqunsmons of Colonial Homes and Greater Homes, we recorded deferred tax liabilities of
approximately $25.3 nu]hon in 2005 with a corresponding increase to goodwﬂl

NOTE 11 - SUPl;L‘EMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMAT_toN

The 2005 acqu1smons of Grealter Homes and Coloma] Homes (East Reglon) and the 2004 acquisition of Citation
Homes (West Region) resulted in the following changes in assets and liabilities (in thousands):

2005 2004
Increase in reall ESTALE oottt $ (140,538) $ (12,036)
Increase in deposits on real estate under option Or CORMIACT......occocveicirninnne (5,170) (1,870)
Increase in receivables and OLHET ASSELS -...vooreerrereeemesereresesesesesssrassreseeesenesas (7.640) (7147)
Increase in goodwm..............? ....................................................................... (37,802)  (11214)
Increase in mtanglblcs...........‘ ....................................................................... (11,493) —
Increase in pro'perty and cqmpment ..................................................... N (826) (89)
Increase in accounts payable 'and accrued liabilities......oovveeeeceeceereeerererenes . 12,172 1,704
Increase in home sale deposnts ................................................. eerrrenereetiens 12,809 . 87
Increase in deferrcd 1aX HABILtY....covrre e s 26,063 —
Net cash paid fOr aCQUISIHONS .......ooorororereecrcr e $ (152,425) $ (24,165)
There were no acquisitions in 2006.
2006 2005 2004
Cash paid during the year for:
INtETESt ..oovvrrerernnn. SN RSOSSN $ 48802 $ 35820 $ 36,728
INCOME LAXES .vcovvrnhrvrernrreresrerenns L et ares s $ 216818 $ 125026 §$ 70916
Non-cash lot distributions from uncons|olidated EILIES v ireeseeriee e e smcerecresnanene $ 8946 $ 33007 $ 16,291

NOTE 12 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

We have transacted business wuh related or afﬁllated companies and with certain ofﬁccrs and directors of the
Company. We believe that the terms arIId fees negotiated for all transactions listed below are no less favorable than those that
could be ncgonated in arm’s length transactions.

Since 1997, we have leased office space in Plano, Texas from Home Financial Services, a Texas partnership owned
by John Landon, our former co-chief erxccunve officer, and his wife. During 2006, this lease was renewed for a three-year
period.” Rents paid to the partnership \'r'ere approximately $225,836, $268,000 and $255,000 in 2006, 2005 and 2004,
respectively. The ofﬁce rent is included within general and administrative expenses on our consolidated statements of
-earnings.

We paid legal fecs of approximately $1,643,000 and $783,000 to law firms in 2005 and 2004, respectively, of which
C. Timothy White was a partner. Mr. White served on our board of directors until October 1, 2005, at which time he joined
the Company as our General Counsel. Of these fees, approximately $1,136,000 and $722,000 were real estate project related
and capitalized to real e'statc on our balance sheet in 2005 and 2004, respectively. The remaining amounts are recorded within
general and admlmstranve expenses on our consolidated statements of earnings.

During 2004, we contracted with a landbanker to acquire property in the Tucson, Arizona area for $4.6 million.
Robert Sarver, one of oﬁr directors, ha‘s a 3.8% ownership interest in the entity that sold this property to the landbanker.
During 2006 and 2005, we had purchases totaling approximately $1.5 million and $1.2 million from the landbanker related to
this property. In-addition, during 2006 and 2005, we made purchases of approximately $1.3 million and $64,800 directly
from the entity in which Mr. Sarver has the ownership interest. We expect to complete the full acquisition of this property
during fiscal 2007,

During 2004 the Company entered into an advemsmglsponsorshlp agrcement with the National Basketball
Association’s Phoenix Suns orgamzauon One of our directors, Robert Sarver is the Controlling Owner and Vice Chairman
of the Phoenix Suns, and our CEQ, Steven Hilton, is a minority owner of the team. In 2006 and 2005 we paid approximately
$714,000 and $392, 000 in advcmsmglsponsorshlp costs related to the agreement. These amounts are recorded as general and
administrative. cxpenses on our consolidated statement of earnings.
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NOTE 13- OPERATING AND REPORTING SEGMENTS !

As required by SFAS No. 131, “Disclosure About Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information”, we have
analyzed our operating segments 1o determine if they may be further aggregated into reporting segments. Our operating
segments that are aggregating into each reporting segment have been determined to have similar economic characteristics
such as: historical and projected future operating results, employment trends, land acquisition and land constraints,
municipality behavior as well as meetmg the other quahtauve aggregation cntena The reportable homebulldmg segments

" are aggregated as follows:

West: Califcmia and Nevada .
Central: Texas, Arizona and Colorado
East: Florida '

Management’s evaluation of segment performance is based on segment ‘operating income, which we define as
homebuilding and land revenues less cost of home construction, commissions and other sales costs, land development and
other land sales costs and other costs incurred by or allocated to each segment. Each reportable segmenl foliows the same
accounting policies described in Note 1, “Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.” Operating results for
each segment may not be indicative of the results for such segment had it been an mdependent stand- alone entlty for the
periods presented. The followmg segment information is in thousands:

Y ear Ended December 31,
2006 2005 - 2004
Revenue (a):
Y Bl ettt sttt e ettt e et e e et b st e e s e nnsneansaanreernte s $ 1076401 § 1,149,135 $ 769,085
Central ......... SRV ettteebeeeneeeteeaettiarraebeeaateeeneenteessseeantiatteannes . 2,145,835 1,667,305 1,270,919
BB ottt eeveeraea s e e e e e e e e e e ts e e e e e e e eeeeneenetsataeaaneesareeaanreas 239,084 184,662 -~
Consolidated total ....cccuecruieinie it 3,461,320 3,001,102 2,040,004
Operating income (loss)(b) ' C
IV L ettt ieieceee et v e s e re e ente e s e s et e rtesabereae e e e e e aaeasnresbaaesnae st ensrnraan 114,162 247,809 127,407
CENAL ..ottt ers s r e e s e s b e s b rem s vmsennasasssnaresane . 290,530 203,642 . 115045
BSU ettt st bbb es st c(6,717) 24,606 S (100)
Segment operating mcome ............................ 397,975 476,057 242,352
Corporate and unallocated COSES (€)1t i rsrrres e srees (66,163) - (54,160) (29,666)
- Earnings from unconsolidated entities, DB avreeeeeeseeeeeeeeeeseesersssesrsesesessasesees : 20,364 18,337 . - 2,788
Other income net.....‘ ....................................................................................... 11,833 7,468 9,284
y . : — .(31,477) —

$ 364000 . § 416,225 $ 224758,

At December 31

2006 2005
e heh e rerre e eeh e traRses e b e ety e e e e e aate A b be b as e es e e e e e RS bae b s st s s re s s nteaeenseanares SRR ' $ 602039 $ 587,236
S S SO USROS ettt 1,183,533 1,003,839
S O OO OO OO USSR e, © 168,010 © 207,692
Corporate and unallocated (d) ‘ FXE 216,943 - 172,590
CONSOIAAIEA TOA .....eeeeeeerreererresteceee e see st re v e esrtsareesereneseeetesstsesessssrsaresaneheesiesesases $ 2,170,525 $'1,971,357

(a) Revenue includes the following land closirig revenue, by segment (in thousands): 2006 - $11,475 in West Region and
$5,559 in Central Region; 2005 - $4,156 in Central Region; 2004 - $20,185 m West Reglon and $4,077 in Central Reglon

(b} Balances include the followmg inventory impairments.and write-offs of optlons and pre-acquisition charges during 2006
$36,876 in West Region, $13,681 in Central Region and $27,711 in East Region. There were no such charges in 2005 or -
2004, ¢

(c) Balance consists pnmanly of corporate costs and numerous shared service funcuons such as finance, legal and treasury
that are not allocated to the operating segments, : . .

(d) Balarice consists primarily of goodwill and intangibles and other corporate assets not allocated to the segments. o "

. R Lo L R . . " . . . N ! ) . £
See additional ségment discussions in Notes 4, 7, and 11 to these consolidated financial stat¢éments. i
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NOTE 14 - COMMITMENTS AND,CONTINGENCIES e

' /1.: ) R ' : o Lo

) We are involved in various routine legal proceedmgs mc1dental to our busmess some of whxch are covered by

. insurance. With respect to: the majority qf pending litigation matters, our ultimate legal and financial responsibility, if any,
cannet be estimated with certamty and, in most cases, any potential losses related to those matters are not considered
probable. We have reserved approxrmately $2.4 million for losses related to litigation and asserted claims where our ultimate
exposure is considered probable and the potemlal loss can be reasonably estimated, which is classified within accrued
liabilities on our December 31,2006 balance sheet. Most of the matters relate to the correction of home construction defects,
foundatlon issues and general customer claims. We believe that none of these matters will have a material adverse impact

i \
upon our consolidated financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

From time to time, the United States Environmental Protection Agency and Maricopa County (Arizona) Air Quality

Department have assessedI fines against us for violating dust control regulations. While we strive to maintain practices that
comply with such regulanlons, dust contrlol violations are common to the residential homebuilding industry in desert regions
such as Arizona, We do not believe that such fines will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial position or

results of operations.

L -

»

In the normal course of busmea.s we provide standby letters of credit and performance bonds issued to third parties
to secure performance under various con‘tracts At December 31, 2006, we had outstanding letters of credit of $102.6 million
and performance'bonds of $317.9 million. We do not beheve it is probable that these letters of credit or bonds will be drawn

upon. LS

We also enter mto land acqutsluon and development joint ventures. We believe our pamc1pat10n in such joint
ventures provides us-a means of accessmg larger parcels and lot positions . and helps us expand our market opportunities and

manage our risk profile. (:)ur part1c1pat10n in joint ventures is an important part of our business model and we expect to
continue to use joint ventures in the future We and/or our joint venture partners occasionally provide limited repayment

guarantees on a pro rata. ba51s on debt of ‘certam unconsolidated land acquisition and development joint.ventures. At
December 31, 2006, we had limited repayment guarantees of $38.6 million.

In addition, we and/or our joint;venture partners occasionally prov1de guarantees that are only applicable if and

when the joint venture dtrectly, or indirectly through agreement with its joint venture partners or other third parties, causes
the joint venture to voluntlarlly file a bankruptcy or similar liquidation or reorganization action (commonly referred to as “bad
boy guardntees”). These types of guarantees typically are on a pro rata basis and are designed to protect the secured lender
from the joint venture ﬁlmg voluntary bankruptcy to impede the lender’s remedies with respect to its mortgage or other

. secured lien on the joint venture 8 underlymg property. To date, no such guarantees have been invoked and we believe it is

unlikely that such a guararlttee would be 1nv0ked in the future as it would generally require us to voluntarily take actions that
would generally be disadvantageous to the joint venture and to us. At December 31, 2006, we had outstanding guarantees of

this type totaling’ appromnl'tately $82.3 million, By definition, guarantees of this type, unless invoked as described above, are

|
not considered guarantees|or indebtedness under our revolving credit facility or senior note indentures. 1

© We lease office factlltles model homes and equipment under various operating lease agreements. Approximate

future minimum lease payments for non-cancelable operating leases as of December 31, 2006, are as follows (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31,

2007 $18.462
2|008 12,986
12009 ... 10,102
2010 .... 6,717
2011 3,367 .
Thereafter : 6,456 -
$58,090

Rent expense approxrmated $]4 0 millién, $11.7 million and $8.7 million in 2006, 2005 and 2004, respectively, and
is included within general|and admmlstratlve expense or in commissions and other sales costs on our consolidated statements
of earnings. . '

We have certain obligations related to post-construction warranties and defects related to homes closed. We have
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estimated these reserves based on historical data and trends with respect to similar product types and geographical areas. A
summary of changes in our warranty reserve follows (in thousands): : -

i . . Years Ended December 31, -
. . _ 200§ . 2095.

" Warranty reserve, begmnmg of. FOAT v ereeeereeesseeeseeesseseseeseeesseesesssesessesasssnsnssemseseserssensernraserees $ 25168 S 14,967
Additions to reserve..... LR b . 23949 21,681
Warranty, clanns..............; .......... vt reetreneiins et JUORIOOTOTO TN . (20,680) (11,480)
Warranty reserve, end OF YEAT..ovoevec e e sae s s s e sassens e © 8§ 28437 § 25,168

: W arranty reserves are included in accrued liabilities within:the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.
Additions to warranty reserves are included in cost of sales within the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings.
NOTE 15 - OTHER EVENTS e : ‘

_ On May 17, 2006, John R. Landon, the Company’s Co-CEOQ, resigned. In connectlon with Mr Landon’s departure
both his employment -and change of control agreement terminated (other than certain provisions in the Employment
Agreement that survive termination): - Under the terms of the Employment Agreement, subject to his compliance with certain
restrictive covenants and other requirements therein, Mr. Landon is entitled to a payment of $10,000,000, payable in equal
monthly installments over the course of 24 months, and acceleration of all ontstanding stock options that were grarited to him

.after the effective date of the employment agreement, which was July 1, 2003. During the quarter ended June 30, 2006, the

Company expensed approximately $10.0 million related to the .obligations owed to Mr. Landon  pursuant to the terms of his
‘employment agreement and also recorded stock-based compensation expense of approximately $2.3 million related to the . -

. ~accelerated vesting of certain-of his outstanding stock options. On June 12, 2006, the Company entered into a Stock '.- -

Purchase Agreement with-Mr. Landon, pursuant to which the Company acqurred 1,000,000 shares of the Company’s

- common stock from Mr. Landon at a price of $52.19 per share, or an. aggregate purchase pnce of $52 2 million.

NOTE 16 - SELECTED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

i
- 3

' Quarterly results for the years ended December 31 2006 and 2005 follow (m thousands except per share amounts)

- o fodr 1w

L First Seoom:l Third Fourth
M B . . . - ' 4 . & EEE
Revenue ................. fereeseaennntrss e s st es e st s s . $ 847271 $ 914660 $ 878,196 $ 821,193
.+ GIOSS PIOFit vvvvvvversnreerseanesmenens: S $ 214041 § 220,618 $ 178,008 § 99,963 ...
" Eamings.before provision for income taxes ............... $ 130,791 -$ 125,150 $ 94447 § 13,621..
NEL €AMMINES ....vvvievnsercireesucrririrersessnierisersserserseeneen - 3 19,736 v § 77,055. $ 59539 § 9,024
Per Share Data: . o o ! - ey
Basic earnings per Share..........ccovcerrecreceneecencennine $ 296 % 290 § 228 $ 0.35
. Diluted earnings per share ... 3, 286 9§ 282 % 225 § 0.34
REVEIUE ....ooeiceem D eciemmn ettt $ 551,168 3% 653,571 § 755450 $1,040,913
Gross Profit.....riveeieececneens e . $ 119,334  § 153,165 $ 178,068 § 256,423
Earnings before provision for income taxes ........cererane $ 38721, % 94796 §$ 112502 $ 170,206
INEE CAIMIZS ..oereeeeeeees it e e enaseneen $ 24,196 § 59239 §:@ 70,253 § 101,977
Per Share Data: - . : LT
Basic €arnings per share...........cocouevecereeorecersarsseraees - % 092 $ 219 $- 7257 § 3.74
Diluted earnings per share ........ccoccovvvevicivnviinens, 8 086 3 205 3 . 240 % 3.53°

We typically experience seasonal variability in our quarterly oprating results and capital requirements. Historically,
we sell more homes in the first half of the year, which results in more working capital requirements and home closings in the
third and fourth quarters. However, in 2006, due to the sofiening market conditions in many of our markets, the fourth
quarter had the lowest revenue and net income for the fiscal year.
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In accordance with SFAS No. 144 and as further discussed in Note 1, in the fourth quarter of 2006 we recorded
$15.6 million of i mventory impairments|and an additional $47.1 million of option deposit and pre-acquisition cost write-offs.
These charges reduced gross profit and net income by $62.7 million and $41.5 million, respectively, during the fourth quarter
of 2006. We had no such charges durmg 2005.

NOTE 17 - SUBSEQUENT EVENT

On February 23} 2007, we completed the sale of an aggregate principal amount of $150 million of 7.73% senior
subordinated notes due: 2017 ina pnvat'e placement. The notes were issued at par and resulted in net proceeds to us of
$147.2 million, after deduction of fees, commmissions and expenses. We used the proceeds from the sale of these senior
subordinated notes to pa)’,'down our revolving credit facility.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

.

None
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period cor'ered by thrs report, management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO™) and
Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) evaluated the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(¢) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended). Based
upon, and as of the date of that evaluatlon our CEO and CFO concluded that the disclosure controls and procedures were
effective, in all material 'respects 10 ensure that information required to be disclosed in the reports we file and submit under
the Exchange Act is recdrded processed summarized and reported as and when required. Further, our CEO and CFO-
concluded that our dlsclosure controls and procedures were effective to ensure that information required to be disclosed in
reports filed by us under the ExchangeiAct as amended, is accumulated and communicated to management, including the
CEOQO and CFO, in a mariner 1o allow umely decisions regarding the required drsclosure

There were no changes in our, mtemal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)
under the Exchange Act) identified in connectlon with the foregoing evaluation that occurred during our last fiscal quarter
that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our intemal control over financial reporting.

Management’s ‘Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Our management is respon51b1e for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reportmg,
as such term is defined i in Exchange Acl Rule 13a-15(f). Under the supervision and with the participation of our
management, mcludmg our Chief Execuuve Officer and Chief Financial Officer, we conducted an evaluation of the
effectiveness of ouf mtemal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control — Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tréadway Commission. Based on our evaluation
under the framework 1nilmema1 Comr'ol Integrated Framework, our mahagement concluded that our internal control over
financial reporting was effecuve as of December 31, 2006. Qur management’s assessment of the effectiveness of our internal
control over financial reportmg as of l?ecember 31, 2006 has been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, the independent
reglslered public accountmg firm that audited the financial statements included in this report, as stated in their attestation
report, which is included hercin.
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Lo REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Dlreclors and Stockholders
Meritage Homes Corporation

We have audited management’s assessment, included in the accompanying Management’s Annual Report on ..
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, that Meritage Homes Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Company”) maintained
effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2006, based on criteria established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by,the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. The Company’s
management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting.and for its assessment of the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s’
assessment and an oplmon on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporlmg based on our audit.

We conducted our audn n accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounlmg Oversight Board
{United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, evaluating management’s assessment; testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of internal control, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in
the circumstances., We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinions.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed by, or under the supervision of, the
company’s principal executive and principal financial officers, or persons performing similar functions, and effected by the
company’s board of directors, management, and other personnel to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1)

_pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions
of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3)-provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acqulsmon use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements,

Because of the inherent limitations of internal control over financial reporting, including the possibility of collusion
or improper management override of controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may not be prevented or detected
on a timely basis. Also, projections of any evaluation of the effectiveness of the internal control over financial reporting to

" future periods are subject to the risk lhat the controls may become inadequate because of changes in condmons or that the
degree of compliance with the pollc:les or procedures may deteriorate.

ln our oplmon management s assessment that the Company mamtamcd effective mtemal control over financial
reportmg as of December 31, 2006, is falrly stated, in all material respects, based on the criteria established in Internal
Control —Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsormg Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Also -
in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of _
December 31, 2006, based on the criteria established in Internal Comrol-- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of
Sponsormg Orgamzauons of the Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2006 of the Company and our report
dated February 26, 2007 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements and included an’
explanatory paragraph regarding the adoption of Financial Accounting Standard No. 123(R), Share-Based Payments, using

the modified prospective method.

/s{ DELOITTE & TOUCHE LLP

Phoenix, Arizona
February 26, 2007
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Item 9B. Other Information
None.

PART HI

Item 10. Dlrectors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

Except as set forth herein, the information required by this item regardmg our directors and compliance with Section
16 of the Exchange Act i is incorporated by reference from the information contained in our 2007 Proxy Statement (which will
be filed with the SecuntléS and Exchange Commission no later than 120 days following the Company’s fiscal year end). The
information required by [tem 10 regarding our executive officers appears under Item 4 of Part [ of this Annual Report as
permitted by General lnstrucnon G(3).

The Company has adopted a code of ethics that applies to all directors, officers and employees of the Company,
including our Chief Execunve Officer, Chlef Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer. A copy of our Code of Ethics
has been filed as an thlbll hereto and is also available on our website at www. meritagehomes.com.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information required in response to this item is incorporated by reference to our definitive proxy statement, which
will be filed with the SEC w1th1n 120 days following the Company’s fiscal year end.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

Information required in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, which
will be filed with the SEC w1thm 120 days followmg the Company'’s fiscal year end.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

Information required in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, which
will be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the Company’s fiscal.year end.

Item 14 Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Information required in response to this item is incorporated by reference from our definitive proxy statement, which
will be filed with the SEC within 120 days following the Company’s fiscal year end.

. Each year, the audlt commlttele approves the annual audit engagement in-advance. The committee has also
established procedures to pre-approve all non-audit services provided by the principal independent accountants. All 2006 and
2005 non-audit services listed above were pre-approved.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
{a) ' Flnanclal Stattlaments and Schedules

(¥ Financial Statemems
¢} Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP
3 Consohdated Fmanc1a| Statements and Notes 10 Consolidated Financial Statements of the
Company, mcludmg‘Consohdated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2005 and related
Consohdated Statements of Earnings, Stockholders’ Equity and Cash Flows for each of the years
in the th:ee-year per:od ended December 31, 2006

i) Financial Statement Schedules
Schedules have been omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they are required
or becausc the requu'ed information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or Notes
thereto.
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(b) Exhibits

Exhibit
Number Description ._Page or Method of Filing
2.1 Agreement and Plan of Reorganization, dated as of  Incorporated by reference to Appendix A of Form
September 13, 1996, by and among Homeplex, the ~ S-4 Registration Statement No. 333-15937.
Monterey Merging Companies and the Monterey
Stockholders
, 3.1 Restated Articles of Incorporation of Merltage ) Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 of Form 8-
' Homes Corporation . .« K dated June 20 2002
311 'Amendment to Artrcles of Incorporation of Mentage Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 1 of Form
Homes Corporation 8-K dated September 15, 2004,
32 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Meritage Homes  Incorporated by reference to Exhtblt 3.3 of Form
Corporation . . §-3 Registration Statement No. 333-58793.
41 " Form of Specimen of Common Stock Certiﬁcate 'Inc.orp'oratedﬂ by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Form
' ‘ $-3 Registration Statement No. 333-87398.
42 Indenture, dated May 30, 2001 (re 9% % Senior Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form
Notes due 2011} 8-K dated June 6, 2001.
421 First Supplemental Indenture, dated September 20, ’In'corporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.1 of
_ 2001 (re 934% Senior Notes due 2011) Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
' ‘ ’ 2002.
422 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated Iuly 1'2. 2002 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4-.3.2 of
(re 9% % Senior Notes due 2011) Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002,
4273 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated October 21, - ..+ Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.3 of
2002 (re 934% Senior Notes due 2011) -~ Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002.
424 - Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated February 19,  Incorporated by reference to Exl’1ibit4= 34 of
. 2003 (re 9% % Senior Notes due 2011) " Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
. o - © 2002,
4.2.5 Fifth Supplemental Indenture, dated August 22, 2003 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2.5 of
B (re 9% % Senior Notes due 2011) - Form S-4 Reglstratlon Statement No:333-
109933,
4.2.6 Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated May.14, 2004  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2.6 of
(re 9% % Senior Notes due 2011) : Form S-4 Reglstratlon Statement 333 1 15610
427 Seventh Supplemental Indenture, dated December Incorporated by reference to Exhlblt 4.29 of
20, 2004 (re 9%% Senior Notes due 2011) Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
. 2004. .
4.2.8 Eighth Supplemental Indenture, dated March 10, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2.8 of -
: 2005 (re 9% % Senior Notes due 2011) Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
- 2004.
43 Indenture, dated April 21, 2004 (re 7% Senior Notes Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of
due 2014) Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March
. ) 31, 2004.
43.1 First Suppleimental Indenture, dated May I4, 2004 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.1 of

(re 7% Senior Notes due 2014)
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Exhibit

Number Description Page or Method of Filing
4.3.2 Second Supplemental Indenture, dated December 20, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.2 of
2004 (re 7% Senior Notes due 2014) Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2004,
433 - Third Supplemental/Indenture, dated April 18,2005  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3.3 of
(re 7% Senior Notes due 2014) Form $-4 Registration Statement No. 333-
123661.
434 Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated September 22, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form
2005 (re 7% Senior Notes due 2014) 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September
. 30, 2005.
44 lndenture dated March 10, 2005 (re 6%4% Senior Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of Form
Notes due 2015) and form of 6'4% Senior Notes due  10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004,
2015
44.1 First Supplemental Indenture dated April 18, 2005 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1.1 of
(re 64%% Senior Notes due 2015) Form S-4 Registration Statement No, 333-
123661
442 Second Supplemental Indenture dated September Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Form
22, 2005 (re 6%% Semor Notes due 2015) 10-Q for the quarterly period ended September
30, 2005. -
10.1 Master Transaction Agreement dated February 9, Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
2005) by and among the Company, Meritage Homes  Form 8-K/A dated February 9, 2005.
of Flonda Inc., Colonial Homes, Inc., Colonial
Shores, LLC and The Colonial Company **
10.2 Stock Purchase Agreement dated August 24, 2005,  Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
by and among Mentage Homes of Florida, Inc. and  Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
the stockholders of Greater Homes Inc. ** September 30 2005. - ‘
10.2.1 First‘Amendment to Stock Purchase Agreement Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of
' dateq September 1,’2005, by and among Meritage: . Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
Homes of Florida, Ilnc. and the stockholders of September 30, 2005.
Greater Homes, Inc.
10.3 Credit Agreement, dated May 16, 2006 Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form
8-K dated May 16, 2006.
10.3.1 Firsli Amendment and Commitment Increase Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form
Agreement, dated June 30, 2006 8-K dated June 30, 2006.
10.4 2001 Annual Incentive Plan* Incorporated by reference to Exhibit B of the
Proxy Statement for the 2001 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.
10.5 2006 Annual Incentive Plan* -Incorporated by reference to Exhibit C of the
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Exhibit

Description

' Page or Method of Filing

Number

106
10.6.1°
10.6.2 .

10.7

10.7.1

10.7.2
10.7.3

10.7.4

- 10.7.5

10.8
10.8.1
'710.8.2
10.8.3

109
10.9.1

10.10

Amended 1997 Meritage Stock Option Plan *  ~

i Representative Form of Meritage Qualified Stock
“.Option Agreement (1997 Plan) *

Representative Form of Meritage Non-Qualified
Stock Option Agreement (1997 Plan) *

Meritage Homes Corporatlon 2006 Stock Incentive

‘Plan* ~

Amendment to Meritage Homes Corporation 2006

Stock Incentive Plan* -

Representative Form of Restricted Stock Agreemem

(2006 Plan)* .

Represemative Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option

Agreemcnt (2006 Plan)*

Representatlve Form of Incentive Stock Option.
Agreement (2006 Plan)* :

Representative Form of Stock Appreciation nghts

" Agreement (2006 P]an)*

PR
.

Representative Form of Employment Agreement
between the Company and John R. Landon *

T

Stock Purchase Agreement between the Company

- and John R Landon, dated June 12, 2006* -

Settlement Agreement between the Company and
John R. Landon, dated June 12, 2006*

Cooperation Agreement between the Company and
John R. Landon, dated June 12, 2006*

Second Amended and Restated Employment
‘Agreement between the Company and Steven .

. Hilton* Ct

Second Amended and Restated Change of Control
Agreement between the Company and Steven J.
Hilton* .

Second Amended and Restated Employment
Agreement between Larry W, Seay*

~Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of

Form 10-K for the yéar ended December 31,
2004.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,
2004.

‘Incorpérated by reference to Exhibit 10,3 of
Form 10-Q for the guarter ended September 30,
2004.

- Incorporated by. reference to Exhibit 4.1 of Form

S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-134637

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
Form 10-Q for lhe quarter ended September 30,

2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 of Form

S-8 Registration Statement No. 333-134637

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 of Form

§-8 Registration Statement No. 333-134637

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 of Form

- 3-8 Registration Statement No. 333-134637

Incorporated by refere;lcc to Exhibit 4.5 of Form

-S-8 Registration:Statement No, 333-134637

Ihcorpora;ted By reference to.Exhibit 10.1 of Form
8-K dated July 8, 2003.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form
8-K dated June 12, 2006~

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form
8-K dated June 12, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form
8-K:dated June 12, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form

8-K dated January 10, 2007

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form
8-K dated January 10, 2007 - '

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form
8-K dated January 10, 2007
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Exhibit
Number

bescription

Page or Method of Filing

" 10.10.1

1011

10.11.1

10.12

10.12.1

10.13

10.13.1

10.14
10.15

14

21
23.1
24

31.1
31.2

321

. Seay*

" Employment Agreement between the Company and

]

' Second Amended and Restated Change of Control -

Agreement between the Company and Larry W.

Emplo yment Agreement between the Company and

Sandra R.A. Karrmarn* o

. Change of Control Agreement between the Company

and Sandra R.A. Karrmann*

Employment Agreement between the Company and
. Steven Davis*

) ‘Change of Contro] Agreement between the Company

and Steven Davis*

C. Timothy White *.

Change of Control Agreement between the Company

and C. Timothy White *

Deferred Bonus Agreement — 2003 Award Year —
between the Company and Larry W. Seay *

Deferred Bonus Agreement —2004 Award Year —
between the Company and Larry W. Seay *

Code of Ethics

List of 'Subsidiaries

Consent of Deloitte & Touche LLP

Powers of Attomey

Rule 13a-14(a)/15d l‘4(a) Certificate of Steven I.

Hilton, |Chlef Executive Officer

Rule 13a—14(a)/ 15d-1f$(a) Certificate of Larry W.
Seay, Chief Financial Officer

Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive

Officer; and Chief Financial Officer

* ok

Indicates a managernent contract or compensation plan.
Certain Corifidential Informatlon in t.hls Exhibit was omitted by means of redacting a portion of the text and replacing it
with an asterisk. This Exhlbrt has been filed separately with the Secretary of the Securities and Exchange Commission

without the redaction pursuant to Col

1934,
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Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10, 4 of Form

" '8-K dated January 10, 2007

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form
8-K dated September 26, 2006

'Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form

8-K dated September 26, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,1 of Form
8-K dated October 16, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form

8-K dated October 16, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of

Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2005.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended
September 30, 2005.

Incorperated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period dated March
31, 2004.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of
Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended March
31, 2008.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 14 of Form
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2005

Filed herewith.

.Filed herewith.

See Signature Page.

Filed herewith.
Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.

nfidential Treatment Request under Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly
caused this report on Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, this 22" day of

February 2007.

MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION,
a Maryland Corporation

By /s/ STEVEN J. HILTON

Steven J. Hilton .
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

By /s/ LARRY W. SEAY

Larry W. Seay
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that each person whose signature appears below constitutes and
appoints Steve J. Hilton and Larry W. Seay and each of them, his or her true and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agents, with
full power of substitution and resubsnrunon for him or her and in his or her name, place and stead, in any and all capacities,
to sign any and all amcndments to this Form 10-K Annual Report, and 1o file the same, with all exhibits thereto and other
documents in connection Lhcrewuh the Securmes and Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneys-in-fact and agents,
and each of them, full powcr and authonty to do and perform each and every act and thing requisite and necessary to be done
in and about the prenuses las fully and to all intents and purposes as he might or could do in person hereby ratifying and
confirming all that said attorneys-in-factjand agents, or his or her substitute or substitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be
done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to l,heseJ requirements 10f the Securites Exhange Act of 1934, the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated have signed this report on Form 10-K below:

Signature Title Date
| |
/s STEVEN J. HILTON Chairman and February 22, 2007
Steven J. Hilton Chief Executive Officer
Is/ LARRY W. SEAY Chief Financial Officer February 22, 2007
 Larry W.Séay Executive Vice President
(Principal Financial Officer)
/s/ VICKI L. BIGGS Controller and February 22, 2007
Vicki L. Biggs ' Chief Accounting Officer
(Principal Accounting Officer)
/s! PETER L. AX Director February 22, 2007
Peter L. Ax '
/s/ RAYMOND OPPEL Director February 22, 2007
Raymond Oppel
Is/ ROBERT G. SARVER Director - ‘ February 22, 2007
Robert G. Sarver '
is! RICHARD T. BURKE, SR. Director ' February 22, 2007

Richard T. Burke, Sr.

Is! GERALD W. HADDOCK _ Director February 22, 2007
Gerald W. Haddock ’ :
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EXHIBIT 31.1

RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATION

I, Steven J. Hilton, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Meritage Homes Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstarices under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under
our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢} Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and 1 have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a} All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the -

registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.
Date: February 22, 2007
/s/ Steven J. Hilton

Steven J. Hilton
Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2

- o RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) CERTIFICATION

I, Larry W. Seay, certify that: - ' B :

1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Meritage Homes Corporation;

2. Based on my: knowledg'e this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact
_necessary to make the statements made| in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading
with respect to the perlod covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in
all material respects the financial condmon results of operations and cash ﬂows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods
presented in this réport;

" 4. The registrant’s other‘certlfylng ofﬁcer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined i in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a- 15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such dlSClOSUI‘e controls ¢ and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be des1gned under
our supervision, to ensure that matenal information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made
known to us by others wnthm those entmes particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such mtcmal control over financial reportmg, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be
designed under our superwsmn to prowde reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the
preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

¢) Evaluated the effectweness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in thlS report our
conclusions about the effectweness of| the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this
report based on such evaluation; and

~ d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the
registrant’s most recent ﬁscal quarter (tlhe registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other, certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
_over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons
performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deﬁc1enc1es and matenal weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting
which are reasonably hkely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial
information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the
registrant’s internal control over f'manc'al reporting.

Date: February 22, 2007

/s/ Larry W. Seay
Larry W. Seay
Executive Vice Presndent and Chief Financial Officer
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EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10-K of Meritage Homes Corporation (the “Company™) for the
period ending December 31, 2006, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™),
we, the undersigned, certify, to the best of our knowledge, that:

(1} The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act
of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and
results of operations of the Company.

MERITAGE HOMES CORPORATION,
a Maryland Corporation

By: /s/ Steven J. Hilton
Steven J. Hilton .
Chief Executive Qfficer

February 22, 2007

By: /s/ Larry W. Seay
Larry W. Seay
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 22, 2007
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

www.meritcgéhomes.com

E" -

Corporate Off' ices

.....

. Transfer Agent & Registrar
Mellon Investor Services LLC

Form 10-K .
A copy of our Annual Report,

.

Copies of our CEO/CFO certifications filed wnh the SEC regarding the quolity of our pubhc disclosure are filed at Exhibits 31.1 - 32 1 of our ||

% D = Méiitage Flomes Corporohon_ s
) ; 17851 North 85th Streef" *«'w + . 85 Challenger Rood " on Form: 10K, as filed with thé ™
- * Suite 300 . ks Ridgefield Pork NI 07600 United Stales Securities and
K Scottsdale, AZ 85255 o vywwmellonlnvestorcom Exchange Commission, is
; 480-515-8100 —ﬁ""’:’":‘”‘j_80035@201 7 available without charge upon
_ ‘{ 3 : _ - written request to:
£ +.2745North Dallas Parkway Corporate Counsel
=T Suite 600 “Snell & Wilmer L.L.P. Investor Relations
e Plano, TX 75093 - Phoenix, AZ - Brent A. Anderson
[ 972-543-8100 2745 North Dallas Parkway
‘ ‘ Independent Auditors Suite 600
‘ Annual Meeting Deloitte & Touche LLP Plano TX 75093
May 16, 2007, 10:00 a.in- .  Phoefiix, AZ ©72-543-8207
Scottsdale Marriott at .
o McDowell Mountains - Media Contact
f 16770 North Perimeter Drive Jane S. Hays
, Scottsdale, AZ 85260 . 2745 Nort¥t Dallas Parkway
.‘ 480-502-3836 Suite 600
{ ' Plano, TX 75093
' Q72-543-8123 -
..lx .
b Cerhﬁcahons

Form 10-K. We fited the annual CEO certification required by the NYSE within 30 days of our 2006 Annual Meefing of Stockholders.

é;mmon Stock Price Rangé

Qur common stock is traded on the New York Stock Exchange, Symbol MTH.

arrorTumTY

2006 Quarter Ended High Low 2005 Quarter Ended High Low
March 31 $67.91 $52.42  March 31 $76.62 $53.42
June 30 - 68.34 45.35 June 30 85.00 58.54
September 30 47.80 34.44 September 30 96.50. 72.06
December 31 51.11 41.00 December 31 78.27 57.29

* As of February 16, 2007, there were approximately 285 holders of record representing an estimated 5,500 beneficial owners of
Meritage common stock. The company has historically not paid dividends on its common stock.




Core Purpose
10 Enrich Lives by building the

American Dream

Mission Statement

Merirage takes pride in designing and building homes
and communities that are innovarive, builr wich care and
superior craftsmanship, chat deliver enduring value.

We strive to provide an exceprion:ll customer experience
by respecting employees and wade parmers, rewarding
high performance and creating an environment of
personal growth and fun.

Our Ten Guiding Values

* We must perform our daily activities with the highest
standards of honesty and integrity.

* We take pride in everything we do.

* We value our entreprencurial culture and the
empowerment of employees in the pursuit of excellence.

* We are committed to excellence and an uncompromising
desire to satisfy our customers.

* We will reward our stockholders by striving to produce
superior financial results, recognizing that proficability
and growth are essential to our continued success.

* We earn the trust and loyalty of our customers by
doing what we say and treating others fairly.

* We are committed to providing quality and value in
every home we build.

* We value and respect our employees, customers, trade
partners and investors for their skills, experiences,
beliefs and resources.

* We recognize outstanding performance by rewarding
both team and individual accomplishments. Meritage
promotes a competitive spirit in an atmosphere where
we work hard and have fun.

* We share our success by giving back to improve the
quality of life in the community.
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